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Chairman’s Statement

The international pandemic caused by the COVID-19 
virus dominated every aspect of our lives in 2020, not 
least the business environment. 

I am extremely proud of how our Bank, through the 
dedication of its management and staff, has met the 
challenge of these extraordinary times.

During 2020, our priorities were to keep our staff and 
customers safe, to continue the seamless operation of 
our Bank for the benefit of our customers and to liaise 
with various governmental and regulatory bodies in a 
common effort to ensure that affected individuals and 
businesses received the support they needed. Our Bank 
has a deep commitment to the community which we 
serve and I firmly believe that we demonstrated this in 
addressing the challenges of 2020.

We are all aware that the pandemic is still with us 
and that the effects are likely to create the need 
for additional governmental support to the local 
economy for some time. The Bank adopted a prudent 
approach to these circumstances by taking additional 
provisions against potential credit losses. However, 
notwithstanding the additional charges taken, profit 
after tax increased to €4.5 million compared to €3.3 
million in 2019. Net loans and advances to customers 
registered a healthy increase of 9.7% to €688.3 million 
compared with €627.6 million in 2019. More detailed 
analysis of our financial performance can be found in 
the CEO’s Statement and Directors’ Report.

Technology is a crucial component of modern Banking. 
BNF has invested heavily in this area through an 
enhanced Internet Banking offering and our new mobile 
app. Additionally, we have embarked on a three-year 
digital banking strategy which will witness significant 
investment in new technology, enhancing and further 
automating internal controls and facilitating an even 
better customer experience. Our strategy is to offer 
a service to meet our customers’ varied preferences 
– maintaining a significant branch network whilst 
enhancing our online offering. 

During this past year, we have continued to be present in 
the community, by not only holding a prominent position 
as a trusted provider of financial services, but also with 
actions and engagements that have an environmental 
and social impact. Through our CSR activities, we have 
been able to provide both tangible and immediate 
contributions to the community’s welfare. 

We recognise the responsibility that we have towards 
society at large, to protect and hand over a sustainable 
greener environment for the enjoyment of upcoming 
and future generations. We incorporate sustainability 

into our daily business and facilitate investment that 
contributes positively towards a lower carbon footprint.

The pandemic has bolstered our agility in the face of 
extreme change. This was possible through the very 
strong governance structure and ethical responsibility 
that we have embedded in our business. It is for 
this reason that we are able to show year-on-year 
sustainable financial growth figures which will propel us 
towards more successful years ahead of us.     

We shall continue with our ongoing efforts to 
further enhance and integrate our Corporate Social 
Responsibility and our Environmental, Social and 
Corporate Governance standards.  

Finally, I would like to pay tribute to our remarkable 
staff who have faced the challenges of 2020 with great 
fortitude and loyalty. I would particularly like to thank 
the staff of our branch network who have attended 
work throughout the pandemic and have ensured that 
their customers have continued to receive a first-class 
service. Their teamwork has been exemplary.

MICHAEL FRENDO		   
Chairman

The New
BNF Mobile App

Bank with us anytime and anywhere!

View
Transactions

€

Pay Bills

Send and
Receive Money

€
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Online shopping 
just got safer. 
New 3D Secure 2 service.

Simple SecureConvenient

The major global event of 2020 was clearly the 
COVID-19 pandemic which tested individual, corporate 
and governmental resilience more than any event in 
living memory.

I am very proud of the way in which BNF demonstrated 
strength in adversity during this period. This was largely 
due to a combination of our financial strength, the 
actions of our superb staff and co-ordination between 
the banking and governmental sectors. As a result, 
we were not only able to maintain a full uninterrupted 
service to our customers but also to provide financial 
assistance to individuals and companies facing 
financial difficulties as a direct result of the pandemic. 

Thanks to prudent risk management in previous years, 
BNF Bank produced a positive performance for the year 
ending 2020. Despite increasing our income statement 
expected credit loss provisions by 61% to €2.82 million 
(2019: €1.75 million), the Bank registered a profit before 
tax of €5.3 million –  in line with 2019 and a profit after 
tax of €4.5 million, 34% ahead of 2019 due to a lower 
income tax expense in 2020.

Our gross loans to customers at year end were €704 
million, a 10% increase over 2019, whilst the Bank’s total 
Capital Adequacy Ratio stood at a healthy 19.2%. 

Our strong 2020 financial performance was underpinned 
by focused and rigorous risk management based on 
both sound analytics and adherence to regulatory 
requirements. We take our duty to guard against money 
laundering extremely seriously and work closely with our 
regulators to ensure the integrity of the banking system 
in Malta.

Towards the end of 2020, the Bank’s Board of Directors 
and Shareholders approved a new three year plan – 
‘Vision 2023.’ The plan includes investment in technology, 
human capital and infrastructure both in Malta and our 
London Branch whilst continuing to prudently grow 
our business in terms of size and profitability. Our core 
objective remains to put the customer at the centre of 
everything we do – to provide a full suite of products 
delivered through an omnichannel approach.

The Bank has made great strides in its technology 
platform over the last three years, 

investing in more efficient hardware, improving the 
Internet Banking experience and launching our new 
mobile app. 

A key component of Vision 2023 is for the Bank to 
achieve full digital transformation. This will greatly assist 
our customers to transact more quickly and flexibly - 
essential in the modern world. To this end, we will be 
implementing a new core banking system provided 
by one of the world’s leading banking technology 
providers.

As a Bank, we pride ourselves on our community 
initiatives, undertaken through our Branch network 
and framed by our Corporate and Social Responsibility 
strategy. Our objective is to be fully connected with the 
communities we work in, not just through the banking 
services we offer but also by supporting worthy causes 
both financially and by our staff giving their time to 
help. More details of these initiatives can be found on 
page 38.

In summary, notwithstanding the global challenges, 
BNF Bank produced a strong performance in 2020 
and also laid the foundations for further growth in the 
forthcoming period.

MICHAEL COLLIS 
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director 

Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director’s Review



We are a team of inspired people 
who believe that opportunities 
start with a conversation.
The values that guide our daily behaviour are at the 
basis of everything we do: Ambition, Responsibility and 
Empathy.

Core values

We are empathic because we have the ability 
to understand and share the feelings of others. 
We understand our customers’ needs to deliver 
a high-quality service.

We embrace change and face challenges 
head on, while continually looking for solutions. 
Ambition to us represents a strong desire to do 
and achieve.

We take personal responsibility for growth and 
development, keeping in mind the community 
in which we operate. We want to share our 
knowledge and experience with our customers, 
who know they can count and depend on us.
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MAL TA

We’re 
Malta’s Bank 
of the Year 2020

08
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Board of Directors

MICHAEL FRENDO, NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 

Chairman of the Board since 
May 2013. A former Speaker of 
the House of Representatives, 
Parliament of Malta (2010-2013) 
and a former Minister for Foreign 
Affairs (2004-2008). Dr Michael 
Frendo also held various other 
Ministerial portfolios including 
Information and Communication 
Technologies, Transport and 
Civil Aviation, and Culture, 
Broadcasting and Consumer 
Protection. 

Dr Frendo is a lawyer with a 
postgraduate specialisation in 
European Union law who has 

also worked in the private sector 
in both Malta and the United 
Kingdom. Dr Michael Frendo 
is a signatory of the Treaty of 
Lisbon and was a member of 
the European Convention on 
the Future of Europe. He has 
published widely including a 
number of books and articles on 
European, diplomatic and legal 
issues.

MICHAEL COLLIS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND 
MANAGING DIRECTOR 

Mr Collis has extensive banking 
experience having worked in the 
banking industry in the UK and 
the Middle East in excess of thirty 
years. During this time, he served 
on a number of bank boards and 
held senior positions in a number 
of banks with responsibility 
for a wide variety of activities 
including retail and wholesale 
banking, corporate finance and 
private banking. 

He has served as CEO and 
Executive Director of Ahli United 
Bank (UK) Limited, a UK licensed 
bank regulated by the FSA. He 
also served as Senior Deputy 
Group CEO of Ahli United Bank 
B.S.C. (Bahrain). Prior to that, he 
served as Executive Director and 
head of European corporate 
finance at Nikko Bank, a UK 
licensed bank regulated by the 
FSA. He originally started his 
banking career with Lloyds Bank 

p.l.c. and subsequently joined 
Mizuho Bank where he held 
various senior positions and 
headed the bank’s UK corporate 
banking and corporate finance 
activities for over ten years.

Prior to this latest appointment, 
Mr Collis served as Chief Executive 
Officer of Al Faisal International 
for Investment QPSC (Qatar), the 
ultimate majority shareholder of 
the Bank, a position which he has 
since relinquished. 

He had occupied this position 
since 2015 during which time he 
was also responsible for AFII’s 
proprietary trading and strategic 
financial investments, including 
the acquisition of Banif Bank 
(Malta) p.l.c. in 2016.

SHEIKH MOHAMED FAISAL Q.F. AL THANI,  
NON-EXECUTIVE DEPUTY CHAIRMAN

Sheikh Mohamed Faisal Al Thani 
has been Vice Chairman of the 
Board of Al Faisal Holding since 
2010 and also sits on the Board 
of Directors of Al Khaliji Bank. 
He is a member of the Board 
of Trustees at the American 
University of Sharjah (UAE) and 
of the Arab Academy for Banking 
and Financial Sciences (Egypt), 

as well as being Honorary 
President of the Italian Chamber 
of Commerce in Qatar.

He holds a Bachelor’s Degree 
in Business Administration from 
Carnegie Mellon University, 
Qatar.

SHEIKH TURKI FAISAL Q.F. AL THANI,  
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Sheikh Turki Faisal Q.F. Al Thani is the Chairman of Al Sawari Holding 
Company and is also a member of the Board of Al Faisal Holding since 
2014. He is also the Founder and the CEO of Catalyst Company. He 
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from Georgetown University 
Qatar.
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KENNETH MIZZI, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Director on the Board since April 
2008. A qualified Chartered 
Accountant, after working 
with Touche Ross in London he 
returned to Malta to join the 
family business in 1971. He has 
served as Director on the Board 
of the Malta Development 
Corporation (1978-1980) and 
a number of other parastatal 
companies. He also served as 

Director on the Board of Mid-Med 
Bank Limited and of HSBC Fund 
Management (Malta) Limited. 
He is also Managing Director of 
SAK Limited, franchisee of The 
Body Shop in Malta, Managing 
Director of Muscat’s Motors 
Limited and United Acceptances 
Finance Limited and a Director 
of a number of other Mizzi 
Organisation companies.

MARIO P. GALEA, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Galea has been a member of 
the audit committee since 2013. 
A fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants 
and the Malta Institute of 
Accountants. Mr Galea sits on 
the Accountancy Board, which 
is the accountancy profession 
regulator in Malta. He founded 
and served as Managing Partner 
and Chairman of Ernst & Young 
in Malta specialising mainly in 
auditing, until his retirement in 
2012. Served on the Council of the 
Malta Institute of Accountants as 
Officer and President. Served on 
the Council of the Federation des 
Experts Comptables Europeens 
(FEE). More recently serving as 
an independent Non-Executive 
director on the boards of a 

number of companies listed 
on the Malta Stock Exchange. 
Served as Chairman of the Malta 
Resources Authority. Serves as 
a member or Chairman on a 
number of audit committees 
in both regulated and non-
regulated sectors. He is engaged 
also in assisting the boards of 
a number of family businesses 
with governance, organisational 
and financial matters. Sits on a 
number of finance committees 
and currently serves as Chairman 
of the Ethics Committee and 
member of the Anti-Money 
Laundering committee of the 
Malta Institute of Accountants.

MAURICE MIZZI, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Director on the Board since 
April 2008. He read law at the  
University of Malta where he 
obtained a Diploma of Legal 
Procurator. He joined the 
family business in 1957 and was 
appointed on the Board of a 
number of Mizzi Organisation 
companies. He is currently 
Managing Director of Continental 
Cars Limited, Mizzi Limited and 
Titan International Limited. He has 
held a number of chairmanships 
for the government including 
Mediterranean Film Studios 
(1984-1990) and the Malta 

Development Corporation (1997-
1998). He has been Honorary 
Consul of Iceland since 1978. He 
also served as a Director on the 
Board of Plaza Centres p.l.c., 
Allcom Limited, Technical and 
Management Services Limited, 
Datatrak Holdings p.l.c., Datatrak 
Systems Limited, Datastream 
Limited, and Maltacom p.l.c. 
He is currently also inter alia 
Director of Mizzi Associated 
Enterprises and President of Mizzi 
Organisation and of the Maltese 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce.

MARK PORTELLI, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Director on the Board since April 
2008. A graduate in Economics 
from the University of Manchester. 
He has served as Executive 
Chairman of Malta Freeport 
Corporation between 2002 and 
2013 and as Chairman of the 
Grand Harbour Regeneration 

Corporation and Transport 
Malta between 2007 and 2013. 
He is currently employed as 
Chief Executive Officer of MIDI 
p.l.c. and he serves as a non-
executive director of a number of 
companies.
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CHARLES BORG, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Borg, a fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Bankers (UK), holds 
a Banking and Finance Honours 
Degree and a Master Degree 
in Financial Services from the 
University of Malta. He enjoyed 
a 34-year career at Bank of 
Valletta p.l.c. until December 
2015. During this time he occupied 
various senior management 
positions, including that of Chief 
Executive Officer from 2012 to 
2015. Prior to that, Mr Borg also 
served as Chief Officer, Financial 
Markets and Investments at 
BOV, with responsibility for all 
retail and wholesale funding of 
the BOV Group, as well as the 
management of BOV’s treasury 
portfolio. Mr Borg also served 
as a Director of Valletta Fund 
Management Ltd, of which he 
was also General Manager, 
Valletta Fund Services Limited 
and BOV Investments Limited. 
In addition, Mr Borg also served 

as a Director on other listed 
companies on the Malta Stock 
Exchange, including Mapfre 
Middlesea Insurance p.l.c. He 
also chaired the Audit Board of 
the European Investment Fund, 
a subsidiary of the European 
Investment Bank. He served as a 
Director on the World’s Savings 
Bank in Brussels and was also 
the President of the Institute 
of Financial Services and the 
President of the Malta Bankers 
Association. Mr Borg is currently 
the CEO and an Executive 
Director of PG p.l.c. which has 
recently been listed on the Malta 
Stock Exchange and holds a 
number of other non-executive 
directorship positions in Malta. 
Apart from serving as a Non-
Executive Director of BNF Bank 
p.l.c., Mr Borg will also be chairing 
the Bank’s Credit Approvals 
Committee.

JUANITA BENCINI, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Juanita Bencini is an ex-KPMG 
partner where for 17 years she 
headed Risk Consulting Advisory 
within the Malta practice and for 
seven years was also Head of 
Risk Consulting within the KPMG 
international region of which 
the Malta practice forms part. 
Today, she works as a consultant 
to the financial services industry 
and is a professional director 
on boards of regulated entities. 
Her areas of expertise include 

risk management, financial 
services regulation, corporate 
governance and AML. She has 
also served as President of the 
Institute of Financial Services 
Practitioners and today is still 
a Council Member. She acts as 
Chair of the AML   Committee of 
both the Institute of Financial 
Services Practitioners and the 
Malta Institute of Accountants.

PAUL JOHNSON, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Johnson has a wealth of 
experience in Banking and other 
Financial Service industries 
where he occupied various 
senior management roles and 
served on a number of boards. 
Mr Johnson first joined the 
Royal Navy where he gained 
experience in a wide variety of 
activities including technology, 
operations and change across 
a number of sectors including 
IBM Consultancy. His recent 

Senior and Executive positions 
have included, Chief Information 
Officer and Chief Operations 
Officer at GMAC, Lloyds Bank and 
Aldermore Bank. Mr Johnson was 
also involved in the design and 
setup of a FinTech Blockchain 
based Bank. In addition to 
serving in BNF’s Board, he is also 
an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on the Board of a 
regulated Bank in the UK.
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Executive Committee

GEORGE DEBONO, CHIEF COMMERCIAL OFFICER 

Mr Debono has more than 20 
years’ experience in the financial 
services industry, during which he 
occupied senior management 
roles, predominantly within 
HSBC’s Commercial Banking, 
Retail Banking and Risk. In 2010, 
Mr Debono was entrusted with the 
establishment and management 
of HSBC Malta’s first Premier 
Centre. Subsequently, he held 
various senior roles within HSBC’s 
Commercial Banking, heading 

its International Banking Unit, 
Mid-Market Enterprises and 
Corporate Real Estate and Hotels. 
In the role of Chief Commercial 
Officer at BNF Bank, George 
Debono leads the Commercial 
Banking Department, Business 
Development Department, 
Treasury and International 
Banking Unit. 

MICHAEL COLLIS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND 
MANAGING DIRECTOR 

Mr Collis has extensive banking 
experience having worked in the 
banking industry in the UK and 
Middle East in excess of thirty 
years. During this time he served 
on a number of bank boards and 
held senior positions in a number 
of banks with responsibility 
for a wide variety of activities 
including retail and wholesale 
banking, corporate finance and 
private banking. He has served 
as CEO and Executive Director 
of Ahli United Bank (UK) Limited, 
a UK licensed bank regulated 
by the FSA. He also served as 
Senior Deputy Group CEO of Ahli 
United Bank B.S.C. (Bahrain). Prior 
to that, he served as executive 
director and head of European 
corporate finance at Nikko Bank, 
a UK licensed bank regulated 
by the FSA. He originally started 
his banking career with Lloyds 
Bank p.l.c. and subsequently 

joined Mizuho Bank where he 
held various senior positions and 
headed the bank’s UK corporate 
banking and corporate finance 
activities for over ten years.

Prior to this latest appointment, Mr  
Collis served as Chief Executive 
Officer of Al Faisal International 
for Investment QPSC (Qatar), the 
ultimate majority shareholder of 
the Bank, a position which he 
has since relinquished. He had 
occupied this position since 2015 
during which time he was also 
responsible for AFII’s proprietary 
trading and strategic financial 
investments, including the 
acquisition of Banif Bank (Malta) 
p.l.c. in 2016.

MARK MICALLEF, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

Mr Micallef was Deloitte Malta’s 
Banking Advisory Leader, his 
specialist areas being banking 
risk, regulation, strategy and 
finance. Throughout his career, 
Mark has assisted banks 
and prudential regulators on 
various exercises ranging from 
risk governance and business 
strategy to supervisory credit risk 
and asset quality reviews.

Mark’s auditing experience 
extends from Malta across 
international borders within the 
European market, such as the UK, 
Germany, Slovenia and Bulgaria. 
An auditor by profession, Mark 
is a Malta CPA warrant holder 
and a fellow member of the 
Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants.

In the role of Chief Finance 
Officer, Mark is responsible for 
the financial governance of BNF 
Bank together with statutory 
and regulatory reporting, 
management reporting, budgets 
and forecasts, investment 
appraisal, taxation and 
investment operations. 

MARUSKA BUTTIGIEG GILI, CHIEF RISK OFFICER

Ms Buttigieg Gili joined BNF Bank 
p.l.c. at its inception, setting 
up the Bank’s Compliance 
and Internal Audit functions. 
She also occupied the roles of 
Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer and Compliance Officer. 
Subsequently, she was appointed 
Head of the Internal Control 
Department responsible for the 
Legal and Compliance Unit, the 
Risk Control and Oversight Unit 
and the Credit Analysis Unit. 

Prior to joining the Bank, Ms 
Buttigieg Gili worked at the 
Central Bank of Malta for over 

12 years. During this period, she 
occupied various positions within 
the Bank’s Human Resources and 
Economic Statistics departments. 
She represented the Central 
Bank of Malta on various working 
groups of the European Central 
Bank in relation to statistics. 

Ms Buttigieg Gili graduated in 
Financial Services (UMIST) and 
holds a Masters in Economics 
from the University of Malta.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their annual report together with 
the audited financial statements of the Bank for the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

The Directors who served during the year are 

listed under the General Information section.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
BNF Bank p.l.c. (the “Bank”, “BNF Bank”) was 

incorporated as Banif Bank (Malta) p.l.c. and 

licenced to operate as a credit institution in terms 

of the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta 

on 27 March 2007. On 4 October 2016, following 

the non-objection of the European Central Bank 

by virtue of a decision dated 12 August 2016 

made pursuant to Articles 4(1)(c) and 15(3) of 

Council Regulation EU no. 1024/2013, Article 87 

of Regulation (EU) no. 468/2014 of the European 

Central Bank (EC/2014/17) and Article 13(1) and 

Article 13A of the Banking Act (Cap. 371 of the laws 

of Malta), a controlling stake was purchased by Al 

Faisal International for Investment Malta Limited, a 

subsidiary of Al Faisal International for Investment 

Company Q.P.S.C. headquartered in Qatar. The 

Bank’s name was subsequently changed to BNF 

Bank p.l.c. On 3 July 2018 Al Faisal International 

for Investment Malta Limited changed its name to 

JUD Investment Group Limited. At 31 December 

2020 JUD Investment Group Limited owned 92.4% 

of the ordinary shares of BNF Bank.

The Bank provides a comprehensive range of 

retail and commercial banking services through a 

network of twelve branches and a corporate and 

business centre in Malta, and a branch in London. 

BNF Bank employed an average of 217 people 

throughout 2020 and served around 40,000 

customers. The Bank’s long-term strategic 

objective continues to be that of conservative, 

robust, and profitable growth. 

As always, BNF remains committed to offering its 

customers the best possible standard of service, 

and peace of mind that their finances are in good 

hands. Good governance remains a top priority 

for BNF Bank; the Statement of Compliance with 

the Principles of Good Corporate Governance in 

this Annual Report details the Bank’s governance 

structures.

On the 27th July 2020, the European Central Bank 

(ECB) issued a Recommendation on dividend 

distributions during the COVID-19 pandemic 

(ECB/2020/35), whereby it was recommended 

that until 1 January 2021, no dividends are paid 

out and no irrevocable commitment to pay out 

dividends is undertaken by credit institutions 

for the financial years 2019 and 2020. This 

Recommendation was repealed on the 15th 

December 2020 through ECB/2020/62, which 

encouraged banks to use prudence when 

deciding on dividend distributions.

In light of these recommendations, BNF Bank p.l.c. 

has not proposed any dividend pay-out for the 

year 2020.

A review of the Bank’s financial performance for 

2020 is set out below.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Profitability for 2020 continued on the upward 

trend experienced in recent years, with a profit 

after tax of €4.5 million (2019: €3.3 million). The 

main contributor to 2020 profitability was net 

interest income, which was 11% higher in 2020 than 

2019 and which contributed to a net operating 

income of €24.2 million (2019: €22.7 million).

Operating expenses in 2020 amounted to €16.1 

million (2019: €15.6 million), and the resulting cost-

to-income ratio stood at 66.5% (2019: 68.6%). 

In light of asset growth, and of the economic fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic, in an attempt to 

anticipate the impact on the Bank’s lending exposure expected credit losses in the income statement 

were estimated at €2.8 million (2019: €1.8 million). For details on 2020 and 2019 expected credit losses 

refer to financial risk management disclosures in Note 3 to the Financial Statements.

Profitability

The increase in net operating income of €1.5 million was largely set off by higher expected credit losses 

in 2020, resulting in a profit before tax of €5.3 million (2019: €5.4 million). A lower tax charge of €0.8 

million in 2020 (2019: €2 million) resulted in a 34% increase in profit after tax. 

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets grew by 8.4% in 2020 and totalled €901.2 million as of 31 December 2020 (2019: €831.6 

million). Total asset growth of €69.6 million was funded primarily with an increase in amounts owed to 

customers of €54.1 million, an increase in amounts owed to banks and other institutions of €13.3 million, 

and an increase in retained earnings of €3.6 million. 

Split of Total Assets
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The largest and main income-producing asset portfolio at 31 December 2020 remained loans and 

advances to customers, which made-up 76% of total assets. Loans and advances to customers 

comprised of net corporate lending amounting to €276.6 million (2019: €263.1 million) and net retail 

lending amounting to €411.8 million (2019: €364.5 million). During 2020 the percentage of total loans 

and advances to customers which were credit-impaired decreased from 3.9% to 3.6%, and the total 

credit-impaired exposure amounted to €25.7 million (2019: €24.8 million). Exposure to credit-impaired 

loans and advances to customers was mitigated with collateral amounting to €20.5 million (2019: €20.4 

million), and loss allowances of €10.5 million (2019: €9.6 million). 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

€000 €000 €000

2020

Gross carrying amount 616,491 61,675 25,663

Loss allowance (2,076) (2,964) (10,455)

Carrying amount 614,415 58,711 15,208

Coverage ratio 0.3% 4.8% 40.7%

Total

€000

703,829

(15,495)

688,334

2.2%

As disclosed in further detail in Note 3 to the Financial Statements on financial risk management, loans 

and advances to customers at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were classified as follows 

under IFRS 9 staging criteria:

Lending Portfolio: Asset Quality

During 2020 loss allowance coverage ratios were 

increased in anticipation of a potential increase 

in defaults resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

As of 31 December 2020, the distribution of the 

Bank’s loans and advances to customers staging, 

and loss allowance coverage per stage, were in 

line with Malta averages as published in the latest 

EBA Risk Dashboard1.

BNF Bank’s liquidity position remained robust 

throughout 2020, and the Bank continued 

to diversify its sources of funding through 

participation in ECB refinancing operations. The 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) as at 31 December 

2020 was 231.07% (2019: 253.63%), and the Net 

Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) was 135.69% (2019: 

140.10%). The Bank’s main source of funding

remained retail and commercial deposits from the 

Maltese market throughout 2020, although the 

Bank also continued to strengthen its partnership 

with online deposit platforms to raise Euro funding 

from German retail depositors. The Bank’s Capital 

Adequacy Ratio as of 31 December 2020 was 

19.2% (2019: 17.8%) and the Common Equity Tier 

1 Ratio was 17.1% (2019: 15.7%), both well above 

overall capital requirements.

Lending Portfolio vs. Capital Adequacy 

1https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q3%20
2020/961888/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q3%202020.pdf

640,495

(12,888)

627,607

2.0%

2019

Gross carrying amount 567,168 48,552 24,775

Loss Allowance (1,202) (2,132) (9,554)

Carrying amount 565,966 46,420 15,221

Coverage ratio 0.2% 4.4% 38.6%

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

€000 €000 €000

Total

€000
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Note 3 to the Financial Statements, Financial risk management, illustrates the process of how the Bank 

identifies and manages its risks and uncertainties. The risks described in this note are credit risk, market 

risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and capital risk management. The same note includes extensive 

detail of the processes undertaken by the Bank to manage these risks.

DISCLOSURE IN TERMS OF THE SIXTH SCHEDULE TO THE COMPANIES ACT, CAP. 
386 OF THE LAWS OF MALTA
During the year ended 31 December 2020, no shares in the Bank were:

	• Purchased by it or acquired by it by forfeiture or surrender or otherwise.

	• Acquired by another person in circumstances where the acquisition was by the Bank’s nominee, or 

by another with the Bank’s financial assistance, the Bank itself having a beneficial interest.

	• Made subject to pledge or other privileges, to a hypothec or to any other charge in favour of the 

Bank.

PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta (the “Act”) requires the Directors of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Bank as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Bank for that 

year in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted 

by the European Union.

In preparing such financial statements, the Directors are required to:

	• adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in 

business;

	• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently from one accounting year to 

another;

	• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

	• account for income and charges relating to the accounting year on the accruals basis.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Bank and to enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 

386 of the Laws of Malta and the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta.  

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are 

responsible to ensure that the Bank establishes and maintains internal control to provide reasonable 

assurance with regards to the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations 

and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Management is responsible, with oversight from 

the Board of Directors, to establish a control 

environment and maintain policies and procedures 

to assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as 

far as possible, the orderly and efficient conduct 

of the Bank’s business. This responsibility includes 

establishing and maintaining controls pertaining 

to the Bank’s objective of preparing financial 

statements as required by the Act and managing 

risks that may give rise to material misstatements 

in those financial statements. In determining 

which controls to implement, to prevent and 

detect fraud, management considers the risks 

that the financial statements may be materially 

misstated as a result of fraud. 

AUDITORS 
PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their 

willingness to continue in office and a resolution 

for their re-appointment will be proposed at the 

Annual General Meeting.

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND SIGNED ON  
ITS BEHALF ON 29 MARCH 2021

Michael Collis 
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Michael Frendo 
Chairman
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PRINCIPLE 1 – THE BOARD
The affairs of the Bank are directed by the Board 

of Directors (the ‘Board’). The Bank’s Board 

includes a mix of distinguished individuals in 

diverse business sectors. All directors hold or 

have previously held key management positions 

in various local and international organisations. 

The Board delegates responsibility for the Bank’s 

day-to-day management to the Executive 

Committee (‘Management’), and certain other 

responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Risk 

Committee, the Compensation and Nomination 

Committee and the Credit Approval Committee. 

Further detail on committees is available under 

Principle 4 below.

 

The roles of the Chief Executive Officer and the 

Chairman of the Board are separate and distinct 

and are held by different individuals. 

The Chairman leads and sets the agenda of each 

Board meeting, and is responsible to ensure that 

the Board engages in effective discussion and 

takes informed decisions. The Chairman is also 

responsible to ensure effective communication 

within the Board, and with Management and the 

shareholders.

The Chairman meets the independence criteria 

set out in the Code.

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is a member 

of the Board of Directors and is responsible to 

execute the strategy set by the Board. The CEO 

leads the Executive Committee and acts as the 

link between the Board of Directors and the 

Executive Committee.

 
The Board is composed of an independent non-

executive chairman, one executive director (ED), 

seven non-executive directors (NED) and three 

independent non-executive directors (INED).

Statement of Compliance 
with the Principles of Good 
Corporate Governance
BNF Bank p.l.c. (the ‘Bank’) believes that good corporate 
governance should be the basis of every decision and 
action taken by the Bank.

Section 1 - Compliance with the code

Despite the fact that The Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’) contained in 

Appendix 5.1 to Chapter 5 of the Listing Rules, as issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority is not 

mandatory upon the Bank given that the Bank is not listed on the Malta Stock Exchange, the Bank has 

endorsed the Code and is committed to implement high standards of corporate governance.

This statement is divided into three sections with the first section indicating the extent to which the 

Bank has adopted the Code, and the second section identifying a specific divergence from the Code 

and reasons for such. The third section provides details of the Bank’s internal control system.

PRINCIPLE 3 - COMPOSITION OF  
THE BOARDPRINCIPLE 2 - CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF 

EXECUTIVE

The shareholders are empowered to appoint 

or remove directors to the Board in accordance 

with the Bank’s Articles of Association. The 

appointment of new directors is carried out by 

using a transparent approach, after taking into 

consideration diversity of knowledge, judgment 

and experience. Each Director’s appointment 

undergoes a due diligence process by the Malta 

Financial Services Authority to establish whether 

they are fit and proper pursuant to the Banking 

Act. The Directors who served on the Board during 

the period under review were the following:

Dr Michael Frendo – Chairman INED

Sheikh Mohamed Faisal Q.F. Al Thani – 

Deputy Chairman 

Sheikh Turki Faisal Q.F. Al Thani  

NED

NED

Mr Michael Collis – Chief Executive 

Officer and Managing Director
ED

Ms Juanita Bencini INED

Mr Charles Borg NED

Mr Mario P Galea INED

Mr Kenneth Mizzi NED

Chev. Maurice Mizzi NED

Mr Mark Portelli	 NED

Mr Mohamed Ahmed Shafiek Mohamed 

Ahmed
NED*

*Mr Mohamed Ahmed Shafiek Mohamed 

Ahmed resigned with effect from 9 March 2021. 

The remuneration paid to the Directors is as 

established by the Bank’s shareholders and 

discussed at the Compensation and Nomination 

Committee.

 
 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the roles 

of corporate responsibility, namely accountability, 

strategy formulation and policy development are 

implemented throughout the Bank. The Board 

also sets the Bank’s values and standards, and 

understands that high ethical standards are 

required in its decision-making process. Decisions 

and strategies formulated by the Board seek 

to encompass the interests of all stakeholders 

including the Bank’s customers, shareholders and 

employees. 

The Board regularly reviews the Bank’s 

performance against approved budgets, and 

sets targets. The Board also considers credit 

decisions falling within its credit sanctioning 

limits, which includes all credit where any director 

has a direct or indirect interest. Each director 

informs the Board of the nature of any direct or 

indirect interest, and does not participate in the 

respective discussion or voting. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board of Directors has delegated certain 

responsibilities to the following committees:-

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring 

the financial reporting process in order to ensure 

the integrity of the Bank’s financial statements. 

Furthermore, the Audit Committee reviews and 

reports on estimates and judgments in the Bank’s 

financial information, and on any significant 

financial reporting issues. The Audit Committee 

advises the Board on whether the annual report 

and accounts of the Bank are fair, balanced and 

understandable, and provide the information 

necessary for shareholders to assess the Bank’s 

performance, business model and strategy.

The Audit Committee, through its review 

and assessment of the work of the internal 

auditor, provides information, direction 

and recommendations to the Board about 

the operation of controls implemented by 

management as well as their completeness and 

effectiveness.

The Audit Committee also reviews and monitors 

Management’s actions and timeliness in 

addressing control weaknesses, non-compliance 

with laws, regulations and policies, and any 

matters identified by internal and external 

auditors. The Audit Committee follows closely 

correspondence with regulators and management 

actions.

PRINCIPLE 4 - RESPONSIBILITIES OF 
THE BOARD
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The Audit Committee is made up of three non-

executive Directors appointed by the Board, 

the majority of which are independent. The 

Committee as a whole has competence relevant 

to the sector/s which the Bank operates in, and 

all members of the Committee have significant 

recent and relevant experience in financial 

reporting, auditing and/or accounting.

	• Mr Mario P Galea - Chairman

	• Ms Juanita Bencini

	• Mr Mohamed Ahmed Shafiek Mohamed 

Ahmed

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the 

following members, with effect from 29 March 2021: 

	• Mr Mario P. Galea – Chairman

	• Mr Charles Borg

	• Mr Mark Portelli

The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 

Officer, the Chief Risk Officer, the Whistleblowing 

Reporting Officer and representatives of the 

Bank’s External Auditors attend the Audit 

Committee meetings by invitation. The Head of 

Internal Audit Function also attends the meetings 

of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 

The Internal Audit function reports specifically 

and exclusively to the Audit Committee. The 

Audit Committee frames the policy on internal 

audit, and subsequently monitors and reviews the 

effectiveness, independence and objectivity of 

the Bank’s Internal Audit function.

Furthermore, the Audit Committee oversees the 

Bank’s relationship with the external auditors and 

assesses the effectiveness of the external audit 

process. It makes recommendations to the Board 

of Directors regarding the appointment of the 

Bank’s external auditors, their remuneration and 

terms of engagement.

The Audit Committee also oversees the function of 

the Bank’s Whistleblowing Reporting Officer and 

the effectiveness of the Bank’s whistleblowing 

procedures.

Members

follows closely correspondence with regulators 

and management actions.

Various one-to-one meetings are also held 

regularly between the Chairperson of the Audit 

Committee and members of Management.

The Risk Committee 
The Risk Committee monitors and reviews risk 

exposure, and Management’s risk processes and 

strategies. Any risk identified falls within one of 

the following categories:

	• Financial risk

	• Market risk

	• Credit risk

	• Operational risk (including relating to the 

prevention of money laundering and funding 

of terrorism)

	• Reputational risk

The Risk Committee recommends the risk appetite 

framework in line with the Bank’s strategy, and 

regularly reviews the Bank’s risk profile taking 

into account the current and prospective 

macroeconomic, macro-prudential and financial 

environment. Risk strategies are discussed on both 

an aggregate basis, as well as by type of risk. The 

Risk Committee follows closely correspondence 

with regulators and management actions.

The Risk Committee reviews and considers reports 

from the Risk Management and Compliance 

functions to ensure good standing of the Bank’s 

risk profile, risk culture, risk appetite and limits, 

and risk mitigation plans.

The Risk Committee reviews and advises the 

Board on the liquidity adequacy assessment and 

internal capital adequacy assessment process 

(ILAAP and ICAAP), and endorses statements in 

relation to risks in the annual report. Furthermore 

the Risk Committee actively participates in 

the annual review of the Bank’s Business Risk 

Assessment and in the review of policies relating 

to the prevention of money laundering and 

funding of terrorism. The Risk Committee advises 

and where necessary, updates and approves, any 

recommendations of the Audit Committee to the 

Board, relating to any financial or operational risk 

policy statements required by law or regulation.

Members
	• Ms Juanita Bencini - Chairperson

	• Mr Mario P Galea

	• Mr Mark Portelli

The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 

Officer, the Chief Risk Officer, the Head of Risk 

Control and Oversight Function and the Head of 

Compliance Function attend meetings of the Risk 

Committee by invitation. 

Numerous one-to-one meetings are also held 

regularly between the Chairperson of the Risk 

Committee and members of Management, the 

Head of Risk Control and Oversight Function, the 

Compliance Officer and the Bank’s MLRO.

The Risk Committee is made up of 

three non-executive directors whose 

combined skills are sufficient to address 

all the above risk categories.

The Compensation and Nomination 
Committee
Information on the functions of this Committee is 

considered under Principle 8.

The Credit Approval Committee
This Committee is responsible for assessing 

credit facilities and taking credit decisions within 

certain monetary and risk bands. Additionally, 

it makes recommendations to the Board of 

Directors on credit facilities which exceed its 

upper discretionary threshold. 

The Committee is made up of three Directors 

appointed by the Board with experience in credit.

Members
	• Mr Charles Borg - Chairman

	• Mr Michael Collis

	• Mr Mark Portelli

The Chief Commercial Officer, the Head of Credit 

Analysis Function and senior representatives 

of the Bank’s Commercial Function attend the 

Committee meetings by invitation.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES 

 
The Executive Committee 
The Executive Committee is composed of four 

members, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief 

Risk Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the 

Chief Commercial Officer.

Formulation of risk strategies and risk profiles, 

including policies conducive to the achievement of 

organisational goals, are the responsibility of the 

Executive Committee, however implementation is 

delegated to the Departmental Heads through 

a formally documented organisational structure 

with clear and transparent demarcation of 

functional responsibilities. 

The Executive Committee is also responsible 

for assessing credit facilities and taking credit 

decisions as prescribed in the Bank’s credit 

policy. Various senior members of the Bank’s 

management attend the meetings of the 

Executive Committee by invitation. The Executive 

Committee has established the following 

management committees within the Bank:

The Assets and Liabilities Committee

The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) 

meets on a monthly basis to analyse financial 

information and to assess the impact that the 

various types of risks arising from changes in 

interest rates, exchange rates and the market, 

have on the profitability of the Bank and the 

various other components of the financial 

statements. This Committee also monitors the 

commercial activity of the Bank, reviews risks to 

liquidity and capital, and plays a vital role in the 

management and mitigation of the same risks. 

 

The ALCO is made up of the Members of the 

Executive Committee, the Head of the Treasury 

Function, the Head of the Business Development 

Function,  the Head of the Retail Function, Head 

of Corporate Function, the Head of Financial 

Management Function and the Head of Risk 

Control and Oversight Function. Other Bank 

officials may be invited to attend meetings 

depending on the agenda to be discussed or 

when determined by the Committee.



34

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Statement of Compliance with the 
Principles of Good Corporate Governance

The Investments Committee

The Investments Committee (IC) meets with 

the aim to discuss the investment strategy and 

specific investments for the Bank’s proprietary 

portfolio. The objective of the Committee is to 

achieve returns for the Bank in line with the Bank’s 

liquidity; capital adequacy; risk and profitability 

goals. The Investments Committee meets at least 

once every two months. It includes Members 

of the Executive Committee and the Head of 

Treasury Function. 

The Credit Committees

These Committees are responsible for assessing 

credit facilities and taking credit decisions within 

certain monetary and risk bands. The Committees 

are coordinated at three different levels, each 

assigned a sanctioning limit under which they 

operate. If a divergence in the respective 

committee level exist, the lending decision would 

need to be taken one authorisation level upwards. 

The Committees meet as frequently as necessary 

and comprise of officials from the Commercial 

Function and the Credit Analysis Function. Each 

Committee is chaired by the Credit Analysis 

Function member. 
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The Products Oversight Committee
The Products Oversight Committee’s main purpose 

is that of discussing and implementing projects in 

relation to new products, new services, channels 

and/or changes to existing products.

The Committee is made up of senior members 

from a number of functions, mainly Business 

Development, Corporate Banking, Retail 

Banking, Compliance, Risk Control and Oversight, 

Credit Operations, Credit Analysis, Financial 

Management, Treasury, Information Technology 

and the Business Analysis. The Business 

Development function is responsible for the 

chairing and steering of this Committee. With 

effect from January 2021, the Legal function also 

joined this committee.

PRINCIPLE 5 - BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets as often as necessary, at 

least quarterly, in order to discharge its duties 

effectively. The Chairman sets and circulates 

the agenda to all directors. The Chairman, in 

collaboration with the Company Secretary, also 

ensures that all supporting material is circulated 

to all directors well in advances of Board 

meetings, to give time to consider the information 

therein. The Chairman also ensures that directors 

participate actively in all Board meetings. During 

2020, the Board of Directors met 9 times (refer to 

Note 11.1 in the Additional Regulatory Disclosures)

PRINCIPLE 6 - INFORMATION AND 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
 

The Board of Directors appoints the Chief 

Executive Officer and participates in the selection 

of the members of senior management. Board 

members have access to the advice and services 

of the Company Secretary who is responsible 

to ensure that the Board procedures and all 

applicable rules and regulations are followed. 

Furthermore, the Company Secretary ensures that 

the minutes faithfully record attendance, matters 

discussed, and decisions taken. Minutes of Board 

meetings are circulated to all directors and are 

approved at the subsequent meeting.

The Board and the Executive Committee ensure 

that the Bank properly recruits, retains, motivates 

and promotes senior management and staff, and 

that staff progress within their career streams. 

The Board adheres to the Induction and Training 

Policy which regulates training and professional 

development undertaken by the Directors of the 

Bank.

PRINCIPLE 7 - EVALUATION OF THE 
BOARD’S PERFORMANCE
The Board of Directors undertook a self-

assessment in line with the Joint EBA and ESMA 

Guidelines (EBA/CP/2016/17). The individual and 

collective scores of the Board of Directors were 

analysed by the Compensation and Nomination 

Committee, and discussed at Board level. The 

suitability evaluation reflected the following: 

	• The Board of Directors is strong, diverse and 

well-balanced, having the necessary skills, 

knowledge and varying levels of professional 

experience to carry out its mandate; 

	• The members of the Board Committees have 

the necessary competence and expertise to 

perform their delegated roles and report back 

fully and clearly to the Board of Directors; and

	• The self-assessment identified required areas 

of training to Board members.

PRINCIPLE 8 - COMPENSATION AND 
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Compensation and Nomination Committee is 

responsible for reviewing the remuneration policy 

of the Bank and for making any recommendations 

as the Committee deems appropriate in light of 

the general strategic interests of the Bank and 

regulations. The Compensation and Nomination 

Committee:

a) Sets the over-arching principles and 
parameters of the remuneration policy; 

(b) Considers and approves remuneration 
arrangements of senior executives and highly 

paid persons;

(c) Monitors and reviews remuneration paid to 
the Chairman and other members of the Board 
of Directors, and makes recommendations to 

shareholders in General Meetings;

(d) Approves annual pay increases and bonuses 
as recommended by Management;

(e) Oversees any remuneration matters; and 

(f) Exercises the functions of a Board Nomination 

Committee. 

During 2020, the Compensation and Nomination 

Committee was made up of the following three 

non-executive directors - 

*Mr Mohamed Ahmed Shafiek Mohamed Ahmed 

resigned with effect from 9 March 2021 and Mr 

Paul Johnson was appointed Chairperson with 

effect from 29 March 2021.

Further information on the Bank’s Remuneration 

Policy can be found in Section 3 of the Statement 

of Compliance with the Principles of Good 

Corporate Governance.

PRINCIPLE 9 & 10 - RELATIONS WITH 
SHAREHOLDERS, THE MARKET AND 
INSTITUTIONAL SHAREHOLDERS
The Bank provides regular and timely information 

to its shareholders to enable informed decision-

taking, and communicates results and strategy in 

the Bank’s Annual Report. 

The Board ensures that the interests of the 

Bank’s shareholders are protected at all times. In 

addition, the Chairman ensures that the views of 

all shareholders are communicated to the Board.

PRINCIPLE 11 -  CONFLICTS  
OF INTEREST
The Directors are aware of their responsibility to 

act in the best interest of the Bank and adhere 

to their obligation regarding conflicts of interest. 

Given that certain conflicts of interest arise 

naturally, the Bank has established a policy 

MEMBERS ATTENDED

Mr Mohamed Ahmed 

Shafiek Mohamed Ahmed – 

Chairman*

5 out of 5

Dr Michael Frendo 5 out of 5

Mr Kenneth Mizzi 5 out of 5

whereby any director experiencing such conflict of 

interest is to make a declaration to the Board of 

Directors. In such instances, the relative director 

neither participates in the discussion nor votes on 

the matter in question. The minutes of the Board 

duly reflect the manner in which such situations are 

handled.

PRINCIPLE 12 - CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
BNF’s brand values are shared by the Members of 

the Board and Executive Management, and instilled 

within the Bank’s culture. BNF’s brand values include:

	• Ethical business practices: BNF is in the business 

of corporate and retail banking, and therefore 

has a role which is ingrained within society. BNF 

endeavours to operate ethically in all that it 

does;

	• Investing in its people: The Bank invests in 

training and career development and believes 

in providing equal opportunities and desirable 

working conditions; 

	• Communication: BNF fosters a culture of open 

communication and inclusion;

	• Maintaining a role in the development and 

progress of the local community: The Bank 

undertakes initiatives to contribute towards 

sections of society that are lacking in education, 

opportunity and inclusion. This value is observed 

through the Bank’s product offerings and through 

the Bank’s CSR Policy, which apportions a fund 

toward supporting various CSR projects;

	• Minimising carbon footprint: The Bank regularly 

reviews its purchasing policies and physical 

infrastructures to determine opportunities to 

minimise any environmental impact.
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SECTION 2 – NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE

PRINCIPLE 4 (CODE PROVISION 4.2.7)

Code provision 4.2.7 recommends “the 

development of a succession policy for the 

future composition of the Board of Directors 

and particularly the executive component 

thereof, for which the Chairman should hold key 

responsibility”.

The Bank’s succession policy is set out in the 

Board Suitability Policy which establishes that 

the Compensation and Nomination Committee 

is to, when carrying out the annual Board 

suitability assessment, consider the results of 

such an assessment and make appropriate 

recommendations to the Board, on an annual 

basis, for the succession of the Board over the 

longer term to maintain the appropriate balance 

BNF Bank p.l.c. has a Remuneration Policy in place, 

which is approved by the Board of Directors and is 

subject to annual review. The Bank’s Remuneration 

Policy is drawn up in line with The Supervisory 

Review Process of Credit Institutions Authorised 

under the Banking Act, Banking Rule 12. 

The Policy is intended to create guidelines 

for the Bank when offering remuneration and 

benefits to all the employees of the Bank and 

at the same time to ensure transparency in 

remuneration matters. It primarily aims at helping 

the Bank attract, retain and motivate high calibre 

employees within the context of the market in 

which it operates, keeping in mind the interest 

of the Bank, the shareholders and all other 

stakeholders. The Bank also carries a set of rules 

and procedures for the appraisal of performance, 

which are updated from time to time in line with 

operational requirements/realities. 

BNF Bank p.l.c. remunerates employees through a 

system of:

	• Fixed Pay for full-time and part-time 

salaried employees, within a published pay 

of knowledge, skills, diversity and experience on 

the Board. Any gaps in knowledge, skills, diversity 

and experience on the Board shall be identified by 

the Compensation and Nomination Committee. 

The Compensation and Nomination Committee 

shall put forward recommendations to the Board 

on how any identified gaps are to be addressed.

The Board Suitability Policy also sets out that 

the Compensation and Nomination Committee 

is to keep under review the leadership needs of 

the Bank, and on an annual basis, consider the 

adequacy of succession of key positions and 

roles.

SECTION 3 – REMUNERATION POLICY

structure and dependant on employee’s skills, 

experience and level of responsibility;

	• Fees are payable to non-executive directors 

in line with the time and effort committed to 

the institution and industry practice;

	• Benefits in kind are offered to the employees 

in the form of reduced fees, preferential 

interest rates and other benefits in line with 

industry practice; and

	• Annual Bonuses as further detailed below.

The Bank’s performance related reward system 

does not guarantee the levels of variable 

performance pay-outs to employees. On a yearly 

basis, the Bank’s Board of Directors approve a fund 

for bonuses and salary increases, which reflects 

the efforts and the results achieved by the Bank 

on its short and longer-term goals. This is then 

distributed among employees in accordance with 

the Performance Appraisal Policy and Procedures 

and the Bank’s Remuneration Policy. 

The strategy of the Bank is to offer low levels 

of variable compensation in comparison to the 

employee’s fixed pay. This is intended to ensure 

that risks taken are within acceptable parameters 

and that employees follow the Bank’s values and 

vision. Individual targets are set out in a way that 

encourage employees to achieve individual and 

group targets whilst improving personal skills and 

competencies.

In view of the low proportion of performance 

related reward to fixed pay, it has hitherto not 

been the practice to apply deferred payment of 

such reward. Malus and clawback have not, to 

date, therefore been considered applicable.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are not full-time 

employees of the Bank and do not receive a 

regular salary, allowances, pension rights or other 

benefits. The compensation for Non-executive 

directors is based solely on a fee for their services 

together with reimbursement of any expenses 

made in the course of the Bank’s business.

The Bank paid Non-Executive Directors 

compensation for the year 2020 was as follows:

Executive Committee
The Bank’s Executive Committee was made up of 

one Executive Director and four Chief Officers up 

to March 2020, and one Executive Director and 

three Chief Officers thereafter.

Material Risk Takers (MRT) Remuneration
Fixed and variable remuneration paid to MRT is 

detailed in the table below and is aggregated 

by distinction between senior and non-senior 

management. The identification of MRT is based 

on the framework for prudential supervision 

established by Directive 2013/36/EU.

Remuneration payable to Senior Management 

and MRT for the year was:

  CHAIRMAN

OTHER 

MEMBERS

Compensation €42,000 €223,467

 

SENIOR 

MANAGEMENT MRT

Fixed €996,117 €1,542,072

Variable €191,717 €119,018

All variable remuneration was paid in cash and 

no shares, share linked instruments or similar 

instruments were used.

The members of the Bank’s Executive Committee, 

and Heads of Department enjoy cash and 

non-cash benefits which in a number of cases 

includes the service of a company vehicle. All 

Bank employees benefit from life cover, health 

insurance and personal accident cover.

A sign-on payment of €11,086 was made to a 

MRT during 2020. None of the members of senior 

management or MRT received remuneration in 

excess of €1 million.
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The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible 

for internal control within the Bank. The Board of 

Directors delegates to the Executive Committee 

the authority to operate the Bank within limits 

established in the Executive Committee’s Terms of 

Reference.

On a regular basis, the Bank issues policies and 

procedures to control and/or mitigate material 

risks. Policies are subject to a periodic review 

by the Board of Directors, and are enhanced in 

accordance with changes to the Bank’s risk profile. 

Policies are subsequently circulated and adhered 

to by staff at all times, and are implemented 

through procedures designed by Management. 

SECTION 4 – INTERNAL CONTROL

All policies and procedures are available to all 

staff on the Bank’s intranet. Any deviance from 

parameters set in policies or procedures is subject 

to sanctioning by the appropriate approval body. 

The Bank adopts the four lines of defence model 

to risk management and internal control, further 

detail on which is set out in the Additional 

Regulatory Disclosures section of this Annual 

Report. 

SECTION 5 – CORPORATE PHILANTHROPY 
AND COMMUNITY RELATIONS

BNF Bank puts Corporate Social Responsibility 

at the top of its agenda, to give back to the 

community at large. In all CSR activities, we 

espouse our core values of ambition, responsibility 

and empathy with emphasis being placed on the 

latter two as it conforms to our moral obligation 

towards the social progress of society. Since 

inception, we have focused our commitment to 

contribute to key areas within which we function, 

which allowed the continual implementation of 

our CSR strategy built on 5 main pillars: Education, 

Health, Environment, Philanthropy together with 

Culture and Heritage. 

We believe that growth and development are 

most effective when they create wider access to 

opportunities, and benefit a broader section of 

society. The aim of our CSR policy is to identify 

critical areas of development that require 

financial aid and intervention, and which can 

help to realise a stronger potential for growth and 

prosperity. During 2020, in a bid to really make a 

difference in people’s lives, we extended financial 

support to areas of society which we deemed 

needed it most. This was done through the setup 

of various partnerships with influential NGOs and 

charities. 

#YourCause
The collective drive of our team of employees has 

also been acknowledged, whereby through the 

Bank-wide staff initiative #YourCause, organised 

every last Friday of the month, generous 

contributions poured in from BNF employees. 

They voluntarily paid a monetary contribution 

for causes which the employees themselves 

suggested for inclusion in the programme for 

community action. 

#YourCause, the staff’s monthly dress down day, 

sheds a spot light on how as a team at BNF, 

employees and management get together in 

unison to try to make life a little bit better to those 

in need and be at the forefront to safeguard the 

environment and society at large. Through these 

contributions we’ve helped and given a voice to 

those less fortunate by donating both money and 

food when there was a call for it. The Bank also 

pledges to match the monthly sum contributed by 

its employees. 

“Driven by the highest principles of ethical and 

social responsibility in support of local charitable 

organisations, BNF takes on a number of yearly 

initiatives to deploy funds that can make a 

difference in areas of society where social 

lacunae exist. As we look back at these initiatives, 

we can say that we’re proud of what the team 

has managed to achieve to help others during 

the uncertain times of 2020, whilst most were 

working remotely. These opportunities are set 

to continue well into 2021 and the BNF team is 

extremely keen to continue giving as much as 

possible to support their chosen organisations.”  

 

- George Debono, Chief Commercial Officer

EDUCATION

 
Diploma in Maltese Literature
As part of a three year sponsorship with the 

University of Malta on the Diploma in Maltese 

Literature and for the second time running, the 

Bank has awarded the top student who placed 

first in class. BNF Bank’s sponsorship is part of its 

commitment to support important educational 

initiatives, as well to promote Maltese language, 

literature and culture. The interest in contemporary 

Maltese literature has grown exponentially and so 

has participation in literary events.  

BNF Bank is happy to be a cog in one of the 

wheels that is driving this interest, in the hope that 

we all remain curious about how our language is 

continually developing, and understand that it 

reflects the transformations in our sociological 

and cultural eco-systems.

Breast Cancer Awareness & Men’s Health 
Awareness Month 
Every October and November, the Bank engages 

in months of action using its own communication 

channels, retail network and other touch points to 

raise awareness on breast cancer and awareness 

about men’s health issues. There is never enough 

awareness on such crucial issues, and in this case, 

the Bank made it a point not to miss out on the 

opportunity to be part of national educational 

efforts. BNF staff continued their commitment to 

support Europa Donna Malta and the National 

Cancer Platform during these two months in 

a bid to help these organisations continue to 

ensure holistic and sustainable services for their 

patients and their families and keep on helping 

cancer survivors reclaim a positive body image 

and a healthy lifestyle! The Bank also offered free 

Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) screening and 

free mammography exams to those members of 

staff who will directly benefit from getting tested.

HEALTH AND PHILANTHROPY

 
Malta Hospice Movement
Hospice, a voluntary organisation that promotes 

and provides specialised free-of-charge 

palliative care for over a thousand patients and 

their families, also offers emotional and psycho-

social support. Further to Hospice being chosen 

by staff as a beneficiary for their salary donation 

scheme, via the bank-wide staff led initiative 

#YourCause, generous donations also poured 

in together with the Bank’s direct donations to 

support the multi-professional team in place to 

address the physical, psychological, social and 

spiritual needs faced by patients with serious 

illnesses.

 
Fondazzjoni Caritas Malta
BNF’s donation pledged during the Foundations’ 

televised fundraising marathon helps support its 

members and volunteers to expand the social 

work programmes that cater for counselling, 

self-help group therapies, community outreach 

and drug prevention programmes specifically 

designed to keep children away from drugs. Costs 

to maintain the free services are substantial and 

on the rapid increase with a new project in the 

pipeline seeing the building of new apartments 
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for persons who would have overcome their drug 

problem and need a roof over their heads.

Service Dogs Malta Foundation
As part of a three-year sponsorship with the 

Service Dogs Malta Foundation, the Bank has 

supported four dogs in their development from 

puppyhood to their full certification as therapy 

or service dogs. A service dog helps with several 

conditions, including diabetes and autism and 

provide 24-hour help in daily living activities, thus 

reducing the need of human carers and increasing 

the level of independence of the person with a 

disability. Through this sponsorship, the financial 

assistance offered covered training costs such 

as vaccinations, vet fees, insurance and trainer 

costs - all considerable expenses especially when 

considering that the organisation sources, trains 

and gives dogs to families for free.

Inspire Foundation & Richmond Foundation 
Another philanthropical initiative the Bank 

engaged in is the assistance offered to Inspire 

Foundation aimed at helping people on the 

autism spectrum reach their full potential. BNF 

financially supported the Foundation during its TV 

Marathon in an effort to upgrade the Foundation’s 

heating system of their hydrotherapy pool which 

offers a multitude of benefits to persons with a 

disability. As mental health concerns were on 

the increase during the COVID-19 pandemic, 

BNF welcomed Richmond Foundation’s appeal 

to help them with ‘The Gift of Therapy’ initiative 

providing psychological assistance via free 

mental health therapy sessions to those in need 

during the period of distress but could not afford 

to pay for them.  With philanthropy, health and 

wellbeing forming a strong part of the Bank’s 

social responsibility efforts, the Bank remained 

committed to being of service to the community 

and pledged its continued support to such 

causes. 

Emergency Fire and Rescue Unit
The Bank together with BNF staff also supported 

the Emergency Fire and Rescue Unit with the 

purchase of versatile new equipment to be used 

by the fully trained rescuers, first responders 

and fire-fighters on their life saving missions. 

The non-profit making, philanthropic voluntary 

organisation is entirely manned by unpaid 

volunteers trained to operate in a variety of 

disaster situations and to assist the constituted 

authorities in national emergencies or when 

otherwise requested to. 

Dar Bjorn 
BNF welcomed the call to financially help build 

a newer and bigger neurological intensive 

care community home fully equipped with the 

latest medical technological advancements for 

people with ALS, MS and neurodegenerative 

diseases. Funds pledged by staff together with 

management were directed towards giving 

patients a prolonged and better quality of life, 

but to also invest in research and development 

with the aim to find a cure for ALS.

Ursuline Sisters 
The Ursuline Congregation, well-known for the 

work it’s members carry out in the field of child-

care have become known as ‘Tal-Creche’ by 

most for the community of sisters’ unwavering 

dedication and commitment to children from 

disrupted families or from vulnerable refugees. 

BNF Bank together with the support of employees 

donated funds to support the sisters in taking 

children under their wing 24/7, from babies to 

toddlers to older children and ensuring that each 

child is given the basics of education, proper 

nutrition, care and love in a safe environment. 

The Ladybird Foundation
BNF funds collected during the month of 

December in aid of The Ladybird Foundation, 

assisted this local charity on its noble mission 

of giving joy and hope to terminally or critically 

ill children based in Malta. Whilst giving these 

children and their families a real chance to turn 

their dreams into a reality, this Foundation also 

ensures that all medical needs are met and fully 

taken care of during the organised trips, which is 

why finances surmount substantially.

Malta Community Chest Fund Foundation
BNF Bank has been a long standing collaborator 

of MCCFF supporting the Foundation in providing 

the needed assistance to those patients suffering 

from severe chronic illnesses or going through 

serious social problems. Due to COVID-19 

restrictions, traditional fundraising events such 

as the President’s Fun Run customarily also 

supported by BNF, couldn’t be held this year, 

which ultimately left the Community Chest 

Fund with fewer opportunities for collection of 

funds. Through the organised beloved telethon 

L-Istrina, the Bank donated funds in a bid to help 

the Foundation continue providing specialised 

treatment abroad.

Malta Together
As COVID-19 swept across the world, life as we 

knew it had come to a temporary halt with most 

people resorting to the internet to tend to their 

everyday needs. While communities adapted to 

this new reality brought about by the importance 

of social distancing, Malta Together developed 

a centralised online platform to serve as a one-

stop website, featuring initiatives, streamlined 

information, activities for children and teens as 
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well as online classes for all the family. BNF Bank 

supported this creative non-profit initiative set out 

to bring our community together despite social 

distancing. This collaboration served to further 

support the local community and help the nation 

stay positive during the crisis.

FoodBank Lifeline Foundation 
Caregivers at this Foundation work tirelessly to 

ensure that no one suffers the plight of hunger. With 

a substantial increase in demand from different 

segments of the community, BNF staff together with 

management, collectively accepted the call from 

Foodbank Lifeline Foundation and overwhelmingly 

donated for the second time round a truckload of 

food to help feed over 270 family members! The 

Bank started off the initiative with its own food 

donation, whilst May’s staff dress down initiative 

#YourCause, was also dedicated for the collection 

of funds for the Foodbank, supplementary to the 

calendar initiative.

Fondazzjoni Dar il-Hena
For the month of February which sees the 

celebration of International Women’s Day, proceeds 

from #YourCause where directed towards this NGO 

to help them on their mission to support vulnerable 

women in emergency situations and help them 

regain control of their lives to eventually gain back 

their footing in society. Apart from the provision of 

tailor-made social assistance, caregivers also tend 

to the resident’s basic needs. 

Survivors Malta – Jacob’s Brew Café
BNF employees sparked a Pay It Forward chain 

in July with Jacob’s Brew Café which involved 

initiating an act of kindness to create a chain of 

positivity and help others facing challenging times. 

This family run social enterprise has been growing 

from strength to strength for all the good reasons. 

A percentage of the generated revenue is donated 

towards financing their personal project: the NGO 

Survivors Malta; a patient and family support group 

created to improve the lives of families facing 

trauma and help them to never give up against all 

odds! BNF employees wholeheartedly welcomed 

this call for support and donated generously for the 

betterment of others. 

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND SIGNED ON ITS 
BEHALF ON 29 MARCH 2021 BY:

Michael Collis 
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Michael Frendo
Chairman

THE ENVIRONMENT

  
Earth Hour & European Mobility Week
BNF believes in leaving a better environment to 

future generations and what has become an 

annual appointment, towards the end of March, 

the Bank observed Earth Hour by switching off 

all ancillary lighting across its branch network 

for one hour as a symbolic action in fulfilling 

its commitment to the planet. The Bank also 

encouraged its staff members to do their part 

during EU Mobility Week and every other week, by 

following a set of measures in a bid to be part of 

the drive for the betterment of our environment. 

This year focus was placed on shrinking the 

carbon footprint, reflecting the ambitious targets 

of a carbon-neutral continent by 2050. 

Going Concern 
Having taken into consideration the Bank’s 

performance and its future strategic goals, the 

Directors declare that the Bank is able to continue 

operating as a going concern for the foreseeable 

future.
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Our opinion
In our opinion:

•	 The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
BNF Bank p.l.c. (the Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU; and

•	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 62 to 217, comprise:

•	 the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;

•	 the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then 
ended;

•	 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

•	 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

•	 the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Independence

Overall materiality: €266,000, which represents 5% of profit before tax.

Credit loss allowances in respect of loans and advances to customers of 

the Bank.

Our audit approach
Overview

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive 
issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these Codes.  

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have 
provided to the Bank are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta and 
that we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 18A of the 
Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281). 

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Bank, in the period from 1 January 2020 
to 31 December 2020, are disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements. 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors 
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that 
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As 
in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 
including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide 
an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the 
Bank, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Bank operates. 
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Materiality

Materiality

Rationale for the materiality 
benchmark applied

Overall materiality €266,000

5% of profit before tax

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, 
in our view, it is the benchmark against which the 
performance of the Bank is most commonly measured 
by users and is a generally accepted benchmark. We 
chose 5% which is within the range of quantitative 
materiality thresholds that we consider acceptable.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified 
during our audit above €27,000 as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, 
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material 
if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality, including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out 
in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate 
the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as 
a whole. 

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Credit loss allowances in respect of loans 
and advances to customers of the Bank 

Credit loss allowances in respect of loans 
and advances to customers represent 
management’s best estimate of expected 
credit losses (‘ECLs’) within the loan portfolios 
at the balance sheet date. The development 
of the models designed to estimate ECLs 
on loans measured at amortised cost in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 
9 requires a considerable level of judgement 
since the determination of ECLs is subject 
to a high degree of estimation uncertainty. 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has 
exacerbated the level of uncertainty around the 
calculation of ECLs, giving rise to heightened 
subjectivity in the determination of model 
assumptions used to estimate key model risk 
parameters and hence necessitating a higher 
level of expert judgement. 

Credit loss allowances relating to all loans and 
advances in the Bank’s Corporate and Retail 
portfolios are determined at an instrument 
level. In general, the Bank calculates ECLs 
by multiplying three main components: 
probability of default (PD), loss given default 
(LGD) and exposure at default (EAD): 
Probability of default (“PD”): the likelihood 
of a borrower defaulting on its financial 
obligation either over the next 12 months or 
over the remaining lifetime of the obligation.

Loss given default (“LGD”): the expected 
losses taking into account, among other 
attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral 
value (if any) at the time it is expected to 
be realised and the time value of money. 
The LGD modelling methodology utilises 
historical

During our audit of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2020, we continued to focus on the key 
drivers of the estimation of ECLs. Apart from assessing the 
continuing appropriateness of management assumptions, 
updates to key parameters and model enhancements, 
largely driven by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
were evaluated and tested. 

Discussions with the Audit Committee and Management 
included: 

•	 the policies and methodologies used by the Bank in 
respect of computing ECLs on loans and advances;

•	 inputs, assumptions and adjustments to ECLs, in 
particular changes to risk factors and other inputs within 
the Bank’s models;

•	 the application of macro-economic scenarios, including 
the severity and magnitude of modelled scenarios, 
particularly in the context of the potential future impacts 
of the COVID-19 pandemic; and

•	 individually significant loan impairments.

For ECL models the appropriateness of the modelling 
policy and methodology used was independently assessed 
by reference to the requirements of IFRS 9.

The more judgemental interpretations of IFRS 9 made by 
management continued to be discussed during the year, 
in particular the application of forward-looking economic 
scenarios, including the severity and maginute of modelled 
downside scenarios, as referred to previously.

We understood and critically assessed the models used for 
ECL estimation for both Corporate and Retail portfolios. 
Since modelling assumptions and parameters are based on 
historic data, we assessed the impact of the unprecedented 
circumstances we

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matter
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

experience, which might result in limitations 
in its reliability to appropriately estimate 
ECLs especially during periods characterised 
by unprecedented economic conditions such 
as those currently experienced as a result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  

iii.Exposure at default (“EAD”): the expected 
exposure in the event of a default (including 
any expected drawdowns of committed 
facilities).

For both non-defaulted (Stage 1 and 2) and 
defaulted (Stage 3) exposures, the Bank uses 
internally developed statistical models. For 
non-defaulted (Stages 1 and 2) exposures, 
PDs are estimated using historical model 
development data based on the Bank’s own 
experience as available at the reporting 
date. For exposures secured by immovable 
properties, LGDs are driven by the loan-
to-value ratio of the individual facilities 
and takes into account other assumptions, 
including market value haircut (which 
includes costs to sell), time to sell and the 
impact of discounting the collateral from the 
date of realisation back to the date of default. 
The maximum period considered when 
measuring ECLs is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Bank is exposed to 
credit risk. 

Internal credit risk management practices 
are used to determine when a default has 
occurred, considering quantitative and 
qualitative factors where appropriate. 
Judgement is required to determine when 
a default has occurred and then to estimate 
the expected future cash flows related to 
defaulted (Stage 3) exposures which are 
dependent on parameters or assumptions 
such as the valuation of collateral (including 
forced sale discounts and assumed realisation 
period) or forecasted operating cash flows. 
The Bank is required to assess multiple 
scenarios in this respect, which scenarios will 
have probabilities attached.  

are currently experiencing on the adequacy of key model 
parameters, since these are based on historical experience 
that is not necessarily reflective of the current level of 
credit risk within the portfolios. The appropriateness 
of management’s judgements was also independently 
considered in respect of calculation methodologies, 
calibration of PDs and LGDs, segmentation and selection 
of macroeconomic variables. 

Substantive procedures which were performed in respect 
of the ECL models included: 

•      Performing  an  overall  assessment  of  the  ECL provision 
levels by stage to determine if they were reasonable  
considering   the   Bank’s   portfolios,   risk profile,   credit  
risk   management   practices   and   the macroeconomic 
environment.

•         Testing of a sample of exposures to independently 
review  the  borrower’s  financial  performance  and ability  
to  meet  loan  repayments  and  assess  the appropriateness  
of  the  credit  rating  assigned  by management, taking into 
consideration the impact of  COVID-19  on  the  repayment  
capabilities  of  the sampled borrowers.

•     Challenging the criteria used to allocate an asset to stage  
1,  2  or  3  in  accordance  with  IFRS  9  and testing assets in 
stage 1, 2 and 3 to verify that they were      allocated      to      the      
appropriate      stage (comprising    the    determination    of    
significant increase  in  credit  risk  and  the  identification  
of defaulted     exposures)     taking     cognisance     of     the 
potential  postponement   in   timing  of  defaults  due to      
government      support      programmes      and measures.

•      Testing  the  completeness  and  accuracy  of  the critical   
data   utilised   within   the   models   for   the year-end ECL 
calculations.

•       Risk based testing of models, including testing of the 
assumptions, inputs and formulas used in ECL models on a 
sample basis. This included assessing the appropriateness 
of model design, methodology and     formulas     used,   
specifically     challenging     the appropriateness   of   the  
methodology  to  derive  PD calculations.
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

The   local   impact   of   the   pandemic   has  
been mitigated        by         a        number         of     
government programmes   and   measures,  
including   general payment   moratoria  
which  have  given  rise  to the   deferral   of   
payments   of   capital   and/or interest  over  
time  periods  that  extend  beyond the   end   
of   the   current   financial   reporting period.  
This   factor   has   increased   the   level   of 
uncertainty      around       judgements      made    
in determining   the   timing   of   defaults   and   
in respect   of   staging,   particularly   within   
the mortgage    portfolio.    For    the    purposes    
of avoiding  the  cliff  edge  effect  on  ECLs  
upon expiry   of   the  moratoria,   the  Bank  
reassessed the internal credit risk ratings of 
all exposures with   approved   moratoria   on   
the    basis    of quantitative  and  qualitative  
characteristics  to enable the identification of 
significant increase in   credit   risk   (SICR)   
or   Unlikeliness-to-Pay (UTP) events as early 
as possible.

Under    IFRS    9,    the    Bank    is    required    
to formulate   and   incorporate   multiple  
forward- looking      economic      conditions,      
reflecting management’s         view         of     
potential         future economic variables and 
environments, into the ECL   estimates.  
A   number   of   macro-economic scenarios    
based    on    the    selected    macro- economic  
variables   are   considered   to   capture non-
linearity   across   credit   portfolios.      The 
complexity   attributable   to   this   factor  
requires management    to    develop    multiple    
macro- economic    scenarios    involving    the    
use    of significant judgements.

The      outbreak      of      COVID-19      and      the 
government    support    and    relief    measures 
adopted    to    mitigate    it    have    significantly 
impacted  macroeconomic   factors  such  as  
the gross       domestic       product       (GDP)       
and unemployment,       increasing       the    
uncertainty around   judgements   made   in  
determining  the severity    and    likelihood    
of    macroeconomic forecasts     across     the     
different     economic scenarios used in ECL 
models. Overly sensitive”

•          Reviewing  on  a  sample  basis  property  collateral 
valuations  utilised  to  determine  LGDs  applied  by the   
Bank   within    ECL   calculations,    using    our valuation  
experts;  challenging  the  application  of certain    parameters    
considered    in    the    LGD estimations   such   as   the   time   
to   realise   the collateral  and  costs  associated  with  such  
process, taking       into       consideration       the       adequacy    
of modelled LGDs in light of the potential impact of the 
pandemic on local property prices.

•      Recalculating PDs, LGDs and EADs on a sample basis.

•     Reviewing the multiple macro-economic variables and  
scenarios  using  our  experts  to  assess  their reasonableness.   
We assessed the appropriateness of   changes   effected  
during  the  year  to  factor  the impact  of  the  pandemic  
and   the   recalibration   of probability     weights.     We   
assessed   whether   the severity     of     the     forecasted     
macroeconomic variables was appropriate in view of the 
pandemic and the high level of uncertainty surrounding 
the economic      conditions.      We      challenged      the 
correlation   and   impact   of   the   macroeconomic factors 
on the ECL.

•     Testing independently the model calculations. 

Based on the evidence obtained, we found the model 
assumptions,   data   used  within   the  models   and   the 
model calculations to be reasonable.

For defaulted exposures, the appropriateness of the 
methodology and policy used to calculate ECLs was 
independently         assessed.        We        understood         and 
evaluated       the      processes       for       identifying      default 
events    within    loan    portfolios,    as    well    as    the 
impairment assessment processes.

In   respect   of   defaulted   exposures,   the   design   and 
operating effectiveness of key controls management has  
established   in   respect  of   the  determination  of which 
loans and advances are credit-impaired, were tested.  We  
determined  that  we  could  rely  on  these controls for the 
purposes of our audit.

Substantive procedures were performed in respect of 
identification of defaults as follows:

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matter
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

ECL modelled outcomes can be observed 
when current conditions fall outside the 
range of historical experience.  

Data used in the impairment calculation is 
sourced from a number of systems, including 
systems that are not necessarily used for 
the preparation of accounting records. The 
ECL models are based on a general-purpose 
application which requires extensive manual 
handling of data. This increases risk around 
the accuracy and completeness of data used 
to determine assumptions and to operate 
the ECL models. In some cases, data is 
unavailable and reasonable alternatives 
have been applied to allow calculations to be 
performed.  

Since the estimation of ECLs is subjective 
in nature and inherently judgemental, the 
Bank’s application of the IFRS 9 impairment 
requirements is deemed to be an area of 
focus, especially in the context of COVID-19, 
which has an unprecedented impact on the 
economy and has significantly increased the 
level of estimation uncertainty around the 
calculation of credit loss allowances. 

We focused on credit loss allowances due to 
the subjective nature of specific data inputs 
into the calculation and the subjective 
judgements involved in both timing of 
recognition of impairment and the estimation 
of the size of any such impairment.  

Relevant references in the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements: 

-	 Accounting policy: Note 2.6; 
-	 Credit risk management: Note 3.2; 
-	 Critical accounting estimates and  
judgements: Note 4.1; 
-	 Note on Credit impairment losses: Note 
30; and 
-Note on Loans and advances to customers: 
Note 9.

•	 Assessed critically the criteria used by management 
for identifying borrowers whose financial performance is 
expected to be particularly impacted by COVID-19 and for 
determining whether a UTP/default event had occurred 
by testing a sample of loans with characteristics that 
might imply a default event had occurred (for example 
a customer experiencing financial difficulty or material 
sector disruption) to challenge whether default events had 
actually occurred and to assess whether default events had 
been identified by management in a timely manner.

•	 Selected a sample of performing loans, including 
from within those sectors that we consider to have been 
significantly impacted by the pandemic, which had not been 
identified by management as potentially defaulted, to form 
our own judgement as to whether that was appropriate and 
to further challenge whether all relevant events had been 
identified by management. 

Substantive procedures were performed on defaulted 
exposures in respect of the estimation of the size of the 
respective ECL provisions, as follows:

•	 Reviewed the credit files of a selected sample of loans 
to understand the latest developments and the basis of 
measuring the ECL provisions and considered whether 
key judgements were appropriate taking cognisance of the 
pandemic. 

•	 Challenged the severity of the different scenarios applied 
within the ECL calculation for the exposures in the sample, 
particularly in respect of the extent to which they consider 
the potential impact of the pandemic on the local property 
market, together with their respective probability weights 
by forming an independent view of the recoverability of the 
selected loans under the different scenarios.

•	 Tested key inputs and assumptions within the ECL 
calculations for the sample, including the expected future 
cash flows and valuation of collateral held, and reperformed 
the calculations within the discounted cash flow model used 
to derive expected cash flows under the different scenarios.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

•	 Tested the estimation of the future expected cash flows 
from customers from realisation of collateral held for 
the sample of defaulted loans, including assessment 
of the work performed by external experts used 
by the Bank to value the collateral and challenged 
management to demonstrate that the valuations were 
up to date. We also used our experts to assess the 
appropriates of valuations and estimates utilised.

In the case of some impairment provisions, we formed a 
different view from that of management, but in our view 
the differences were within a reasonable range of outcomes.

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  

 24
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Other information

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with 
governance for the financial statements

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 
information in the Annual Report (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon). 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements.   

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371) and 
the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Bank’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, because not all future 
events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications that COVID-19 
will have on the Bank’s business, assets and liabilities, and the disruption to its business and the overall 
economy.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 



5958

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 contains other areas required by legislation 
or regulation on which we are required to report.  The Directors are responsible for these other 
areas. 

The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related 
responsibilities and reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the 
Other information section of our report. Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance.  

Directors’ report 

(on pages 22 to 29) 

The Maltese Companies 
Act (Cap. 386) requires 
the directors to prepare a 
Directors’ report, which 
includes the contents required 
by Article 177 of the Act and 
the Sixth Schedule to the Act.

We are required to consider 
whether the information 
given in the Directors’ report 
for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements.      

We are also required to  
express an opinion as to 
whether the Directors’ 
report has been prepared 
in accordance with the 
applicable legal requirements.  

In addition, we are required 
to state whether, in the 
light of the knowledge 
and understanding of the 
Bank and its environment 
obtained in the course of 
our audit, we have identified 
any material misstatements 
in the Directors’ report, and 
if so to give an indication 
of the nature of any such 
misstatements.

In our opinion:

•	 the information given 
in the Directors’ report for 
the financial year for which 
the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

•	 the Directors’ report has 
been prepared in accordance 
with the Maltese Companies 
Act (Cap. 386). 

We have nothing to report 
to you in respect of the other 
responsibilities, as explicitly 
stated within the Other 
information section.

Area of the Annual 
Report and Financial 
Statements 2020 and 
the related Directors’ 
responsibilities

Our responsibilities Our reporting

Other matters prescribed by 
the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 
371) 

In terms of the requirements of the 
Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371), we 
are also required to report whether:

•      we   have   obtained   all   the 
information and explanations   
which   to   the best  of  our  knowledge  
and belief were necessary for the 
purpose of our audit;

•      proper   books   of   account have 
been kept by the Bank, so   far   as  
appears   from  our examination of 
those books;

•                 the        Bank’s         financial 
statements are in agreement with 
the books of account;

•     in  our  opinion,  and  to  the best  
of  our  knowledge  and according 
to the explanations given to us, 
the financial statements give the 
information  required  by  any law 
which may from time to time      be    
inforce in the manner so required.

In our opinion:

•       we  have  obtained  all  the 
information and explanations   
which     to     the best   of   our  
knowledge   and belief    were   
necessary   for the purpose of 
our audit;

•       proper  books  of  account 
have been kept by the Bank, 
so  far  as  appears  from  our 
examination of those books;

•         the     Bank’s     financial 
statements are in agreement  
with   the   books of account; 
and

•         to    the    best    of    our 
knowledge and according to 
the   explanations   given   to 
us, the financial statements 
give the information required 
by any law in force in the 
manner so required.

We have nothing to report 
to you in respect of these 
responsibilities.

Area of the Annual 
Report and Financial 
Statements 2020 and 
the related Directors’ 
responsibilities

Our responsibilities Our reporting

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Other matters on which we are 
required to report by exception 

We  also  have  responsibilities  under  
the Maltese   Companies   Act   (Cap.386)   
to   report   to   you   if,   in   our opinion 
adequate accounting records have not    
been       kept, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received  from  
branches  not  visited by us.



6160

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Independent Auditor’s Report

Annual Report 2019-2020 Independent auditor’s report

49

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 

a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 

because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 

Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential 

implications that COVID-19 will have on the company’s trade, customers and suppliers, and the disruption 

to its business and the overall economy.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 

public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion:

• we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 

necessary for the purpose of our audit;

• proper books of account have been kept by the Bank, so far as appears from our examination of those 

books;

• the Bank’s financial statements are in agreement with the books of account; and

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371)

• to the best of our knowledge and according to the explanations given to us, the financial statements give 

the information required by any law in force in the manner so required.

We also have the responsibilities under the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) to report to you if, in our 

opinion,  returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of this responsibility.

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank on 25 July 2014.  Our appointment has been renewed 

annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement appointment 

of 6 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

78, Mill Street

Qormi

Malta

Fabio Axisa

Partner

25 June 2020

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Appointment

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of BNF Bank p.l.c. (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2020, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as
adopted by the EU; and

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

What we have audited 

BNF Bank p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 38 to 149, comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of BNF Bank p.l.c. 

Other matter - use of this report

Appointment

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Bank’s shareholders 
as a body in accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior written consent.

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank on 25 July 2014.  Our appointment has been 
renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted 
engagement appointment of 7 years. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers  
78, Mill Street  
Zone 5, Central Business District  
Qormi  
Malta 

Fabio Axisa  
Partner 

29 March 2021
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019

€000 €000

Assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash 6 93,262 39,718

Cheques in course of collection 1,138 2,910

Financial investments 7 78,517 77,637

Loans and advances to banks 8 16,061 60,319

Loans and advances to customers 9 688,334 627,607

Property and equipment 10 5,897 6,044

Intangible assets 11 908 1,023

Right-of-use assets 12 2,216 2,626

Deferred tax assets 13 6,108 4,958

Prepayments and accrued income 14 2,928 2,338

Other assets 15 5,842 6,400

Total Assets 901,211 831,580

Equity

Share capital 16 74,544 74,544

Perpetual capital notes 17 10,000 10,000

Revaluation reserve 18 663 661

Reserve for General Banking Risks 18 992 992

Retained earnings 18 6,750 3,189

Total Equity 92,949 89,386

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019

€000 €000

Liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institutions 19 13,535 203

Amounts owed to customers 20 776,986 722,920

Current tax liabilities 389 2,379

Other liabilities 21 12,031 12,117

Accruals and deferred income 22 5,321 4,575

Total Liabilities 808,262 742,194

Total Equity and Liabilities 901,211 831,580

Memorandum items

Contingent liabilities 23 9,650 9,980

Commitments 23 197,233 161,778

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 74  to 217 form an integral part of the financial 

statements. The financial statements on pages 62 to 217 were approved and authorised for issue by the 

Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 29 March 2021 by:

Michael Collis 
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Michael Frendo
Chairman
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INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 Notes 2020 2019

€000 €000

Interest receivable and similar income

	• on loans and advances, balances with Central Bank of 
Malta and other instruments

24 24,405 23,075

	• on debt and other fixed income instruments 24 358 312

Interest payable and similar expense 25 (4,222) (4,939)

Net interest income 20,541 18,448

Fees and commission income 26 3,650 4,065

Fees and commission expense 26 (1,027) (1,586)

Net fees and commission income 2,623 2,479

Net trading income 27 491 790

Gain on disposal of investments 
measured at FVOCI 

516 744

Other Income 51 274

Net operating income 24,222 22,735

Employee compensation and benefits 28 (8,485) (7,584)

Other administrative expenses 29 (6,321) (6,609)

Depreciation of property and equipment and right-of-use 

assets
10,12 (925) (821)

Amortisation of intangible assets 11 (365) (321)

Credit impairment losses 30 (2,815) (1,749)

Profit before tax 5,311 5,381

Income tax expense 31 (836) (2,039)

Profit for the year 4,475 3,342

Earnings per share 32 4c5 3c5

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 74 to 217 form an integral part of the financial 

statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020 2020 2019

€000 €000

Profit for the year 4,475 3,342

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Investments measured at FVOCI

	• Net gain in fair value, before tax 466 2,476

	• Net gain on financial assets reclassified to profit or loss on 

disposal, before tax
(516) (744)

	• Net losses attributable to change in credit risk, before tax 59 88

Income taxes (7) (626)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2 1,194

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 4,477 4,536

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 74 to 217 form an integral part of the financial 

statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020 NOTES SHARE 

PERPETUAL 
CAPITAL

REVALUATION
RESERVE FOR 

GENERAL 
BANKING

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 1 January 2019 67,044 7,500 (533) 992 1,460 76,463

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year - - - - 3,342 3,342

Other comprehensive income

Fair valuation of financial assets measured at FVOCI:

	• net movement in fair value arising during the year 7 - - 1,609 - - 1,609

	• reclassifications - net amounts re-classified to profit or loss - - (472) - - (472)

	• net gain attributable to change in credit risk 7 - - 57 - - 57

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - 1,194 - - 1,194

Total comprehensive income - - 1,194 - 3,342 4,536

Transactions with owners
Contribution by owners:

Issue of share capital 16 7,500 - - - - 7,500

Issue of perpetual capital notes 17 - 2,500 - - - 2,500

Distribution to owners:

Interest on perpetual capital notes - - - - - (863) (863)

Dividends paid - - - - - (750) (750)

Total transactions with owners 7,500 2,500 - - (1,613) 8,387

At 31 December 2019 74,544 10,000 661 992 3,189 89,386

(continued on the next page)



7170

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Statement of Financial Position

At 1 January 2020 74,544 10,000 661 992 3,189 89,386

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year - - - - 4,475 4,475

Other comprehensive income

Fair valuation of financial assets measured at FVOCI:

	• net movement in fair value arising during the year 7 - - 303 - - 303

	• reclassifications - net amounts re-classified to profit or loss - - (339) - - (339)

	• net gain attributable to change in credit risk 7 - - 38 - - 38

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - 2 - - 2

Total comprehensive income - - 2 - 4,475 4,477

Transactions with owners

Distributions to owners: Interest on perpetual capital notes - - - - (914) (914)

Total transactions with owners - - - - (914) (914)

At 31 December 2020 74,544 10,000 663 992 6,750 92,949

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 74 to 217 form an integral part of the financial 

statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020 NOTES SHARE 

PERPETUAL 
CAPITAL

REVALUATION
RESERVE FOR 

GENERAL 
BANKING

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019

€000 €000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest, fees and commission received 27,450 27,060

Interest, fees and commission paid (5,776) (5,729)

Net return from investment and trading activities 537 1,187

Payments to employees and suppliers (13,544) (14,356)

Net interest on financial assets 388 507

Cash flows from operating profit before changes in 
operating assets and liabilities 9,055 8,669

Increase/(decrease) in operating assets:

	• Balances with Central Bank of Malta (375) (640)

	• Loans and advances to customers (63,556) (109,095)

	• Other assets 2,526 (2,383)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

	• Amounts owed to customers 54,066 45,648

	• Other liabilities 342 738

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating 
activities before tax 2,058 (57,063)

Income tax paid (3,983) (1,735)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (1,925) (58,798)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019

€000 €000

Cash flows from investing activities

	• Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets (1,038) (788)

	• Purchase of investments measured at FVOCI 7 (51,883) (59,988)

	• Proceeds from disposal and redemption of investments 

measured at FVOCI
51,478 53,089

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,443) (7,687)

Cash flows from financing activities

	• Issue of perpetual additional Capital Notes 17 - 2,500

	• Issue of share capital 16 - 7,500

	• Interest on perpetual additional Capital Notes (914) (863)

	• Dividends Paid - (750)

Net cash flows (used in)/ generated from financing 
activities

(914) 8,387

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,282) (58,098)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 94,512 152,610

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 33 90,230 94,512

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 74 to 217 form an integral part of the financial 

statement.
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Notes to Financial 
Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1.	 STATUTORY INFORMATION
BNF Bank p.l.c. is a public limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Malta. The 

Bank was incorporated on 27 March 2007 and started operating as a fully-fledged retail 

bank during January 2008. The Bank as a standalone financial services institution – as from 

December 2015 – complies with the disclosure requirements laid down in Part Eight of the Capital 

Requirements Regulation (‘CRR’). The Additional Regulatory Disclosures (‘ARD’) are aimed at 

providing the Bank’s stakeholders further insight to the Bank’s capital structure and adequacy. 

The Bank publishes these disclosures on an annual basis as part of the Annual Report. The 

disclosures have been prepared by the Bank in accordance with the Pillar III quantitative and 

qualitative disclosure requirements as governed by Banking Rule BR/07: Publication of Annual 

Report and Audited Financial Statements of Credit Institutions authorised under the Banking 

Act, 1994, issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority (‘MFSA’). Banking Rule BR/07 follows 

the disclosure requirements of Directive 2013/36/EU (Capital Requirements Directive) and EU 

Regulation No 575/2013 (Capital Requirements Regulation) of the European Parliament and 

of the Council of 26 June 2013. As outlined in the requirements of banking regulations, these 

disclosures are not subject to an external audit, except to the extent that any disclosures are 

equivalent to those made in the Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by 

the EU. The Bank, through its internal verification procedures, is satisfied that the ARDs are 

presented fairly.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1.	 Basis of Preparation
The Bank’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements of the 

Banking Act (Chap. 371 of the Laws of Malta), 1994 and the Companies Act, 1995 (Chap. 386 of the 

Laws of Malta). These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as 

modified by the fair valuation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires 

the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise their judgment 

in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies (see Note 4.1 – Critical accounting 

estimates, and judgments in applying the Bank’s accounting policies).

2.2.	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2020  
In 2020, the Bank adopted amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are 

mandatory for the Bank’s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2020. The adoption of 

these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in changes to 

the Bank’s accounting policies impacting the Bank’s financial performance and position.

2.3.	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not 
yet effective
There were no new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards which 

are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2021 that were published by 

the date of authorisation for issue of this financial information and which could have a possible 

significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements in the period of initial application.

2.4.	 Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 

to the Board of Directors which is the Bank’s chief operating decision-maker. An operating 

segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions 

about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance executing the 

function of the chief operating decision-maker.

2.5.	 Foreign currency translation

2.5.1  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The financial statements are 

presented in euro (€), which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

2.5.2	 Transacations and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange 

gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-

end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 

in the Income Statement.

2.6.	 Financial assets
2.6.1   Initial recognition and measurement
The Bank recognises a financial asset in its Statement of Financial Position when it becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 

are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell 

the asset. Accordingly, the Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording 

financial asset transactions. 

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 

asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset, such as fees and commissions. Transaction 

costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. At initial 

recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets measured at 

amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting 

loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated. When the fair value of financial 

assets differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Bank recognises the difference as 

follows: 

	• When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset (i.e. 

a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, 

the difference is recognised as a gain or loss in the Income Statement. 
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	• In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one gain 

or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until 

the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through 

settlement.

2.6.2  Classification and subsequent measurement

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

	• Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);

	• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or

	• Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity investments are described below.

2.6.2.1  Debt Instruments 
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s 

perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from 

clients in factoring arrangements without recourse. 

 

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

	• the Bank’s business model for managing the asset; and

	• the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Bank classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three 

measurement categories:

	• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated at FVPL, 

are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected 

credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in Note 3.2.3. Interest income from these 

financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective interest rate method. 

	• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for 

collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying 

amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest 

revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are 

recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 

loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss within ‘Gain on 

disposal of investments measured at FVOCI’. Interest income from these financial assets is 

included in ‘Interest receivable and similar income’ using the effective interest rate method. 

	• Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI 

are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is 

subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship 

is recognised in profit or loss and presented in the Income Statement within ‘Net trading income’ 

in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that  were designated at fair 

value or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented separately within ‘Net 

investment income’. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest receivable 

and similar income’ using the effective interest rate method.

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at 

initial  recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the 

effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, 

for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a 

financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a 

financial liability.

The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or 

discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as 

origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired (‘POCI’) financial assets - assets that are 

credit-impaired (see definition in Note 3.2.3.2) at initial recognition - the Bank calculates the credit-

adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset 

instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated 

future cash flows. 

When the Bank revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective 

financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original 

effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

The Bank reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those 

assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following 

the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period. 

a. Business Model
Key management personnel determine the Bank’s business model by considering the way financial 

instruments are managed in order to generate cash flows, that is, whether the Bank's objective is solely 

to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or to collect both the contractual cash flows and 

cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are 

held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model 

and measured at FVPL. Such assessment is performed at a ‘portfolio level' as it best reflects the way 

the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information that will be 

considered in such assessment includes:

	• the objectives for the portfolio including whether management’s strategy focuses on earning 

contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of 

the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash 

flows through the sale of assets;

	• the method for the evaluation of the performance of the portfolio and how such performance is 

reported to the Bank’s management;

	• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and how those risks are managed; and

	• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations 

about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, 

but as part of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial 

assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.
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Financial assets that are held for trading and those that are managed and whose performance is 

evaluated on a fair value basis will be measured at FVPL because they are neither held to collect 

contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. 

Securities held for trading are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part 

of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a 

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

The Bank may also irrevocably designate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if doing 

so significantly reduces or eliminates a mismatch created by assets and liabilities being measured on 

different bases.

b. Cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)
In respect of assets where the intention of the business model is to hold the financial assets to collect 

the contractual cash flows or to hold to collect and to sell, the Bank assesses whether the financial 

instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI test’). In making 

this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic 

lending agreement. ‘Principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. It is not the 

amount that is due under the contractual terms of an instrument. ‘Interest’ is the compensation for 

time value of money and credit risk of a basic lending-type return. A basic lending-type return could 

also include consideration for other basic lending risks (for example, liquidity risk) and consideration for 

costs associated with holding the financial asset for a particular period of time (for example, servicing 

or administrative costs) and/or a profit margin. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to 

risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is 

classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Unlike the business model assessment, the SPPI assessment is performed for each individual product 

or portfolio of products. The following considerations are made when assessing consistency with SPPI:

	• contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows such as contractual 

term resetting interest to a higher amount in the event of a missed payment;

	• leverage features, being contractual cash flow characteristics that increase the variability of the 

contractual cash flows with the result that they do not have economic characteristics of interest;

	• contractual terms that allow the issuer to prepay (or the holder to put a debt instrument back to 

the issuer) before maturity and the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts 

of principal and interest, which may include reasonable compensation for early termination of the 

contract;

	• contractual terms that allow the issuer or holder to extend the contractual term and the terms of 

the extension option result in contractual cash flows during the extension period that are solely 

payments of principal and interest, which may include reasonable compensation for the extension 

of the contract; and

	• features that modify consideration for the time value of money (for example, periodic reset of 

interest rates).

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 

their cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

2.6.2.2  Equity instruments
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that 

is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest 

in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares or additional tier 

1 instruments of banks.

The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except 

where the Bank’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity 

investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Bank’s policy is to designate equity 

investments at FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to generate investment 

returns. This election is made on investment-by-investment basis. When this election is used, fair value 

gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including 

on disposal. 

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes 

in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in 

profit or loss as other income when the Bank’s right to receive payments is established. Gains and losses 

on equity investments at FVPL are included in the ‘Net trading income’ line in the Income Statement.

2.6.3  Impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL’) associated with its 

debt instrument assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan 

commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank recognises a loss allowance for expected 

credit losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

	• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of 

possible outcomes;

	• The time value of money; and

	• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 

reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Note 3.2.3 provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured. 

Expected credit loss allowances are presented in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

	• Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of 

the assets;

	• Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

	• Financial Instrument with both a drawn and undrawn component, whereby the Bank cannot identify 

the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the 

Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components, as a deduction from the gross 

carrying amount of the drawn component; and

	• Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the Statement 

of Financial position against the carrying amount of the asset because the carrying 

amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and 

is recognised in the fair value reserve, i.e. presented within other comprehensive income. 
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2.6.4  Modification of loans and advances to customers
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market 

conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration 

of the customer. 

The Bank renegotiates loans and advances to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as 

‘forbearance activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under 

the Bank’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently 

in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all 

reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms, and the debtor is expected to be able 

to meet the revised terms. The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, revision of interest 

rate and changing the timing of interest payments. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the 

forbearance policy. When modification happens, the Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are 

substantially different to the original terms. The Bank does this by considering, among others, the 

following factors: 

	• 	If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual 

cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

	• 	Whether any substantial new terms are introduced.

	• 	Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

	• 	Significant change in the interest rate.

	• 	Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit 

risk associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognises the original financial asset and recognises 

a ‘new’ asset at fair value, and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of 

renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation 

purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has 

occurred. However, the Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be 

credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven 

by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount 

are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in 

derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows 

of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original 

effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-

impaired financial assets). The impact of modifications of financial assets on the expected credit loss 

calculation is discussed in Note 3.2.8.

2.6.5  Derecognition of financial assets (other than on a modification)
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the 

cash  flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Bank 

transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Bank neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Bank has not retained control.

2.7  Derivative financial instruments
The Bank deploys no hedging strategies that achieve hedge accounting in terms of IAS 39.

Derivative financial instruments, such as cross-currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts 

are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are 

subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained utilising valuation techniques 

for over-the-counter derivatives, including discounted cash flow models. All derivatives are carried as 

assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Fair values for currency 

forwards and swaps are determined using forward exchange market rates at the end of the reporting 

period.  Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the respective exchange or settlement will not 

occur until a future date, are used when the time value of money has a significant effect on the fair 

valuation of these instruments.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.8  Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial 

Position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.9  Property and equipment
All property and equipment used by the Bank is initially recorded at historical cost, including transaction 

costs and borrowing costs. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 

is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial 

period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. Depreciation on other assets is 

calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their 

estimated useful lives, as follows:

    Years

Land and Buildings

Freehold 20-50

Leasehold 10

Computer Equipment 4

Other Equipment 3-10
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The asset’s residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 

at each financial period end. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the 

depreciation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.  

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.11).

Property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as 

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 

profit or loss in the period the asset is derecognised.

2.10  Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of computer software and other intangibles, which include licences. Intangible 

assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 

whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The amortisation period 

and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at each financial 

period end. 

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 

benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as 

appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Income Statement 

in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. Amortisation is calculated 

using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over 

their estimated useful lives. Computer software is amortised over 4 and 10 years.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually 

either individually or at the cash generating unit level.  The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed 

annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable.  If not, the change in 

useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.  Other intangibles are assessed as 

having an indefinite useful life.	

2.11  Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill or certain intangible assets, are not 

subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject to amortisation 

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 

fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 

grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating 

units).The impairment test can also be performed on a single asset when the fair value less costs to sell 

or the value in use can be determined reliably. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered 

impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12  Property acquired through judicial action
In certain circumstances, property is acquired by the Bank in satisfaction of debt following judicial 

action. Such properties are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

2.13  Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

respectively.  The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, 

deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred 

income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 

other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 

taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when 

the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 

different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.14  Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.15  Perpetual capital notes
Perpetual capital notes qualify as Additional Tier 1 capital instruments, are undated and subordinated 

obligations. Coupon payments on perpetual capital notes may be cancellable at the Bank’s discretion 

and are accounted for through equity in the Statement of Financial Position.

2.16  Financial liabilities
2.16.1  Initial recognition and measurement 
The Bank recognises a financial liability on its Statement of Financial Position when it becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss 

are recognised initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability.
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2.16.2  Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

	• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, 

financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading booking) and other financial 

liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated 

at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the 

amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the 

credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in 

market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially in profit or loss (the remaining amount 

of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, 

an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit 

risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;

	• Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition, 

whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In 

subsequent periods, the Bank recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

	• Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments (see Note 2.26).

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally amounts owed to banks and other 

institutions, amounts owed to customers, debt securities in issue together with other liabilities.

2.16.3  Derecognition
The Bank derecognises a financial liability from its Statement of Financial Position when the obligation 

specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

The exchange between the Bank and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different 

terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted 

for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. 

The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new 

terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective 

interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows 

of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the 

instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached 

to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt 

instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred 

are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is 

not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the 

liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

2.17  Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from 

the Statement of Financial Position as the Bank retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership. The corresponding cash received is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as an 

asset with a corresponding obligation to return it, including accrued interest, as a liability, reflecting 

the transaction’s economic substance as a loan to the Bank. The difference between the sale and 

repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of agreement using the 

effective interest rate. 

When the counterparty has the right to sell or repledge the securities, the Bank reclassifies those 

securities in its Statement of Financial Position to financial assets recognised as FVPL pledged as 

collateral or to financial investments recognised as FVOCI pledged as collateral, as appropriate.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not 

recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest, 

is recorded in the Statement of Financial Position, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as 

a loan by the Bank. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in net interest 

income and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate.

If securities purchased under agreement to resell are subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation 

to return the securities is recorded as a short sale within financial liabilities held for trading and 

measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in net trading income.

2.18  Trade and other payables
Trade payables comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the 

ordinary course of business from suppliers.  Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair 

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.19  Provisions for legal and other claims
Provisions for legal and other claims are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future 

operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised 

as interest expense.

2.20  Provisions for pension obligations
The Bank contributes towards the government pension defined contribution plan in accordance with 

local legislation and to which it has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions.  These 

obligations are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement as they accrue. The Bank does not 

contribute towards any other retirement benefit plans.

2.21  Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest 

income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective 

interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 

and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a 

financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a 

financial liability.
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The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or 

discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as 

origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired (‘POCI’) financial assets - assets that are 

credit-impaired (see definition in Note 3.2.3.2) at initial recognition - the Bank calculates the credit-

adjusted effective interest rate, which is based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of 

its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future 

cash flows.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 

financial assets, except for:

	• POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the 

amortised cost of the financial asset;

	• Financial assets that are not ‘POCI’ but have subsequently become credit-impaired (or ‘stage 3’), 

for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised 

cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision).

2.22  Fees and commissions
Fees and commissions income and expense that are an integral part of the effective interest rate on 

a financial asset or liability are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate and treated 

as part of effective interest. Other fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis 

when the service has been provided.

Fees and commissions income, comprising account servicing fees, investment management fees, 

placement fees and other similar fees, are recognised as the related services are performed. Loan 

commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related 

direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. When a loan 

commitment is not expected to result in the drawdown of a loan, the related loan commitment fees 

are recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period. Fees and commissions expense, 

relating mainly to transaction and service fees, are expensed as the services are received.

2.23  Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss in ‘dividend income’ when the entity’s right to receive payment 

is established.

2.24  Net trading income
The line item includes fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences 

attributable to financial instruments measured at FVPL. Net income from derivatives (such as cross-

currency swaps and forward exchange contracts) is included within this line item. 

2.25  Leases
A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 

liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any direct 

costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore 

the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The right-

of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 

date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to 

the Bank by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Bank will 

exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life 

of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. 

In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, adjusted for 

certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 

be readily determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its incremental 

borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Bank leases a number of properties and motor vehicles as well as low value items such as 

photocopiers and note counting machines. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods but 

may have extension options. The lease term reflects the exercise of such options.

2.26  Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, 

in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, 

financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers.

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, 

guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and 

subsequently measured at the higher of:

	• The amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in Note 3.2.3); and

	• The premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the principles 

of IFRS 15.

‘Loan commitments’ are the Bank’s commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and 

conditions, and are measured as the amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in Note 

3.2.3).

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a 

provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank 

cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment component from 

those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment are recognised 

together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined expected credit losses 

exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses in excess of the gross carrying 

amount are recognised as a provision.

2.27  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at face value less 

expected credit loss allowances. Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks 

and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

2.28  Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Bank’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Bank’s financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Bank’s shareholders.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1      Introduction

The Bank’s business model exposes it to financial risks, which it categorises as follows:

	• Credit risk: The risk of losses arising from untimely or non-repayment of existing or contingent credit 

obligations, generally resulting from deterioration in the financial condition of a borrower. The 

Bank is exposed to credit risk on customers, clients or market counterparties, through interbank, 

commercial and consumer loans and advances, loan commitments arising from such lending 

activities, and credit enhancement provided, such as financial guarantees, documentary credits, 

endorsements and acceptances. The Bank is also exposed to credit risk on investments in debt 

securities and derivatives as well as settlement balances with market counterparties.

Credit risk could impair the quality and hence the value of the Bank’s lending assets. Country risk 

and settlement risk are included in this category. Country risk refers to the risk of losses arising 

from economic or political changes that affect the country of origination of an asset. Settlement 

risk refers to the risk of losses through failure of a counterparty to settle outstanding dues on the 

settlement date.

	• Market risk: The risk of losses arising from fluctuations in fair value or future cash flows of financial 

instruments, due to changes in market variables such as prices and interest rates, the correlations 

between them, and their levels of volatility.

	• Liquidity risk: The risk of losses due to:

i.	 the Bank’s funding costs increasing disproportionately;

ii.	 lack of funding preventing the Bank from establishing new business; and

iii.	 lack of funding which will ultimately prevent the Bank from meeting its obligations.

Liquidity risk arises from: 

	• Market (product) liquidity risk: risk of losses arising from the inability to easily offset or eliminate a 

position without significantly affecting the market price because of inadequate market depth or 

market disruption; and

	• Funding liquidity risk: risk of losses arising from a timing mismatch between investing, placements 

and fund raising activities resulting in obligations missing the settlement date or satisfied at higher 

than normal rates.

	• Operational risk: Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect losses arising from inadequate 

or failed internal processes, system failure, human error, fraud or from external events (including 

legal risk). When controls fail to perform or underperform, operational risks can cause damage to 

reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, and/or lead to financial loss.

Extensive financial risk management takes place as part of the Bank’s Risk Management Framework. 

The Risk Management Framework is an integral part of the Bank’s organisational and governance 

structure, the details of which are set out in the Statement of Compliance with the Principles of 

Good Corporate Governance.

Four lines of defence
The Bank’s Risk Management Framework is modelled on the Four Lines of Defence Principle:

	• The first line of defence

The first line of defence comprises of the internal entities which own and manage risk. The control 

duties in the first line underline the dual responsibility which is to generate business for the organisation 

while remaining cognisant of the associated risks and controls. The first line is composed primarily of all 

commercial and customer-facing departments;

	• The second line of defence

The second line of defense comprises of all functions, including risk and compliance control functions, 

providing oversight and support to the first line of defense. The key duties of the second line are to 

monitor and report risk-related practices and information, and to oversee all types of compliance 

and financial controlling issues. The second line of defence defines preventive and detective control 

requirements, and ensures that such requirements are embedded in the policies and procedures of the 

first line. Together with the third line, the second line is responsible for coordination of communication 

with the fourth line of defense; 

	• The third line of defence

The third line of defence comprises the Internal Audit Function, which provides independent assurance 

to Management and the Board of Directors on a broad range of objectives, including efficiency and 

effectiveness of operations, safeguarding of assets, reliability and integrity of reporting processes 

and compliance with laws and regulations. The Internal Audit Function has a direct reporting line to 

the Audit Committee, and together with the second line of defense is responsible for coordination of 

communication with the fourth line of defense;

	• The fourth line of defence

The fourth line comprises of external entities which provide fully independent audit and supervision, 

primarily the external auditors and supervisory authorities. The fourth line of defense provides additional 

assurance around the first three lines and therefore plays an important role in the Bank’s governance. 

Risk Culture
The Board of Directors is responsible for the Bank’s risk culture, and for outlining its long-term objectives. 

Furthermore, the Board has the responsibility for ensuring that the Executive Committee implements a 

strategy which enables the Bank to meet its objectives while respecting its risk appetite. 

To this end, the Board of Directors continuously challenges the Bank’s management and their 

performance and has delegated the responsibility of risk management to the Risk Committee. Through 

the Risk Committee, the Board of Directors regularly and thoroughly engages in analysis of the Bank’s 

risk situation. The primary tools used by the Risk Committee to address their responsibility are the Risk 

Appetite and the Risk Management Process.
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Risk Appetite
The Board has approved a risk appetite statement which sets out their tolerance to risk exposure with 

respect to all risks identified. This statement is translated into a system of risk limits for all risks which 

the Bank considers as material, to ensure that the Risk Appetite is fully embedded throughout the Bank.

The Bank allocates considerable resources to monitor ongoing compliance with approved limits, and 

has a fixed reporting cycle to ensure that Management and the Board of Directors are informed of all 

material matters in this respect.

Risk Management Process
The Bank’s risk management process forms an integral part of its Risk Management Framework, and is 

outlined as follows: 

	• Identification and assessment of material risks and controls

The Bank carries out an analysis of its business model and strategy on a regular basis. As part of that 

analysis, the Bank endeavours to identify its key vulnerabilities, being the areas that drive its risks and 

potential scenarios of stress. 

The Bank maintains a risk taxonomy which is updated on a regular basis, identifying risk categories and 

sub-categories of risk exposure.

	• Risk measurement and mitigation

The Bank aims to migitate risk with controls where possible, by ensuring that adequate processes, 

procedures, and systems of internal control exist at all times. Systems of internal control also support 

accurate financial reporting, which in turn aids effective decision making. 

Identified risks are evaluated both on a holistic and micro level, across different levels and different 

business lines. Following risk identification, the inherent level of risk is assessed by considering the risk 

drivers, probability of occurrence and potential impact. The availability and effectiveness of mitigating 

controls is also assessed in order to derive the level of residual risk.

Subsequent to the identification of the residual risk, the Bank initiates a process whereby further risk 

mitigation action plans are implemented to further treat such residual risk. 

In cases where residual risk remains beyond the Board’s risk appetite or where the residual risk is not 

considered acceptable, further risk treatment is considered. Additionally, such risks are often targeted 

as part of the Bank’s stress testing framework and may be considered as part of the Pillar 2 add-on.

	• Monitoring and Reporting

The Risk Control & Oversight function is involved in aggregating and reporting risks, ongoing reporting 

and overseeing the risk mitigation activity being recommended. The Bank’s risk profile is not static 

but changes according to internal and external risk drivers and factors. The regular monitoring and 

reporting of risks in line with the framework of various Committees within the Bank, ensures that limits 

are being observed and analysed by different structures within the Bank and where needed, the risk 

profile is adjusted accordingly to better reflect the Bank’s business model. Qualitative and quantitative 

aspects of the Bank’s risk position are regularly reported to and discussed by top management. This 

includes the Board of Directors and its sub-committees i.e. the Audit Committee and Risk Committee, 

the Executive Committee, as well as management committees, such as the ALCO.

Regulatory risk reporting also takes place regularly through the ICAAP and ILAAP reports and the 

Recovery Plan.

3.2  Credit Risk
Credit risk is the single largest financial risk for the Bank. In this regard, as part of the second line of 

defence, management set up the Risk Function, which is responsible for various elements of credit risk. 

Such structure comprises two independent and segregated functions, namely:

	• Credit Analysis Department (CAD): responsible for credit risk management activities by way 

of analysis of credit requests, implementation of credit policies, and participation in credit 

committees where credit decisions are taken by consensus; and

	• Risk Control & Oversight Unit: responsible for credit, concentration, and correlation risk control 

and oversight activities. This unit does not actively participate in credit decisions, and is 

responsible for the maintenance of credit policies, risk models, metrics, tools, and reporting on 

adherence or otherwise to Bank's Risk Appetite Framework on credit and other risks.

The above mentioned functions, report to the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) who forms part of the Bank's 

Executive Committee.  In terms of organisational structure, the CRO has a duty to report inter alia to 

the Risk Committee, and is frequently invited to report to the Audit Committee on credit and other 

financial risks.

Credit decisions are taken within credit committees where, at each discretionary level, the risk function 

is represented through the CAD. The Bank‘s Credit Committees’ structure is composed of various levels 

ranging from Level 1 to Level 3, Executive Committee (EC), the Credit Approval Committee and the 

Board of Directors. The Board of Directors acts as the highest approval body within the Bank whilst 

the Credit Approval Committee is a Board Committee. The role of the Credit Approval Committee is to 

approve credit applications within an established range, to oversee the credit and lending strategies 

and objectives of the Bank; to oversee the credit risk management function of the Bank, including 

reviewing internal credit processes; to review the quality and performance of the Bank’s credit portfolio; 

and to liaise with the Risk Committee specifically with reference to credit risk. 

The Committee may escalate to the Board any credit application where it considers that action is 

needed, with recommendations as to the steps to be taken. Furthermore, the Board of Directors also 

delegated oversight functions related to credit risk to a number of Board committees, such as the 

Credit Approval Committee, the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee.

3.2.1	 Credit risk management
Lending decisions should achieve a reasonable balance between the risks and returns of extending 

credit to a customer. The Bank has a credit authorisation structure, made up of various physical credit 

committee levels; ranging from the lowest level, which includes authorisation by a Branch / Senior 

Manager and an Analyst / Manager from the Credit Analysis Department to the highest level, being 

the Board of Directors. Each credit committee level is assigned a sanctioning limit, under which it 

can operate within specific guidelines. Within its discretionary limit, a credit committee can approve 

new credit, increase, reduce or otherwise amend the terms and conditions of existing facilities, or 

simply renew existing facilities without altering the terms and conditions at original sanction. A credit 

committee has the onus to ensure that the facility carries acceptable credit risk and meets credit 

rating requirements. Lending is not primarily based on the existence of collateral but on the customer’s 

perceived ability to repay the exposure from the primary repayment source.
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At the same time, the existence of security acts as a fall back option available in case of need. Where 

applicable the Bank ensures that security held is perfected. The majority of facilities are secured either 

by cash, financial assets, property and/or guarantees. 

Facilities are generally reviewed periodically. In a facility review, the Bank analyses factors such as: 

the customer profile, credit quality, non-financial considerations, adherence to internal policies and 

procedures, and profitability.

The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept 

for individual counterparties and for industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation 

to such limits. The Bank rigorously applies a credit quality review process to provide early identification 

of possible changes in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular revisions to collateral.

In addition, exposures which are technically performing but exhibit early signs of deterioration (e.g. 

days past due and/or other early warning signals), are separately analysed on a monthly basis by the 

Risk Control and Oversight Unit in liaison with the business units. This often results in prompt revision of 

individual risk rating, revised expected loss quantification, and instigation of corrective action.

Credit quality is also reviewed in aggregate by portfolio, to provide early identification of possible 

changes in the creditworthiness of relevant portfolio segments. The Bank has in place policies and 

procedures which formalise the above internal control mechanisms.

The current financial year has been characterised by unprecedented economic conditions as a result 

of the COVID-19 outbreak, which have impacted the Bank’s customers’ business models, income levels 

or cash flow generation. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank has adapted its credit risk 

management processes for the purposes of identifying deterioration in credit risk within its portfolios 

and estimating expected credit loss allowances using the best possible judgement. 

In this respect, the Bank increased the depth of monitoring activities on its loan portfolios. In relation 

to those customers that requested moratoria, the Bank carried out assessments to determine whether 

the immediate COVID-19 induced shock may transform into long-term financial difficulties, thereby 

potentially requiring a downgrade of individual exposures or exposures sharing similar credit risk 

characteristics to Stage 2 or Stage 3 to reflect the change in the level of credit risk as appropriate. 

The identification of customers experiencing significant increase in credit risk or credit impairment in 

the context of the elevated level of uncertainty is highly judgemental due to limitations in available 

credit information on customers. This is particularly relevant in those instances where customers have 

accepted payment deferrals and other relief designed to address short-term liquidity issues or have 

extended those deferrals. In order to address such uncertainty, sectorial reviews were performed to 

identify customers or groups of customers who were experiencing, or were likely to experience, financial 

difficulty as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the economic distress it created has elevated the level of estimation 

uncertainty and judgement, especially in light of the inability to track observable historical trends 

which can be reflected in ECL modelling which could accurately represent the financial implications 

brought about by the pandemic. The unprecedented nature of the pandemic induced an elevated 

level of uncertainty in respect of economic outlook. Whilst economic consensus forecasts have 

stabilised in recent months and monthly modifications to forecasts have become narrower, the extent 

to which these forecasts accurately reflect the effects of restrictions, the distribution of vaccines and 

eventual business recovery remains uncertain. Hence, the level of subjectivity underlying the ECL 

model parameters, including  how these react to forward-looking economic conditions remains high. 

This necessitates more regular monitoring and rigorous evaluation of forecast economic conditions, 

together with heightened expert judgement, in order to best determine the range of possible economic 

outcomes used for purposes of estimating ECL. Further information in respect of macroeconomic 

forecasts reflected within the ECL calculations is provided in Note 3.2.3.4.

3.2.2  	 Credit risk measurement
Measurement of credit risk considers that an exposure varies with changes in market conditions, 

expected cash flows and the passage of time. The Bank’s internal models measure expected credit 

losses by portfolio using probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default 

(LGD) parameters. Refer to Note 3.2.2 for more details.

(a) Loans and advances to customers

The Bank uses internal credit risk gradings (see Note 3.2.7) to reflect its assessment of the probability 

of default of individual counterparties or facilities. Internal credit risk gradings are based on payment 

behaviour, loan specific information and expert judgement of the Bank’s credit committees.

Information considered by the Bank when determining the internal credit risk grades includes the 

payment behaviour of the borrower and other information about borrowers which impact their 

creditworthiness, including level of income and/or financial performance.

The internal credit risk gradings are calibrated such that they reflect the increased risk of default at 

each higher risk grade. 

Corporate
For corporate business, the rating is determined at the borrower level. A Bank official will incorporate 

any updated or new information/credit assessments into the Bank’s credit system on an ongoing basis. 

In addition, a Bank’s official will also update information about the creditworthiness of the borrower 

from sources such as financial statements.

The creditworthiness of the borrower is considered in every periodic review. This will determine the 

updated internal credit risk grading.

Retail
After the date of initial recognition, for retail business, the payment behaviour of the borrower is 

monitored on an ongoing basis. Any other known information about the borrower which impacts their 

creditworthiness, such as unemployment and previous delinquency history, is also captured.

(b) Other financial assets

Other financial assets include balances with the Central Bank of Malta, investments and loans and 

advances to banks. The Bank considers external risk grades to reflect its assessment of the probability 

of default of individual counterparties. These published grades are continuously monitored and 

updated. The PD associated with each grade are determined based on realised default rates over the 

prior 12 months.

In determining the probability of default of individual counterparties, the Bank distinguishes between 

exposures considered as investment-grade and non-investment grade.
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3.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial  

recognition as summarised below:

	• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired upon initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’.

	• If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial 

instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Refer to Note 3.2.3.1 

for a description of how the Bank determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

	• If the financial instrument becomes credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 3’. 

Refer to Note 3.2.3.2 for the Bank’s definition of credit-impaired.

	• Financial instruments in ‘Stage 1’ have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of 

lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. 

Instruments in ‘Stage 2’ or ‘Stage 3’ have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses 

on a lifetime basis. Refer to Note 3.2.3.3 for a description of inputs, assumptions and estimation 

techniques used in measuring the ECL.

	• A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that forward looking information 

is considered. Note 3.2.3.4 includes an explanation of how the Bank has incorporated forward 

looking information into ECL models.

	• Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit 

impaired upon initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (‘Stage 3’).

Further explanation is also provided of how the Bank determines appropriate groupings of loans and 

advances to customers for ECL measurement (see Note 3.2.3.5).

The expected credit loss requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, 

and certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial recognition, an impairment 

allowance (or provision in the case of commitments and guarantees) is required for ECL resulting from 

default events that are possible within the next 12 months (“12-month ECL”). In the event of a significant 

increase in credit risk, an allowance (or provision) is required for ECL resulting from all possible default 

events over the expected life of the financial instrument (“lifetime ECL”).

The Bank recognises loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for debt investment securities 

that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. The Bank considers a debt security 

to have low credit risk when it is considered ‘investment-grade’, defined by recognised external rating 

agencies.The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than 

purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

‘Stage 1’ ‘Stage 2’ ‘Stage 3’

(Initial recognition)
(Significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition)
(Credit impaired)

12-month expected credit losses
Lifetime expected credit 

losses
Lifetime expected credit losses

3.2.3.1 Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
To determine whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 

without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information. Such analysis is 

based on the Bank’s historical experience, credit assessment and forward-looking information. 

The Bank primarily identifies whether a SICR has occurred for an exposure within the loans and advances 

to customers, through the Bank’s internal risk gradings. The Bank allocates each exposure to an internal 

rating grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and 

applying experienced credit judgement. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and 

the type of borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being 

moved to a different internal rating grade (refer to Note 3.2.7). Exposures which exhibit a SICR are subject 

to extended ongoing monitoring. The Bank identifies SICR and classifies non-defaulted exposures into 

‘Stage 2’ when these fulfil at least one of the following conditions:

i.	 the exposure is considered forborne and allocated a forbearance flag under the Bank’s 

definition of forbearance (set out in section 3.2.7);

ii.	 the credit quality of any other exposure to the same customer is not considered ‘regular’ 

(except where otherwise stated in the Bank’s Credit Policy e.g. cash covered facilities); and

iii.	 the borrower’s internal rating grade is not considered ‘high-grade’, as defined in Note 3.2.7.

As referred to previously, the COVID-19 pandemic and the consequential economic conditions have 

exacerbated the level of uncertainty, particularly with respect to the identification of customers that 

would have experienced a SICR. This is also attributable to limitations in credit information available on 

customers, particularly where these customers were granted a general payment moratorium. 

The Bank has utilised segmentation techniques for the purposes of identifying indicators of SICR within 

both retail and corporate portfolios.

In relation to retail portfolios, SICR is generally determined on the basis of delinquency related indicators 

since less information is available at asset level to enable the timely identification of a SICR. In this 

respect, a set of criteria were established to determine if borrowers which were granted a general payment 

moratorium (Note 3.2.8) exhibited signs of SICR or Unlikeliness-to-Pay (UTP). Such criteria includes whether 

the COVID-19 pandemic negatively affects the level of income of the borrower to the extent that the 

repayment ability of the borrower is jeopardised and whether the economic sector in which the borrower 

is employed is severely affected. Such assessment was performed in the context of the Loan-to-Value 

(LTV) ratio of the exposure. With respect to borrowers who have not requested a moratorium, the Bank 

continued to apply rigorously its credit assessment and oversight processes, which include monitoring of 

arrears and the Bank’s exposure through the LTV ratio. Retail borrowers were considered to exhibit signs 

of SICR and consequently downgraded to Stage 2 if they met the following criteria:

	• employed within industries affected by the pandemic;

	• the annual residual income (net of annual repayments and after considering reduced income during 

the pandemic) is less than €10,000; and

	• the Loan-to-Value (LTV) ratio is higher than 85%.

In relation to the corporate portfolio, the Bank assessed all borrowers which were granted a general 

payment moratorium (Note 3.2.8). As part of these credit assessments, judgement is exercised in evaluating 

all relevant information on indicators of impairment, particularly where factors indicate deterioration in 
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the financial condition and outlook of borrowers affecting their ability to pay. As part of the ongoing 

credit review process, the Bank also assessed whether potential heightened credit risk factors exist 

(SICR or UTP) from exposures not subject to a general payment moratoria. Such assessment was 

based on the performance of the economic sector to which the borrower belongs. The assessments 

were performed by the Bank’s Credit Analysis Department (CAD) and were discussed and reviewed at 

Executive Committee level. 

In view of these assessments, management has adopted a prudent approach to downgrade a number 

of retail and corporate customers to Stage 2. 

Monitoring typically involves use of the following data:

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information (see Note 3.2.3.4) and is performed 

at the counterparty level and on a periodic basis. The criteria used to identify SICR are monitored and 

reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the independent Credit Analysis Department.

As a backstop, and as required by IFRS 9, the Bank presumes that a SICR has occurred when an asset is 

more than 30 days past due. The Bank determines days past due by counting the number of days since 

the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been received.

In the case of other financial assets (including loans and advances to banks and investments in debt 

securities), the Bank applies the low credit risk simplification to all its exposures considered ‘investment-

grade’, thus they are not subject to the SICR assessment. Moving from ‘investment-grade’ to ‘non-

investment grade’ does not automatically mean that there has been a SICR. 

CORPORATE EXPOSURES RETAIL EXPOSURES ALL EXPOSURES

	• Information obtained during periodic 

review of customer files – e.g. audited 

financial statements, management 

accounts, budgets and projections. 

Examples of areas of particular 

focus are: gross profit margins, 

financial leverage ratios, debt service 

coverage, compliance with contractual 

conditions, quality of management 

and senior management changes.

	• Data from credit reference agencies, 

press articles.

	• Actual and expected significant 

changes in the political, regulatory 

and technological environment of the 

borrower or in its business activities.

	• Internally collected data 

on customer behaviour 

– e.g. utilisation of credit 

card facilities.

	• Affordability metrics.

	• Payment record – this 

includes overdue status 

as well as a range of 

variables about payment 

ratios.

	• Utilization of the granted 

limit.

	• Requests for and granting 

of forbearance.

	• Existing and forecast 

changes in business, 

financial and economic 

conditions.

3.2.3.2  	Definition of default and credit-impaired assets
The Bank’s assessment to determine the extent of increase in credit risk of a financial instrument since 

initial recognition is performed by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the 

remaining life of the financial instrument. 

The Bank applies the definition of default in a consistent manner with internal credit risk management 

practice for the relevant instruments and the definition considers qualitative and quantitative factors 

where appropriate.

The Bank determines that a financial instrument is credit-impaired or in default (and accordingly stage 

3 for IFRS 9 purposes) by considering relevant objective evidence, primarily whether: 

	• contractual payments of either principal or interest are past due for more than 90 days for any 

material credit obligations to the Bank;

	• there are other indicators that the borrower is unlikely to pay, such as that a concession has 

been granted to the borrower for economic or legal reasons of an enduring nature relating to 

the borrower’s financial condition (unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in 

significant financial difficulty); and

	• the loan is otherwise considered to be in default in line with an instrument’s terms and conditions. 

 

As set out in this section, the Bank’s definitions of credit-impaired and default are fully aligned.In 

assessing whether a borrower is in default/credit-impaired, the Bank considers indicators that are:

	• qualitative – such as non-adherence to terms and conditions of sanction and/or other breaches 

of covenant;

	• quantitative – such as overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same obligor 

to the Bank; and

	• based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

The default definition is applied consistently when modelling PD, EAD and LGD parameters throughout 

the Bank’s expected credit loss calculations. As referred to previously, the COVID-19 pandemic and 

the consequential economic conditions have exacerbated the level of uncertainty, particularly with 

respect to the identification of customers that would have showed signs of unlikeliness to pay (‘UTP’). 

The Bank performed assessments to determine whether the short-term economic shock as a result of 

the pandemic may transform into long-term borrower financial difficulties, thereby potentially requiring 

a downgrade of individual exposures or exposures sharing similar credit risk characteristics to Stage 

3 to reflect the level of change in credit risk. With respect to the retail portfolio, assessments covered 

individual exposures meeting certain criteria as reflected previously and were also carried out for 

groups of exposures sharing common risk characteristics. In relation to the corporate portfolio, the 

Bank’s assessment is highly dependent on individual exposure reviews. 

Except for forborne exposures, an instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) 

when it no longer meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive period of three months. This period 

has been determined based on an analysis which considers the likelihood of a financial instrument 

returning to default status after cure using different possible cure definitions.

In the case of forborne exposures, as stated in Note 3.2.8, the cure period comprises 12 consecutive 

monthly repayments made in a timely manner with a minimal grace period of one day (i.e. one or more 

repayments may be made no more than one day late).
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The Bank considers other financial assets to be in default when a payment due including a coupon 

payment is not affected.

3.2.3.3	 Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
Expected credit lossses (ECL) are measured on either a 12-month or on a lifetime basis depending on 

whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is 

considered to be credit impaired. When calculating the Bank’s ECL, special considerations were made 

to assess the impact of COVID-19 on ECL. Further details are set out in Note 3.2.3.4.

ECL are the discounted product of the PD, EAD and LGD. ECL are determined by projecting the PD, 

LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure. These three components are 

multiplied and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted 

in an earlier month). This effectively calculates ECL for each future month, which are then discounted 

back to the reporting date. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective 

interest rate.

The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated 

on a similar basis for the residual life of the exposure. The PD, EAD and LGD parameters are derived from 

internally developed statistical models and other historical data, adjusted to reflect forward-looking 

information as described below. 

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per “Definition 

of default and credit-impaired assets” above), either over the next 12 months, or over the remaining 

lifetime of the obligation. Accordingly, the 12-month and lifetime PD represent the probability of default 

occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of the instrument, respectively.

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which, for loans and advances to customers are  

calculated based on statistical rating models and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various 

categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on internally-compiled 

data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. 

With respect to the retail portfolio (including mortgages, credit cards and other consumer credit 

facilities), the PD calculation is based on fitting theoretical distribution to historical default rates in 

particular periods after origination (‘months on book’) for each homogeneous portfolio, to produce 

term structure of point-in-time PD. 

In the case of the corporate portfolio (as defined in Note 3.2.3.5), the PD calculation is based on 

a transition matrix approach. The main assumptions underlying the latter approach is that the PD 

does not depend on ‘months on book’ and that the future PD depends on current characteristics of 

the exposure or borrower. Default is considered to be an absorbing state, whereby if an exposure is 

defaulted, it subsequently remains in default. 

Market data is used for the PD of loans and advances to banks and investment securities. If a 

counterparty or exposure migrates between internal rating grades or external credit ratings, such will 

lead to a change in PD.

The Lifetime PD is developed as follows:

	• Retail portfolio: Obtaining an average PD profile for homogenous groups by fitting a parametric 

distribution to the Bank’s historical default rates. Homogenous grouping is based on similar months 

on book, days past due and internal ratings. The average PD profile is adjusted to consider forward-

looking information through macroeconomic modelling.

	• Corporate portfolio: Obtaining a transition matrix which shows the probability of a borrower’s 

transition from one internal rating class to another (or staying in the same class) within a given 

horizon, raised to a particular power. The conditional PD is adjusted to consider forward-looking 

information through macroeconomic modelling.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default (including any expected drawdowns 

of committed facilities). The Bank derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and 

potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD 

of a financial asset is the gross carrying amount at default.

The 12-month and lifetime EAD are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies 

by product type:

	• For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments 

owed by the borrower over a 12 month or lifetime basis;

	• For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance and 

adding a “credit conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit 

by the time of default. These assumptions vary by product type and current limit utilisation band, 

based on analysis of the Bank’s recent default data.

Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted 

exposure. Hence, the LGD represents expected credit losses on the EAD assuming an event of default. 

LGD takes into account among other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it 

is expected to be realised and the time value of money. The 12 month and lifetime LGD are determined 

based on the factors which impact the recoveries post default. 

For secured products, LGD is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, 

historical discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs 

observed. The LGD for exposures secured by real estate is derived from the adjusted Loan-to-Value 

ratio of the individual facilities, and takes into account the expected recovery by applying haircuts for 

the cost to sell the property. Also taken into account are the sales ratio and sales ratio volatility, and 

the effect of discounting (using the effective interest rate) over a projected time to sell period. The sales 

ratio resembles a market value haircut while the sales ratio volatility captures the standard deviation 

of the sales ratio. 

For unsecured products, LGD is typically set at product level due to the limited differentiation in 

recoveries achieved across different borrowers. 

ECL are measured from the initial recognition of a financial asset. The maximum period considered 

when measuring ECL (whether 12-month or lifetime ECL) is the maximum contractual period over which 

the Bank is exposed to credit risk. With respect to non-revolving credit facilities, the contractual life 

of the facility is considered. In the case of revolving credit facilities, provided that such facilities do 

not have a fixed term or repayment structure, the Bank considers the lifetime of such exposures to be 

6 months, in cases where the next substantive credit review is within the next 6 months. Otherwise, for 

the purpose of measuring ECL, the Bank considers a lifetime of 12 months. For the credit cards portfolio, 

the Bank considers a lifetime of 36 months.

Forward-looking economic information is considered in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD and 

LGD. Refer to Note 3.2.3.4 for an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL 

calculations.
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The assumptions underlying the ECL calculations are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis. In 

fact, the Bank estimates the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its ECL by utilising segmentation 

techniques for the purposes of identifying indicators of SICR within both retail and corporate portfolios. 

As explained in Note 3.2.3.1, management has adopted a prudent approach to downgrade a number 

of retail and corporate customers to Stage 2. For individually significant credit impaired loans, 

management determines the size of the allowance required based on a range of factors such as the 

realisable value of security, the viability of the customer’s business model and the capacity to generate 

cash flow to service debt obligations, under different scenarios. Judgement is applied in estimating 

the expected future cash flows from each borrower and the time to recover these cash flows under 

the different scenarios as well as to attach probabilities to those scenarios. The assumptions around 

forecasted recoveries from the sale of collateralised properties, including around valuation haircuts 

and time to recovery, are key drivers in the estimation of credit loss allowances in respect of individually 

assessed loans. The heightened level of uncertainty within the local property market, driven by the 

pandemic, increases the level of expert judgement required to predict with reasonable accuracy the 

recoverability of exposures through the sale of collateral, since the real impact of the pandemic will not 

be fully known until market conditions stabilise. To reflect the volatile economic conditions associated 

with the COVID-19 pandemic, judgemental overlay adjustments were applied by management in order 

to overcome limitations in respect of determining collateral valuations, and the uncertainty around the 

time to repossess properties held as collateral and to resell such properties in the open market. 

Furthermore, during 2020 the Bank undertook a review of the ECL model to ensure that the Bank’s 

current portfolio and macro-economic environment are reflected in the ECL calculations. Whilst product 

segments were left unchanged,  the following model and process updates were introduced:

	• additional criteria for the selection of the most appropriate regression models to predict defaults 

giving rise to a more robust review and selection process for the selection of the most appropriate 

regression models;

	• sensitivity analysis on the selected regression models to test the consistency of the models;

	• enhancement in  the process of capturing most recent economic data available; 

	• developing an internal model to forecast macroeconomic variables under multiple scenarios; and

	• changes in the probability weightings of the multiple scenarios to better reflect the current and 

projected macro-economic environment.

 
3.2.3.4 	 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model 
The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-looking information. The Bank performs a historical 

analysis to identify the key economic variables affecting credit risk and expected credit losses for each 

portfolio. These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD may vary by 

portfolio. 

In this respect, the Bank has identified key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio 

of financial instruments and using an analysis of historical data, has analysed relationships between 

macro-economic variables, credit risk and credit losses. These key drivers include:

i.	 Corporate exposure: the real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and the Gross Fixed Capital 

Formation (GFCF), given the significant impact they have on local investment and the 

performance of corporate entities; 

ii.	 Retail exposure: the real GDP, unemployment and average gross salary rate and the Real 

Estate Price Index (REPI), being good indicators of household-level spending and spending 

power and considering their performance has a significant impact on repayment feasibility 

of secured and unsecured retail borrowers.

The impact of these economic variables on the PD is determined by performing statistical regression 

analysis to understand the historical impact that changes in these variables had on the Bank’s default 

rates.

Three possible scenarios are considered to capture non-linearity across credit portfolios. The ‘baseline’ 

scenario represents the most-likely outcome. It is based on authoritative sources forecasting these 

economic variables referred to above and providing the best estimate view of the economy over the 

next three years. Apart from the ‘baseline’ scenario, the Bank considers an ‘upside’ and a ‘downside’ 

macro-economic scenario; which respectively represent a more optimistic and a more pessimistic 

outcome. Such scenarios reflect the current top and emergent risks and opportunities. The Bank 

considers economically plausible upside and downside scenarios, and the downside scenario is not 

necessarily as severe as scenarios used in stress testing.

Each scenario is weighted by a probability of occurrence, determined by a combination of macroeconomic 

research and expert credit judgment, taking into account the range of possible outcomes each chosen 

scenario represents. The Bank measures ECL as either a probability weighted 12-month ECL (Stage 1), 

or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). Probability-weighted ECL are determined by 

running each scenario through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario 

weighting (as opposed to weighting the inputs). 

As highlighted previously, the COVID-19 outbreak dominated the political and economic landscape 

through much of 2020. The twin shocks of a public health emergency and the resultant economic fallout 

have been felt around the world. The sharp contraction in economic activity experienced in both global 

and local economies has had varying effects on different industry sectors, with borrowers operating or 

employed within such industry sectors experiencing financial difficulties.

At the same time, measures designed to soften the extent of the damage to economic activity and the 

labour market were announced by the Maltese government, as well as European and local regulatory 

authorities. Such measures include income support to households, funding support to businesses 

(including through government guaranteed schemes), as well as the granting of general public 

moratoria on capital and/or interest repayments in response to the outbreak of the pandemic. In this 

respect, the significant changes in economic and market drivers, customer behaviours and government 

actions caused by COVID-19 have also impacted the performance of ECL models, since the severity of 

projections of macroeconomic variables being forecasted in response to the pandemic are outside the 

historical observations on which the ECL models have been built and calibrated.

In this regard, a significant judgement within the Bank’s estimation of ECL allowances as at 31 December 

2020 relates to the determination of forward-looking scenarios reflecting potential future economic 

conditions under different scenarios and their impact on PDs and LGDs. As with any macro-economic 

forecast, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a degree of uncertainty and 

actual outcomes could be significantly different to those projected. The Bank considers these forecasts 

to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes after analysing different portfolios to establish 

that the chosen scenarios are appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios.

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, management performed an assessment in order 

to determine whether the use of the standard framework as described above remains appropriate in 

light of the extraordinary economic conditions being experienced on a global scale as well as the 

significant increase in the inherent level of uncertainty which currently exists around future economic 

conditions. In this respect, the estimated impact of the pandemic was incorporated in the three 

scenarios contemplated by the standard framework.

The three scenarios used in the Bank’s ECL model consider differing severity and duration assumptions 

relating to the global pandemic, including assumptions in respect of the speed at which lockdown 

measures are unwound and economic activity returns to pre-COVID-19 levels.
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The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2020 are set 

out below. The ‘baseline’, ‘upside’ and ‘downside’ scenarios were used for all portfolios: 

	• the ‘baseline’ scenario captures business-as-usual macroeconomic expectations, whereby the 

current rhythm of economic activity is maintained;

	• the ‘downside’ scenario is based on a subdued level of economic activity hypothesized to correspond 

to an economic recession; and

	• the ‘upside’ scenario is based on the assumption that it would be possible to marginally improve 

further over the already benign economic conditions.

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

2021 2022 2023

Average gross salary rate (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ -3.48% -1.79% -1.09%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [-5.5 - -3.1]% [-4.5 - -1.3]% [-4.2 - -0.5]%

Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF) (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ -5.59% -4.72% -4.17%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [-8.6 - 6.8]% [-8.8 - 11.9]% [-8.9 - 15.0]%

Real GDP rate (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ -0.78% 1.67% 2.45%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [-3.2 - -0.2]% [-1.6 - 2.5]% [-1.3 - 3.4]%

Unemployment rate (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ 4.36% 4.33% 4.31%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [4.2 - 4.5]% [4.2 - 4.5]% [4.1 - 4.5]%

Real Estate Price Growth rate (REPI) (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ 1.25% 0.67% 0.42%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [0.1 - 5.0%] [-0.8 - 5.5]% [-1.3 - 5.9]%

*YoY = year on year
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

2020 2021 2022

Gross public debt (% of GDP)

	- ‘Baseline’ 39.93% 34.79% 30.30%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [37.0 - 50.8]% [31.4 - 55.3]% [26.6 - 59.3]%

Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF) (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ 6.95% 4.05% 3.50%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [-7.1 - 8.0]% [-6.3 - 4.6]% [-4.0 - 4.0]%

Inflation rate

	- ‘Baseline’ 1.56% 1.73% 1.85%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [1.1 - 2.1]% [0.4 - 2.4]% [-0.1 - 2.5]%

Domestic Demand (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ 4.68% 3.39% 3.05%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [2.9 - 5.8]% [2.1 - 4.2]% [2.1 - 3.8]%

Real Estate Price Growth rate (REPI) (YoY)*

	- ‘Baseline’ 1.54% 1.63% 1.75%

	- Range of forecasts for alternative scenarios [-0.3 - 4.3]% [-0.7 - 4.9]% [-0.9 - 5.3]%

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario were 50% (2019: 60%) for the ‘baseline’ scenario, 

25%  (2019: 30%) for the ‘downside’ scenario and 25% (2019: 10%) for the ‘upside’ scenario. The number 

of scenarios used is based on the analysis of each major product type to ensure that non-linearities 

are captured. The number of scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting date. The 

economic scenarios were simulated over a full economic cycle.

*YoY = year on year

Economic scenarios sensitivity analyses of ECL estimates
The outcome of the Bank’s credit loss allowances estimation process is sensitive to judgements and 

estimations made throughout the incorporation of forward-looking economic conditions. Management 

has assessed the sensitivity of the Bank’s expected credit losses by assigning a 100% weighting to the 

baseline, downside and upside scenario respectively. The Bank’s credit loss allowances would decrease 

by €0.76 million if the provisions had to be calculated solely on the baseline scenario; ECLs would 

increase by €1.4 million if these had to be estimated using only the downside scenario and would 

reduce by €1.4 million if the upside scenario only were to be taken into consideration. Considering 

any of these scenarios, the Bank would remain in a profitable position. This demonstrates the Bank’s 

resilience in overcoming negative shocks and  ability to absorb such changes, if necessary. In 2019, the 

sensitivity impact was not considered to be significant after taking into consideration the amount of 

ECL allowances and the effects of the macreconomic variables applied to the ECL calculations.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as 

the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are not 

deemed to have a material impact and therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such 

factors. This matter is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on an ongoing basis.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the measures undertaken to contain it have considerably changed the 

global economic outlook, caused economic disruption and volatility in financial markets. The adverse 

repercussions anticipated by the Bank include increase in consumer defaults and insolvent businesses 

and increase in unemployment rate. To mitigate the adverse impact of the pandemic, central banks, 

regulators and governments introduced fiscal, regulatory and monetary measures to encourage banks 

to support the economy as explained previously. Given the unprecedented set of circumstances which 

continue to evolve, a complete and accurate assessment of the longer-term economic impact of the 

pandemic is difficult to establish. The Bank’s performance is closely linked to the performance of the 

local economy and the Bank took several actions to ensure that impairment provisions reflect the 

current economic downturn and future performance of both the economy and the Bank’s clients. 

3.2.3.5 	 Categorisation of loans and advances to customers for ECL measurement
As part of the ECL model, the Bank classifies its exposures to loans and advances to customers into 

groups with similar characteristics that include instrument type. In this respect, the Bank considers the 

following categories when measuring ECL:

	• corporate portfolio, which includes loans and advances to business entities; and

	• retail portfolio, which includes loans and advances to individual customers such as mortgages, 

credit cards and other consumer credit.

3.2.4  Maximum exposure to credit risk

An ‘exposure’ is defined as the amount at risk arising from the Bank’s assets and off-balance sheet 

items. The Bank’s maximum credit risk with respect to assets and off-balance sheet items can be 

classified into the following categories:

	• Financial assets recognised on-balance sheet comprising principally balances with Central Bank 

of Malta, financial investments and loans and advances to banks and customers. The maximum 

exposure to credit risk of these financial assets is equal to their gross carrying amounts. Refer to 

section 3.2.11 for information on the impact of collateral held for loans and advances to customers.

	• Documentary credits and guarantee obligations incurred on behalf of third parties. The latter 

carry the same credit risk as loans, whilst documentary credits are collateralised by the underlying 
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shipments of goods to which they relate, and therefore carry less risk than a loan to a customer. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount that the Bank would have to pay if the 

guarantees are called upon or if documentary credits are exercised.

	• Lending commitments and other credit related commitments that are irrevocable over the life of 

the respective facilities and are off-balance sheet items. The maximum exposure to credit risk 

is the full amount of the committed facilities. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the 

total unused lending commitments as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon 

customers maintaining specific credit standards. These exposures are monitored similarly to on-

balance sheet loans and advances.

The Bank’s credit risk exposure relating to on-balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet instruments, 

reflecting the maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements, 

include the following:

2020 2019

GROSS 
EXPOSURE

ECL 
ALLOWANCE

GROSS 
EXPOSURE

ECL 
ALLOWANCE

€000 €000 €000 €000

Credit risk exposure relating to 
on-balance sheet assets:

Subject to IFRS 9 impairment allowance

Financial assets measured at  
amortised cost:

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 88,208 (168) 35,930 (29)

Cheques in course of collection 1,138 - 2,910 -

Loans and advances to banks 16,078 (17) 60,335 (16)

Loans and advances to customers 

	- Corporate 287,278 (10,702) 272,436 (9,340)

	- Retail 416,551 (4,793) 368,059 (3,548)

Accrued income 2,155 - 1,581 -

Financial investments measured  

at FVOCI
78,517 (294) 77,637 (235)

Credit risk exposure 889,925 (15,974) 818,888 (13,168)

Credit risk exposure relating to 
off-balance sheet instruments

Contingent liabilities 9,650 (73) 9,980 (231)

Undrawn commitments to lend 197,038 (213) 161,679 (249)

Credit risk exposure 206,688 (286) 171,659 (480)

 

Accrued income substantially arises from loans and advances to customers. Expected credit losses 

in respect of accrued income, which are not deemed material, have been allocated to loans and 

advances to customers. 



111110

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Notes to Financial Statements

3.2.5  Credit concentration risk
Concentration risk results from limited diversification. This risk is managed by regular measurement 

and monitoring of counterparty, product and collateral type concentration levels against industry 

thresholds.

Credit concentration risk by industry sector
The Bank’s financial investments measured at FVOCI (gross of credit loss allowance) were composed 

of local and foreign government debt securities, and other debt instruments as shown in the following 

table (excluding equity investments of €341,000):

2020 2019

€000 €000

Governments 33,330 30,829

Corporate

Financial services 44,846 46,467

78,176 77,296

2020 2019

€000 €000

Manufacturing 9,445 9,561

Financial services 45,867 39,699

Households and individuals 442,157 390,913

Construction 51,501 46,396

Wholesale and retail 38,114 38,324

Other sectors 116,745 115,602

Gross loans and advances to customers 703,829 640,495

The industry sector analysis of the Bank’s loans and advances to customers (gross of credit loss 

allowances) is set out in the following table:

Credit concentration risk for counterparties
As at 31 December 2020, no loans and advances to customers were deemed to be prohibited large 

exposures in accordance with the requirements of Part Four: Large Exposures, of the CRR. A limited 

number of customers amount to over 10% of the Bank’s regulatory Own Funds, which customers are 

monitored and reported more frequently and rigorously. 

Within its daily operations, the Bank transacts with counterparty banks and other financial institutions. 

To mitigate the risk of losses in respect of such transactions, the Bank places short-term funds solely 

with pre-approved counterparties subject to pre-established limits, which limits are determined 

after having considered the respective institution’s external credit rating. Open positions for such 

transactions are checked against limits on a daily basis and are available in real time.

Credit concentration risk by geographical region
The Bank monitors credit concentration risk by geographical region. The majority of the Bank’s 

exposures were in Malta at the end of the period under review, the country in which the Bank is 

incorporated. Moreover, the Bank also held balances with correspondent banks in foreign jurisdictions 

and investments in debt securities issued by foreign entities, as shown in the following tables. The 

table below representative of financial investments measured at FVOCI exclude equity investments of 

€341,000 (2019: €341,000).

2020 2019

€000 €000

Financial investments measured at FVOCI

Malta 27,818 20,944

France 2,311 5,029

Germany 2,881 9,692

Netherlands 7,481 3,043

Portugal 5,240 5,155

Spain 5,597 -

Switzerland 817 -

United Kingdom 17,991 25,400

United States 8,040 8,033

78,176 77,296
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2020 2019

€000 €000

Loans and advances to banks

Malta 7 6

Belgium 4,772 8,778

France - 10,000

United Kingdom 9,269 41,130

United States 2,030 421

Gross loans and advances to banks 16,078 60,335

Stage 1 
12-month ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000

Balances with Central 
Bank of Malta at 
amortised cost

Gross carrying amount 88,208 - - 88,208

Loss allowance (168) - - (168)

Carrying amount 88,040 - - 88,040

2020

Stage 1 
12-month  

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL
Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 
at amortised cost

Gross carrying amount 35,930 - - 35,930

Loss allowance (29) - - (29)

Carrying amount 35,901 - - 35,901

Stage 1 
12-month  

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL
Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial investments 
measured at FVOCI

Aaa to Aa3 7,923 - - 7,923

A1 to A3 55,622 - - 55,622

Baa1 to Baa3 11,606 - - 11,606

Ba1 to Ba3 3,366 - - 3,366

Carrying amount -  
fair value

78,517 - - 78,517

Loss Allowance (294) - - (294)

2019

2020

3.2.6  Information on credit quality of balances with banks and debt securities
During 2020, the Bank held debt securities and similar instruments issued by investment grade sovereign 

and non-sovereign counterparties. The issuers are approved and regularly reviewed, focusing on 

market developments.  The debt securities held by the Bank were listed on the Malta Stock Exchange, 

a regulated market in Malta, or on other recognised exchanges.

Loans and advances to banks included money market placements and balances held with counterparty 

banks. At the end of the reporting period, none of these financial assets mentioned were past due or 

impaired. 

The following tables set out information on the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised 

cost and financial investments measured at FVOCI. The credit quality of the financial assets is 

determined by credit ratings applicable to issuers or counterparties. Explanation of the terms 12-month 

ECL, lifetime ECL and credit impaired are included in Note 3.2.3. 

The credit rating of Malta was classified as investment grade by external rating agencies as at 31 

December 2020 and 2019.
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Stage 1 
12-month  

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL
Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial investments 
measured at FVOCI

Aaa to Aa3 15,375 - - 15,375

A1 to A3 44,073 - - 44,073

Baa1 to Baa3 18,189 - - 18,189

Carrying amount -  
fair value

77,637 - - 77,637

Loss Allowance (235) - - (235)

2019

Stage 1 
12-month  

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL
Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances  
to banks at amortised cost 

Aaa to Aa3 6,801 - - 6,801

A1 to A3 9,270 - - 9,270

Unrated 7 - - 7

Carrying amount 16,078 - - 16,078

Loss Allowance (17) - - (17)

Gross carrying amount 16,061 - - 16,061

2020
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Stage 1 
12-month  

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL
Total 

€000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances  
to banks at amortised cost

Aaa to Aa3 38,855 - - 38,855

A1 to A3 21,474 - - 21,474

Unrated 6 - - 6

Gross Carrying amount 60,335 - - 60,335

Loss Allowance (16) - - (16)

Carrying amount 60,319 - - 60,319

The Bank did not hold any purchased credit-impaired assets throughout the period. 

After the end of the reporting period there were no significant changes in credit ratings reflected in the 

tables above which have a material impact on the credit quality of the financial assets.

3.2.7 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers
The credit quality of loans and advances to customers is managed by the Bank using internal credit 

ratings. The Bank applies an internal rating system (‘IRS’) which encapsulates the risk profile associated 

with every customer lending relationship.

The IRS comprises 13 credit rating levels which constitute a continuum of progressively increasing risk 

profiles ranging from A1 (best rating, least risky) to E (loss, worst case representing full risk materialisation).

The Bank’s IRS is broken down as follows:

Performing
	• High Grade (Internal rating of A1 to A3)

A customer having an internal risk rating between A1 through A3 generally would not have any interest 

and/or capital payments overdue by more than 30 days or a recent history of default. High grade 

exposures typically do not exhibit indicators of future losses.

2019 	• Standard (Internal rating of A4 and B)

Any forborne exposure with a forbearance flag allocated (within the Bank’s definition of forbearance 

set out in section 3.2.8) or an exposure with more than 30 days past-due is not graded higher than A4 

under the Bank’s IRS.

An exposure is assessed per section 3.2.8 and potentially as A4 or B when it exhibits one or more of 

the following indicators: a tight debt-service ratio, a deterioration in financial standing, operations or 

collateral in an industry under distress, overdraft facilities experiencing hardcore elements, or a high 

Loan-to-Value ratio. Other quantitative or qualitative factors may be considered in such assessments 

as may be deemed necessary by the Bank’s credit committees.

	• Substandard (Internal rating of C)

Customers having an internal risk rating of C, thus classified within the ‘Substandard’ category, generally 

have interest and/or capital payments overdue by more than 60 days but not overdue by more than 

90 days. Further or prolonged deterioration in the indicators set out in the above section on exposures 

rated as ‘Standard’ could result in a C rating.

Non-performing
	• Doubtful (Internal rating of D1 to D6 and E)

All credit-impaired or defaulted exposure (see definition in Note 3.2.3.2) falls within this category of the 

IRS. Exposures past due by more than 90 days automatically fall within this category.

The Bank’s credit impaired loans and advances mainly relate to a number of independent customers 

which are not meeting repayment obligations or deemed by the Bank as unlikely to pay their obligations 

to the Bank without recourse by the Bank to realising the collateral.

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of loans and advances to customers 

measured at amortised cost. Explanation of the terms 12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit-impaired 

are included in Note 3.2.3.

During 2020, the Bank increased its loss allowances in view of possible increase in future defaults as a 

result of COVID-19.

.   
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 STAGE 1 

 12-MONTH ECL 

 €000 

 STAGE 2

LIFETIME ECL

€000

 STAGE 3

LIFETIME ECL

€000

Total

€000
 

Loans and advances to 
customers at amortised cost

Corporate

High grade 222,803 578 - 223.381

Standard - 45,455 - 45,455

Substandard  - 583 - 583

Doubtful  -  - 17,859 17,859

Gross carrying amount 222,803 46,616 17,859 287,278

Loss allowance (1,249) (1,803) (7,650) (10,702)

Carrying amount 221,554 44,813 10,209 276,576

Retail

High grade 393,688 533 - 394,221

Standard  - 11,322 - 11,322

Substandard  - 3,204 - 3,204

Doubtful  -  - 7,804 7,804

Gross carrying amount 393,688 15,059 7,804 416,551

Loss allowance (827) (1,161) (2,805) (4,793)

Carrying amount 392,861 13,898 4,999 411,758

Total

High grade 616,491 1,111 - 617,602

Standard  - 56,777 - 56,777

Substandard  - 3,787 - 3,787

Doubtful  -  - 25,663 25,663

Gross carrying amount 616,491 61,675 25,663 703,829

Loss allowance (2,076) (2,964) (10,455) (15,495)

Carrying amount 614,415 58,711 15,208 688,334

2020
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 STAGE 1 

 12-MONTH ECL 

 €000 

 STAGE 2

LIFETIME ECL

€000

 STAGE 3

LIFETIME ECL

€000

Total

€000
 

Loans and advances to 
customers at amortised cost

Corporate

High grade 213,670 925 - 214,595

Standard - 31,736 - 31,736

Substandard  - 7,532 - 7,532

Doubtful  -  - 18,573 18,573

Gross carrying amount 213,670 40,193 18,573 272,436

Loss allowance (917) (1,515) (6,908) (9,340)

Carrying amount 212,753 38,678 11,665 263,096

Retail

High grade 353,498 561 - 354,059

Standard  - 7,006 - 7,006

Substandard  - 792 - 792

Doubtful  -  - 6,202 6,202

Gross carrying amount 353,498 8,359 6,202 368,059

Loss allowance (285) (617) (2,646) (3,548)

Carrying amount 353,213 7,742 3,556 364,511

Total

High grade 567,168 1,486 - 568,654

Standard  - 38,742 - 38,742

Substandard  - 8,324 - 8,324

Doubtful  -  - 24,775 24,775

Gross carrying amount 567,168 48,552 24,775 640,495

Loss allowance (1,202) (2,132) (9,554) (12,888)

Carrying amount 565,966 46,420 15,221 627,607

2019
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The following table sets out information about the credit quality of loans and advances to customers, 

guarantees, documentary credits and undrawn commitments to lend on an aggregate basis:

   STAGE 1 

 12-MONTH ECL 

 €000 

 STAGE 2

LIFETIME ECL

€000

 STAGE 3

LIFETIME ECL

€000

TOTAL

€000 

High grade 816,731 1,129 - 817,860

Standard - 62,574 - 62,574

Substandard  - 4,087 - 4,087

Doubtful  -  - 25,996 25,996

Gross amount 816,731 67,790 25,996 910,517

Loss allowance (2,215) (3,022) (10,544) (15,781)

814,516 64,768 15,452 894,736

   STAGE 1 

 12-MONTH ECL 

 €000 

 STAGE 2

LIFETIME ECL

€000

STAGE 3

LIFETIME ECL

€000

TOTAL

€000 

High grade 732,588 1,486 - 734,074

Standard - 44,395 - 44,395

Substandard  - 8,581 - 8,581

Doubtful  -  - 25,104 25,104

Gross amount 732,588 54,462 25,104 812,154

Loss allowance (1,329) (2,411) (9,628) (13,368)

731,259 52,051 15,476 798,786

2020

2019

As at 31 December 2020, there are no purchased credit-impaired assets.

The following table analyses the credit impaired loans and advances, gross of credit loss allowances, 

by industry sector:

2020 2019

€000 €000

Manufacturing 1,053 1,064

Households and individuals 9,457 7,923

Construction 1,681 1,773

Wholesale and retail 6,948 7,453

Other 6,524 6,562

25,663 24,775
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The following table provides a detailed analysis of the credit quality of the Bank’s lending portfolio at 

31 December 2020:

NON-FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE EXPOSURES TOTAL

2020 2020 2020

€000 €000 €000

Performing Stage 1

Loans which are not past due 610,188 - 610,188

Loans which are past due by less than 30 days 6,303 - 6,303

616,491 - 616,491

Underperforming Stage 2

Loans which are not past due

	-  High Grade - 1,108 1,108

	-  Standard 52,064 1,568 53,632

	- Substandard 1,929 25 1,954

53,993 2,701 56,694

Loans which are past due by less than 90 days

	- Past due by less than 30 days 2,622 45 2,667

	- Past due by less than 60 days but not more than 30 days 996 4 1,000

	- Past due by less than 90 days but not more than 60 days 1,314 - 1,314

4,932 49 4,981

58,925 2,750 61,675

Non-Performing Stage 3

Past due loans by more than 90 days and credit impaired loans 14,434 11,229 25,663

Gross loans and advances 689,850 13,979 703,829

Expected Credit Losses

12-month ECL (2,076) - (2,076)

Lifetime ECL (10,759) (2,660) (13,419)

Net loans and advances 677,015 11,319 688,334

Interest income recognised during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 in respect of forborne 

exposures amounted to €513,000 (2019: €677,000). 
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The following table provides a detailed analysis of the credit quality of the Bank’s lending portfolio at 

31 December 2019:

NON-FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE EXPOSURES TOTAL

2019 2019 2019

€000 €000 €000

Performing Stage 1

Loans which are not past due 562,125 - 562,125

Loans which are past due by less than 30 days 5,043 - 5,043

567,168 - 567,168

Underperforming Stage 2

Loans which are not past due

	-  High Grade - 1,430 1,430

	-  Standard 35,797 1,396 37,193

	- Substandard 6,968 55 7,023

42,765 2,881 45,646

Loans which are past due by less than 90 days 

	- Past due by less than 30 days 2,561 65 2,626

	- Past due by less than 60 days but not more than 30 days 269 - 269

	- Past due by less than 90 days but not more than 60 days 1 10 11

2,831 75 2,906

45,596 2,956 48,552

Non-Performing Stage 3

	- Past due loans by more than 90 days and credit impaired loans 13,054 11,721 24,775

Gross loans and advances 625,818 14,677 640,495

Expected Credit Losses

	- 12-month ECL (1,202) - (1,202)

	- Lifetime ECL (8,950) (2,736) (11,686)

Net loans and advances 615,666 11,941 627,607
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3.2.8  Modification of financial assets
The contractual terms of a loan may be revised for a number of reasons, including changes in market 

conditions, customer retention and other factors that are not related to the credit quality of a customer. 

Forbearance measures comprise concessions made on the contractual terms of a loan in response to a 

customer’s financial difficulties. The Bank categorises loans on which concessions have been granted 

under conditions of financial difficulties as ‘forborne loans’ when their contractual payment terms 

have been revised, because of significant concerns about the customer’s ability to meet contractual 

payments when due.

When considering whether there is significant concern regarding a customer’s ability to meet 

contractual loan repayments when due, the Bank assesses the customer’s delinquency status, account 

behaviour, repayment history, current financial situation and continued ability to repay. 

If the customer is not meeting contractual repayments or it is evident that the client will be unable 

to do so without the renegotiation, there will be a significant concern regarding the ability to meet 

contractual payments. Indicators of significant concerns regarding a borrower’s ability to pay include:

	• the customer is currently in default on any of its debt;

	• the customer has declared or is in the process of declaring bankruptcy or entering into a similar 

process;

	• there is significant doubt as to whether the customer will continue to be a going concern; and

	• the Bank forecasts that the customer’s entity-specific cash flows will be insufficient to service 

the debt (both interest and principal) in accordance with the contractual terms of the existing 

agreement through maturity.

A range of forbearance measures are employed by the Bank in order to improve the management of 

customer relationships, maximise collection opportunities and, if possible, avoid default or call-in of 

facilities. They include extended payment terms, a reduction in principal repayments, the deferral of 

call-in of facilities and other forms of loan modifications. The Bank’s policies and procedures in this 

area allow the Bank to provide a customer with terms and conditions that are more favourable than 

those provided initially. Loan forbearance is only granted in situations where the customer has shown 

a willingness to repay the loan and is expected to be able to meet the revised obligations. The Bank’s 

credit risk management policies set out restrictions on the number and frequency of forbearance 

measures and the minimum period an account must have been opened before any forbearance 

measure can be considered.

For the purposes of determining whether changes to a customer’s agreement should be treated as 

forbearance the following types of modification could be regarded as concessionary in cases where 

the customer is in financial difficulty:

	• reduction of the stated interest rate for the remaining original life of the debt;

	• extension of the maturity date or dates at a stated interest rate lower than the current market rate 

for new debt with similar risk;

	• reduction of the face amount or maturity amount of the debt; and

	• reduction of accrued interest.

Term extension is the most common type of modification granted by the Bank.

In assessing whether forbearance is a sustainable strategy, the customer’s entire exposures are reviewed 

and the customer’s ability to meet the terms in relation to the revised obligations and other unchanged 

credit facilities is considered. In all cases, forbearance is only granted when the customer is expected 

to be able to meet the revised terms. When considering acceptable modified terms the Bank considers 

the ability of the customer to be able to service the revised interest payments as a necessity. When 

principal payment modifications are utilised, the Bank requires the customer to be able to comply with 

the revised terms as a necessary pre-condition for the restructuring to proceed.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk. 

The risk of default of modified assets after forbearance is assessed at the reporting date and compared 

with the risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial and 

so does not result in derecognition of the original asset (Note 2.6.5).

The Bank monitors the subsequent performance of modified assets and may determine that the credit 

risk has significantly improved after restructuring. 

	• Modified assets are moved from Stage 3 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL) only if they have 

performed in accordance with the new terms for 36 consecutive months or more.

	• Modified assets are moved from Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL) only if they have 

performed in accordance with the new terms for 24 consecutive months or more.

There are no modified assets classified as Stage 1 as at 31 December 2020.

The Bank continues to monitor if there is a subsequent significant increase in credit risk in relation to 

modified assets that moved from Stage 3 (Lifetime ECL) or Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1.

In April 2020, the Central Bank of Malta issued Directive 182, ‘On Moratoria on Credit Facilities in 

Exceptional Circumstances ('Directive No. 18') in order to provide guidance on the treatment of moratoria 

in the current environment, in line with European Banking Authority3 ('EBA') Guidelines on legislative 

and non-legislative moratoria on loan repayments applied in the light of the COVID-19 crisis (the 'EBA 

Guidelines'). These are referred to as general payment moratoria.

In line with the EBA Guidelines and Directive No. 18, exposures meeting established criteria and which 

are eligible for the granting of a general payment moratorium are not classified as forborne, unless the 

borrower was already experiencing financial difficulties prior to the pandemic. Nevertheless, the Bank 

performed an assessment in respect of such exposures in order to determine whether the short-term 

shock may transform into long-term financial difficulties, thereby potentially requiring a downgrade to 

Stage 2 or Stage 3 to reflect the level of credit risk as appropriate. This assessment was performed at 

borrower level in respect of corporate exposures, whereas the assessment in respect of retail exposures 

was performed by reference to specific criteria established by management (refer to Note 3.2.3.1). 

Extensions of general payment moratoria beyond the maximum period prescribed by Directive No. 18 

are considered to be forbearance measures. In addition, the granting of moratoria which do not meet 

the conditions of a general payment moratorium are also considered to be forbearance measures.

2 Amended on 23rd April 2020, 30th June 2020 and 14th January 2021.

3 EBA Guidelines on legislative and non-legislative moratoria on loan repayments applied in the light of the COVID-19 crisis. EBA/

GL/2020/02 amended by EBA/GL/2020/08 and EBA/GL/2020/15
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The movement in the carrying amount of forborne loans and advances, before impairment allowances, 

is analysed below. Exposures eligible for a general payment moratoria are not considered to be forborne 

loans and are therefore not included in the table below.

The net modification gain or loss from financial assets with lifetime ECL whose cash flows were modified 

during the period as part of the Bank’s restructuring activities was insignificant.

Forborne loans, gross of credit loss allowances, are analysed by industry sector as follows:

FORBORNE EXPOSURES

2020 2019

€000 €000

At 1 January 14,677 17,767

Loans to which forbearance measures  
have been extended during the year 

610 313

Repayments (1,060) (1,478)

Retired from forborne (248) (1,925)

At 31 December 13,979 14,677

2020 2019

€000 €000

Manufacturing 1,068 1,089

Financial services 1,770 1,782

Households and individuals 3,351 3,052

Construction 1,606 1,646

Wholesale and retail 4,372 4,842

Other sectors 1,812 2,266

13,979 14,677

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 forborne loans comprise exposures to customers based in Malta.

In addition to the forborne loans as disclosed in the tables above, during 2020 the Bank granted 

moratoria to 384 obligors in respect of gross exposures amounting to €90.4 million which moratoria 

met the criteria for a general payment moratorium as established within Directive No. 18 and the EBA 

guidelines. 

As at 31 December 2020, outstanding gross loans and advances subject to general payment moratoria 

amounted to €33.1 million, of which €14.7 million are classified as Stage 2 and €0.1 million are classified 

as Stage 3. The total allowance for ECL in respect of loans and advances subject to general payment 

moratoria amounted to €0.4 million.

Out of the oustanding gross loans and advances subject to general payment moratoria, €13.3 million 

relate to retail customers. In order to earmark obligors experiencing a significant increase in credit risk 

and estimate the impact of delayed emergence of defaults in view of these moratoria, and accordingly 

estimate the ECL referred to above, the Bank assessed these exposures by reference to specific criteria 

established by management (refer to Note 3.2.3.1). In respect of corporate exposures amounting to 

€19.8 million, the Bank assessed and individually rated each borrower requesting a general payment 

moratorium on the basis of recently obtained management information, including forecasts.

During 2020, the Bank also confirmed its participation in the Malta Development Bank COVID-19 

Guarantee Scheme, whereby the risk of newly originated loans under the scheme to viable businesses 

experiencing liquidity pressures resulting from the effects of the pandemic are mitigated by a 

government guarantee.

In this respect, as at 31 December 2020, newly originated gross loans subject to the Malta Development 

Bank COVID-19 Guarantee Scheme amounted to €6.6 million, of which a maximum amount of €3.3 

million is considered guaranteed. As at 31 December 2020, newly originated gross loans, under this 

scheme, classified as Stage 1 and Stage 2, amounted to €5.4 million and €1.3 million respectively. As 

at 31 December 2020, there were no newly originated loans under this scheme classified in Stage 3. 

The total ECL allowance in respect of Stage 1 loans subject to the Malta Development Bank COVID-19 

Guarantee Scheme amounted to €0.1 million, while the ECL in respect of Stage 2 loans amounted to 

€0.5 million.

3.2.9 Loss allowances

Reconciliation of 12-month and lifetime ECL provision
The loss allowance recognised is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below:

	• transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant 

increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit impaired in the period, and the consequent 

“step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;

	• additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases 

for financial instruments derecognised in the period;

	• impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PD, LGD or EAD in the period, arising from 

regular refreshing of inputs to models;

	• impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;

	• discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value 

basis;
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	• foreign exchange retranslations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other 

movements; and

	• write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off during the period.

The following tables explain the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and the end of 

the annual period. The ECL charge for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was considerably 

higher than that reported in the previous year.  Although this was partly attributable to the growth in 

the loan book, the majority of this increase was a reflection of the impact that the outbreak of the 

COVID-19 pandemic had on the economy.

							     

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Balances with Central Bank 
of Malta at amortised cost

At 1 January 2020 35,930 (29) 35,930 (29)

New financial assets originated 
or purchased

16,636 (1) 16,636 (1)

Changes to risk parameters 
(model inputs: PD/LGD/EAD)

35,642 (138) 35,642 (138)

Financial assets derecognised 
during the year

- - - -

At 31 December 2020 88,208 (168) 88,208 (168)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year (139)

							     

2020

    STAGE 1     TOTAL

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Balances with Central Bank 
of Malta at amortised cost

At 1 January 2019 95,996 (23) 95,996 (23)

New financial assets originated 
or purchased

1,217 (1) 1,217 (1)

Changes to risk parameters 
(model inputs: PD/LGD/EAD)

(8,140) (7) (8,140) (7)

Financial assets derecognised 
during the year

(53,143) 2 (53,143) 2

At 31 December 2019 35,930 (29) 35,930 (29)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year

(6)

							     

2019

    STAGE 1     TOTAL
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GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial investments 
measured at FVOCI

At 1 January 2020 77,637 (235) 77,637 (235)

New financial assets originated 
or purchased

47,068 (219) 47,068 (219)

Changes to risk parameters 
(model inputs: PD/LGD/EAD)

(5,405) 43 (5,405) 43

Financial assets derecognised 
during the year

(40,783) 117 (40,783) 117

At 31 December 2020 78,517 (294) 78,517 (294)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year (59)

							     

2020

    STAGE 1     TOTAL

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial investments 
measured at FVOCI

At 1 January 2019 68,263 (147) 68,263 (147)

New financial assets originated 
or purchased

31,126 (192) 31,126 (192)

							     

2019

    STAGE 1     TOTAL

Table continued on the next page.

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to 
banks at amortised cost

At 1 January 2020 60,335 (16) 60,335 (16)

New financial assets originated 
or purchased

12,934 (4) 12,934 (4)

Changes to risk parameters 
(model inputs: PD/LGD/EAD)

(533) (2) (533) (2)

Financial assets derecognised 
during the year

(56,658) 5 (56,658) 5

At 31 December 2020 16,078 (17) 16,078 (17)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year (1)

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Changes in risk parameters 
(model inputs: PD/LGD/EAD)

2,147 (2) 2,147 (2)

Financial assets derecognised 
during the year

(23,899) 106 (23,899) 106

At 31 December 2019 77,637 (235) 77,637 (235)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year

(88)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2020

    STAGE 1     TOTAL

							     

    STAGE 1     TOTAL
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Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

CREDIT

LOSSES

€000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to 
banks at amortised cost

At 1 January 2019 57,552 (36) 57,552 (36)

New financial assets originated 
or purchased

56,659 (4) 56,659 (4)

Changes to risk parameters 
(model inputs: PD/LGD/EAD)

(15,916) 24 (15,916) 24

Financial assets derecognised 
during the year

(37,960) - (37,860) -

At 31 December 2019 60,335 (16) 60,335 (16)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year

20

							     

2019

    STAGE 1     TOTAL
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GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost

Corporate Portfolio

At 1 January 2020 213,670 (917) 40,193 (1,515) 18,573 (6,908) 272,436 (9,340)

New and further lending 79,565 (684) 5,529 (1,047) 590 (590) 85,684 (2,321)

Repayments and disposals (53,983) 329 (15,537) 892 (1,322) 322 (70,842) 1,543

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (24,699) 39 24,699 (39) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (9) - - - 9 - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 8,259 (309) (8,259) 309 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (9) 5 9 (5) - -

Net remeasurment of ECL 
arising from stage transfers and 
changes in risk parameters

- 293 - (408) - (469) - (584)

At 31 December 2020 222,803 (1,249) 46,616 (1,803) 17,859 (7,650) 287,278 (10,702)

Total net income statement 
charge for the year (1,362)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2020

          STAGE 1                STAGE 2          STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL
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GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost

Retail Portfolio

At 1 January 2020 353,498 (285) 8,359 (617) 6,202 (2,646) 368,059 (3,548)

New and further lending 83,859 (591) 720 (263) 98 (98) 84,677 (952)

Repayments and disposals (34,283) 38 (1,714) 65 (188) 295 (36,185) 397

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (9,122) 13 9,122 (13) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,625) 1 - - 1,625 (1) - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,209 (73) (1,209) 73 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (431) 20 431 (20) - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 1 152 (3) - - (152) 3 - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 212 (45) (212) 45 - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 73 - (381) - (382) - (690)

At 31 December 2020 393,688 (827) (15,059) (1,161) 7,804 (2,805) 416,551 (4,793)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (1,245)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2020

          STAGE 1              STAGE 2          STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL
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GROSS

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS  

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost

Total

At 1 January 2020 567,168 (1,202) 48,552 (2,132) 24,775 (9,554) 640,495 (12,888)

New and further lending 163,424 (1,275) 6,249 (1,310) 688 (688) 170,361 (3,102)

Repayments and disposals (88,266) 367 (17,251) 957 (1,510) 617 (107,027) 1,940

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (33,821) 52 33,821 (52) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,634) 1 - - 1,634 (1) - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 9,468 (382) (9,468) 382 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (440) 25 440 (25) - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 1 152 (3) - - (152) 3 - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 212 (45) (212) 45 - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 366 - (789) - (1,202) - (1,445)

At 31 December 2020 616,491 (2,076) (61,675) (2,964) 25,663 (10.455) 703,829 (15,495)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (2,607)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2020

          STAGE 1                 STAGE 2        STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL
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GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Total loans and advances to 
customers at amortised cost, 
guarantees, documentary credits 
and undrawn commitments to lend

At 1 January 2020 732,588 (1,329) 54,462 (2,411) 25,104 (9,628) (812,154) (13,368)

New and further lending 271,740 (1,299) 7,279 (1,326) 671 (522) 279,690 (3,147)

Repayments and disposals (159,390) 375 (20,415) 1,227 (1,522) 615 (181,327) 2,217

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (36,268) 56 36,268 (56) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,673) 1 - - 1,673 (1) - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 9,581 (383) (9,581) 383 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (467) 24 467 (24) - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 1 153 (3) - - (153) 3 - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 244 (55) (244) 55 - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 367 - (808) - (1,042) - (1,483)

At 31 December 2020 816,731 (2,215) 67,790 (3,022) 25,996 (10,544) 910,517 (15,781)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (2,413)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2020

          STAGE 1                STAGE 2       STAGE 2 STAGE 3  TOTAL
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GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost

Corporate Portfolio

At 1 January 2019 189,338 (996) 15,432 (1,248) 22,091 (6,708) 226,861 (8,952)

New and further lending 94,353 (330) 5,396 (172) 569 (146) 100,318 (648)

Repayments and disposals (47,934) 325 (2,694) 631 (4,115) 1,196 (54,743) 2,152

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (23,349) 101 23,349 (101) - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,262 (244) (1,262) 244 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (28) 8 28 (8) - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 227 - (877) - (1,242) - (1,892)

At 31 December 2019 213,670 (917) 40,193 (1,515) 18,573 (6,908) 272,436 (9,340)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (388)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2019

          STAGE 1                STAGE 2       STAGE 2 STAGE 3  TOTAL
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GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost

Retail Portfolio

At 1 January 2019 295,622 (289) 3,655 (169) 6,056 (2,039) 305,333 (2,497)

New and further lending 97,977 (125) 991 (160) 103 (101) 99,071 (386)

Repayments and disposals (34,498) 118 (1,180) 68 (667) 200 (36,345) 386

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (5,620) 10 5,620 (10) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (725) 2 - - 725 (2) - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 609 (40) (609) 40 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (133) 16 133 (16) - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 1 133 (22) - - (133) 22 - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 15 (8) (15) 8 - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 61 - (394) - (718) - (1,051)

At 31 December 2019 353,498 (285) 8,359 (617) 6,202 (2,646) 368,059 (3,548)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (1,051)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2019

          STAGE 1                STAGE 2        STAGE 2             STAGE 3  TOTAL
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GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

CARRYING 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost

Total

At 1 January 2019 484,960 (1,285) 19,087 (1,417) 28,147 (8,747) 532,194 (11,449)

New and further lending 192,330 (455) 6,387 (332) 672 (247) 199,389 (1,034)

Repayments and disposals (82,432) 443 (3,874) 699 (4,782) 1,396 (91,088) 2,538

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (28,969) 111 28,969 (111) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (725) 2 - - 725 (2) - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,871 (284) (1,871) 284 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (161) 24 161 (24) - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 1 133 (22) - - (133) 22 - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 15 (8) (15) 8 - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 288 - (1,271) - (1,960) - (2,943)

At 31 December 2019 567,168 (1,202) 48,552 (2,132) 24,775 (9,554) 640,495 (12,888)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (1,439)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2019

          STAGE 1                STAGE 2      STAGE 2 STAGE 3  TOTAL
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GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS  

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

GROSS 

AMOUNT

EXPECTED

 CREDIT 

LOSSES

 €000  €000  €000  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to customers  
at amortised cost, guarantees, 
documentary credits and undrawn 
commitments to lend

At 1 January 2019 651,442 (1,543) 21,740 (1,531) 28,681 (8,791) 701,863 (11,865)

New and further lending 283,397 (505) 7,012 (398) 697 (224) 291,106 (1,127)

Repayments and disposals (169,017) 520 (6,788) 759 (5,010) 1,414 (180,815) 2,693

 

Transfers of financial instruments

	- Stage 1 to Stage 2 (35,623) 214 35,623 (214) - - - -

	- Stage 1 to Stage 3 (766) 2 - - 766 (2) - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 1 2,973 (305) (2,973) 305 - - - -

	- Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (169) 23 169 (23) - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 1 182 (23) - - (182) 23 - -

	- Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 17 (8) (17) 8 - -

Net remeasurment of ECL arising 
from stage transfers and changes 
in risk parameters

- 311 - (1,347) - (2,033) - (3,069)

At 31 December 2019 732,588 (1,329) 54,462 (2,411) 25,104 (9,628) 812,154 (13,368)

Total net income statement charge 
for the year (1,503)

Remeasurement of loss allowance arising from foreign-exchange movements was not considered 

significant.

							     

2019

          STAGE 1                STAGE 2       STAGE 2 STAGE 3  TOTAL
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3.2.10 Write-off policy
The Bank writes off loans and advances to customers when it determines that these are uncollectible, 

usually it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable 

expectation of recovery. This is generally the case when the Bank determines that the borrower does 

not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts 

subject to the write-offs. 

The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding 

contractual amounts of such assets written-off during the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to 

€25,000 (2019: €149,000). The Bank still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have 

been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation of full recovery.

3.2.11 	 Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The amount and type of 

collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The Bank’s Board 

establishes a policy regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit 

facilities are at times unsecured.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

	• for corporate lending, charges over real estate properties, cash or securities;

	• for retail lending (including home loans and consumer credit), mortgages over residential properties, 

cash or securities; and

	• for exposures arising from reverse repurchase transactions, a pledge on liquid sovereign debt 

securities.

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the nature of 

the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured. 

Management assesses the market value of collateral as part of the loan origination process.  This 

assessment is reviewed periodically through ongoing credit file reviews. The Bank requests additional 

collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement when necessary.

The Bank's policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting 

period and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Bank 

since the prior period.

A portion of the Bank's financial assets, secured by cash, have no loss allowance being recognised in 

accordance with the Bank's expected credit loss model. The carrying amount of such financial assets 

is €11,026,000 (2019: €10,480,000).

Loans granted as part of the Malta Development Bank COVID-19 Guarantee Scheme (Note 3.2.8) are 

secured by guarantees granted as part of this Scheme and included within Other collateral in the 

tables below.

The extendible value of the collateral is the lower of the fair value of a pledged asset for lending 

purposes and the gross carrying amount of the secured loans. 
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The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it 

becomes more likely that the Bank will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. 

Financial assets that are credit-impaired and in respect of which related collateral is held in order to 

mitigate potential losses are shown below:

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Gross 
carrying 
amount

ECL 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

Extendible 
value of 

collateral held

€000 €000 €000 €000

Retail:

	- Credit Cards  3 1 2 3

	- Fixed Term Loans 1,187 198 989 1,162

	- Mortgages 5,390 1,382 4,008 5,390

Corporate:

	- Small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SMEs)

15,932 5,723 10,209 13,908

 22,512 7,304 15,208 20,463

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Gross 
carrying 
amount

ECL 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

Extendible 
value of 

collateral held

€000 €000 €000 €000

Retail:

	- Credit Cards  3 1 2 2

	- Fixed Term Loans 1,074 135 939 1,048

	- Mortgages 3,974 1,360 2,614 3,974

Corporate:

	- Small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SMEs)

16,854 5,441 11,413 15,109

	- Sole traders 300 47 253 300

22,205 6,984 15,221 20,433



159158

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Notes to Financial Statements

Financial assets that are credit-impaired and in respect of which no collateral is held are shown below:

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Gross 
carrying 
amount

ECL 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

€000 €000 €000

Retail:

	- Overdrafts  236 236  -

	- Credit Cards 356 356  -

	- Fixed Term Loans 513 513  -

	- Mortgages 119 119  -

Corporate:

	- Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) 1,919 1,919  -

	- Sole traders 8 8  -

3,151 3,151  -

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Gross 
carrying 
amount

ECL 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

€000 €000 €000

Retail:

	- Overdrafts  206 206  -

	- Credit Cards 325 325  -

	- Fixed Term Loans 520 520  -

	- Mortgages 100 100  -

Corporate:

	- Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) 1,394 1,394  -

	- Sole traders 25 25  -

2,570 2,570  -
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The following tables show the distribution of LTV ratios for the Bank’s credit-impaired loans and 

advances to customers secured by immovable property:

Gross carrying amount of credit-impaired loans  
and advances to customers as at 31 December 2020

Corporate 
exposures

Retail 
Mortgages

Retail credit 
cards

Retail consumer 
credit

€000 €000 €000 €000

Lower than 25% 2,871 19 1 96

25 to 50% 4,094 388 - 350

51 to 75% 2,071 2,143 - 475

76 to 100% 245 2,736 - 162

Higher than 100% 6,631 89 - 43

Total 15,912 5,375 1 1,126

Gross carrying amount of credit-impaired loans  
and advances to customers as at 31 December 2019

Corporate 
exposures

Retail 
Mortgages

Retail credit 
cards

Retail consumer 
credit

€000 €000 €000 €000

Lower than 25% 3,737 - - 130

25 to 50% 3,884 288 - 453

51 to 75% 4,387 924 - 243

76 to 100% 450 2,647 1 143

Higher than 100% 4,675 89 - 62

Total 17,133 3,948 1 1,031

It is the Bank's policy to dispose of properties acquired through judicial action in an orderly fashion. 

The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. Generally, the Bank does not occupy 

properties acquired through judicial action for business use.
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NON-
FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

2020 2020

€000 €000

Performing – Stage 1

Loans which are not past due 

- Total maximum exposure 610,188 -

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (10,467) -

	- Residential immovable property (468,507) -

	- Commercial immovable property (78,996) -

	- Other collateral (17,918) -

Total extendible value of collateral (575,888) -

Residual exposure 34,300 -

Loss allowance (2,018) -

Past due by less than 30 days

- Total maximum exposure 6,303 -

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (222) -

	- Residential immovable property (5,561) -

	- Commercial immovable property (127) -

	- Other collateral (4) -

Total extendible value of collateral (5,914) -

Residual exposure 389 -

Loss allowance (58) -

The following is an analysis of the extendible value of the collateral and other credit enhancements 

held by the Bank against exposures of loans and advances to customers. 

NON-
FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

2020 2020

€000 €000

Underperforming – Stage 2

Loans which are not past due 

- Total maximum exposure 53,993 2,701

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (4,499) (22)

	- Residential immovable property (22,457) (1,167)

	- Commercial immovable property (20,603) (1,193)

	- Other collateral (581) -

Total extendible value of collateral (48,140) (2,382)

Residual exposure 5,853 319

Loss allowance (2,640) (102)

Past due by less than 90 days

- Total maximum exposure 4,932 49

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (50) (5)

	- Residential immovable property (2,937) -

	- Commercial immovable property (92) -

Total extendible value of collateral (3,079) (5)

Residual exposure 1,853 44

Loss allowance (193) (29)
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NON-
FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

2020 2020

€000 €000

Non-performing – Stage 3

- Total maximum exposure 14,434 11,229

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (60) -

	- Residential immovable property (9,200) (3,937)

	- Commercial immovable property (1,138) (6,120)

Total extendible value of collateral (10,398) (10,057)

Residual exposure 4,036 1,172

Loss allowance (7,927) (2,528)

NON-
FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

2019 2019

€000 €000

Performing – Stage 1

Loans which are not past due 

Total maximum exposure 562,125 -

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (9,677) -

	- Residential immovable property (422,229) -

	- Commercial immovable property (81,096) -

	- Other collateral (15,188) -

Total extendible value of collateral (528,190) -

Residual exposure 33,935 -

Loss allowance (1,162) -

Past due by less than 30 days

- Total maximum exposure 5,043 -

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (173) -

	- Residential immovable property (2,772) -

	- Commercial immovable property (1,366) -

	- Other collateral (143) -

Total extendible value of collateral (4,454) -

Residual exposure 589 -

Loss allowance (40) -
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NON-
FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

2019 2019

€000 €000

Underperforming – Stage 2

Loans which are not past due 

- Total maximum exposure 42,765 2,881

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (4,829) (13)

	- Residential immovable property (18,703) (937)

	- Commercial immovable property (15,253) (1,585)

	- Other collateral (6) -

Total extendible value of collateral (38,791) (2,535)

Residual exposure 3,974 346

Loss allowance (2,011) (57)

Past due by less than 90 days

- Total maximum exposure 2,831 75

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (195) (29)

	- Residential immovable property (1,450) -

	- Commercial immovable property (1,016) -

Total extendible value of collateral (2,661) (29)

Residual exposure 170 46

Loss allowance (58) (6)

NON-
FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

FORBORNE 
EXPOSURES

2019 2019

€000 €000

Non-performing – Stage 3

- Total maximum exposure 13,054 11,721

Extendible value of collateral:

	- Secured by cash and quasi cash (47) -

	- Residential immovable property (8,267) (4,489)

	- Commercial immovable property (1,437) (6,192)

Total extendible value of collateral (9,751) (10,681)

Residual exposure 3,303 1,040

Loss allowance (6,881) (2,673)
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3.3   Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due 

to changes in market variables such as prices and interest rates, the correlations between them and 

their levels of volatility.

Market risk for the Bank comprises two types of risks, namely:

	• interest rate risk, which results from fluctuations in the future cash flows of financial assets and 

liabilities and fair value of financial instruments due to interest rate repricing gaps, changes in the 

yield curves and volatilities in the market interest rates; and

	• foreign exchange risk, which results from exposure to changes in prices, spot or forward, and 

volatility of currency rates.

3.3.1  Management of market risk
The primary objective of market risk management is to ensure that the risk-reward relationship 

entrenched in managing the Bank’s resources is optimised in a manner that it does not expose the Bank 

to losses over and above its risk appetite. To achieve this objective, the Bank establishes limits and 

controls positions rigorously. The Bank carries out regular assessments of how the outcome of business 

activities in terms of multiple risk metrics impacts financial results.

The Bank´s market risk appetite is defined by the Board of Directors and implemented by the Treasury 

Department, which coordinates the setup of risk limits and controls the Bank´s market exposures in 

the financial markets. The Risk function oversees adherence to limits and carries out oversight activity. 

Exposures and limits are reviewed on a regular basis by senior management in the Executive Committee 

and in the ‘ALCO’ (Asset and Liabilities Committee).

3.3.2  Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises in the Bank’s operations due to interest rate fluctuations resulting from interest-

earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which mature or are repriced at different times or 

in different amounts. Floating rate assets and liabilities are also exposed to basis risk, which is the 

difference in repricing characteristics of the various floating rate indices. Cash flow interest rate risk is 

the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. As outlined previously, the Bank’s operations are subject 

to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 

liabilities mature or reprice within different time periods or on different terms. The Bank adopts a policy 

to predominantly match the currency and maturity of transactions through treasury operations, as much 

as is practicable, to minimise the risk of adverse fluctuations in interest rates affecting financial assets 

and financial liabilities. The Bank accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating rates and 

for varying terms. This poses a risk to the Bank, which risk is managed by monitoring on a continuous 

basis the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing taking cognisance of the terms of the Bank’s 

principal assets, loans and advances to customers, that are repriceable at the Bank’s discretion. The 

Bank, through its Treasury function, also invests in highly liquid quality assets, namely listed government 

and corporate debt securities, for the purposes of mitigating exposures to fluctuations in interest rates.

The Bank is accordingly in a position to manage the interest rate terms of its financial assets and 

simultaneously to effect changes to interest terms of liabilities reflecting the Bank’s strategy together 

with market developments. In this manner, the Bank manages the interest repricing gaps highlighted 

within the tables below. The Bank’s ALCO is primarily responsible for oversight over the Bank’s interest 

rate risk management process and monitors actively the interest rate risk measures utilised by the Bank. 

Credit facilities and commitments to lend funds to customers are granted at prevailing market interest 

rates at drawdown date.
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Carrying 
amount

Effective 
interest rate

Less than 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 1 

year

Between 1 year 
and 5 years

More than 5 
years

Non-interest 
bearing

As at 31 December 2020 €000 % €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash  93,262 (0.50%) 88,040 - -  - 5,222

Financial investments measured at FVOCI 78,176 0.10% 30,103 1,150 41,743 5,180  - 

Loans and advances to banks 16,061 0.07% 16,054  - -  - 7

Loans and advances to customers 688,334 3.57% 683,215 5,119 -  -  -

Total financial assets 875,833   817,412 6,269 41,743 5,180 5,229

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institutions 13,535 (0.50%) 34  - 13,500  - 1

Amounts owed to customers 776,986 0.54% 528,318 129,421 119,195 52  -

Total financial liabilities 790,521 528,352 129,421 132,695 52 1

Interest repricing gap 289,060 (123,152) (90,952) 5,128 5,228

Cumulative gap 289,060 165,908 74,956 80,084

The following tables summarise the Bank’s exposures to interest rate risks. These analyse the Bank’s 

financial instruments, which were interest-bearing, at their carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier 

of contractual repricing or maturity dates.
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Carrying 
amount

Effective 
interest rate

Less than 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 1 

year

Between 1 year 
and 5 years

More than 5 
years

Non-interest 
bearing

As at 31 December 2019 €000 % €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash  39,718 (0.50%) 35,900 - -  - 3,818

Financial investments measured at FVOCI 77,296 0.10% 51,237 23 21,850 4,186  - 

Loans and advances to banks 60,319 0.01% 60,313  - -  - 6

Loans and advances to customers 627,607 3.77% 607,605 20,002 -  -  -

Total financial assets 804,940  755,055 20,025 21,850 4,186 3,824

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institutions 203 0% 203  - -  - -

Amounts owed to customers 722,920 0.71% 469,867 111,396 141,605 52  -

Total financial liabilities 723,123 470,070 111,396 141,605 52 -

Interest repricing gap 284,985 (91,371) (119,755) 4,134 3,824

Cumulative gap 284,985 193,614 73,859 77,993
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Interest rate profile
The table below analyses interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities between those that 

have a fixed rate and a variable rate.

2020 2019

Fixed Variable Fixed Variable

€000 €000 €000 €000

Interest-earning assets

Financial investments measured 
at FVOCI

42,520 35,656 31,247 46,049

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 16,635 71,405 - 35,900

Loans and advances to banks 12,930 3,124 56,653 3,660

Loans and advances to customers 53,241 635,093 118,959 508,648

125,326 745,278 206,859 594,257

Interest-bearing liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and 

other institutions
- 13,534 - 203

Amounts owed to customers 343,961 433,025 362,726 360,194

343,961 446,559 362,726 360,397

Fair value sensitivity for fixed rate instruments
Financial instruments issued at fixed rates potentially expose the Bank to fair value interest rate risk. 

Loans and advances to customers and to banks and amounts owed to customers and to banks are 

measured at amortised cost and are not expected to be disposed of, and are therefore not subject to 

fair value interest rate risk.

The Bank’s instruments exposing the Bank to fair value interest rate risk consist of quoted debt securities 

measured at FVOCI, as described in Note 7, since these are fair valued with fair value changes recognised 

in other comprehensive income. Considering the nature and carrying amount of the investments, in 

the context of the Bank’s Statement of Financial Position, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how debt 

securities would have been affected by changes in interest rates that were reasonably possible at the 

end of the reporting period is not deemed necessary. 

Cash flow sensitivity for variable rate instruments
The Bank is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk principally in respect of the financial assets and 

liabilities which are subject to floating interest rates.  

Taking cognisance of the nature of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as described above, under 

the requirements of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis in respect of interest rate changes is required in relation 

to the Bank’s net floating rate assets.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had increased by 200 basis points (assuming a 

parallel shift of 200 basis points in yields) with all other variables held constant, in particular foreign 

currency rates, the post-tax result for the year would increase by €5,118,000 (2019: €4,865,000). Likewise, 

if interest rates had decreased by 200 basis points (assuming a parallel shift of 200 basis points in 

yields) with all other variables held constant, in particular foreign currency rates, the post-tax result for 

the year would decrease by €5,118,000 (2019: €4,865,000).

3.3.3  Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of the exposure of the Bank’s financial position and cash flow to adverse 

movements in foreign exchange rates.

The Bank manages currency risk by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities are utilised to fund assets 

denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and liability positions as much as is 

practicable. This mechanism is reflected in the figures reported in the tables below.

The Bank has in place limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total, which are monitored daily, 

and hedging strategies are used to ensure that positions are maintained within established limits.

The Bank also enters into forward exchange contracts with customers in the normal course of its 

business. It is the Bank’s policy to cover the exposure arising from such forward contracts.
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The table below summarises the Bank’s exposures to foreign currency risk at 31 December. Included in 

the tables are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

TOTAL EUR GBP USD OTHER

As at 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 
and cash

93,262 76,409 16,757 19 77

Financial investments designated at 
FVOCI

78,517 64,554 10,522 3,441 -

Loans and advances to banks 16,061 7 9,263 6,088 703

Loans and advances to customers 688,334 687,675 - 659 -

Other assets 7,967 7,502 98 367 -

Total financial assets 884,141 836,147 36,640 10,574 780

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and 

other institutions
13,535 13,535 - - -

Amounts owed to customers 776,986 729,218 36,453 10,707 608

Other liabilities 17,352 17,139 93 120 0

Total financial liabilities 807,873 759,892 36,546 10,827 608

Net currency position 94 (253) 172

TOTAL EUR GBP USD OTHER

As at 31 December 2019 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 
and cash

39,718 39,516 47 66 89

Financial investments designated at 
FVOCI

77,637 67,719 5,188 4,730 -

Loans and advances to banks 60,319 20,366 34,316 4,888 749

Loans and advances to customers 627,607 626,719 - 888 -

Other assets 7,738 7,398 22 318 -

Total financial assets 813,019 761,718 39,573 10,890 838

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and  

other institutions
203 200 - 3 -

Amounts owed to customers 722,920 672,110 39,310 10,887 613

Other liabilities 16,692 16,452 100 140 -

Total financial liabilities 739,815 688,762 39,410 11,030 613

Net currency position 163 (140) 225
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In view of the levels of net currency positions reflected in the tables above, a sensitivity analysis for 

foreign exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes 

in foreign exchange rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting periods would not 

reflect significant impacts (after hedging transactions).

In fact, under the scenario that the euro appreciates by 20% against all currencies, the effect would 

be a gain of €3,000 (2019: gain of €50,000) in the carrying amount of financial instruments with the 

favourable impact recognised in profit or loss. Should the euro depreciate against all currencies by 

20%, the effect would be a loss of €3,000 (2019: loss of €50,000) in the carrying amount of financial 

instruments and the adverse impact would be recognised in profit or loss.

3.4  Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of losses due to:

	• the Bank’s funding costs increasing disproportionately;

	• lack of funding preventing the Bank from establishing new business; and

	• lack of funding which will ultimately prevent the Bank from meeting its obligations.

Liquidity risk may result from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result 

of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other 

cash outflows, as well as the inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value. The 

Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current and call 

deposits, maturing term deposits, loan drawdowns and guarantees. 

Such risk is inherent in all banking operations, which is generally affected by a range of institution-

specific and market-wide events including, but not limited to, credit events, systemic shocks and 

natural disasters.

The objective of the Bank’s liquidity and funding management is to ensure that all foreseeable funding 

commitments and deposit withdrawals can be met when due. It is the Bank’s objective to maintain a 

diversified and stable funding base with the objective of enabling the Bank to respond quickly and 

smoothly to unforeseen liquidity requirements.

The Bank manages this risk by ensuring that its assets and liabilities are matched in terms of maturities 

as much as is practicable. However, the Bank manages its net interest spread by advancing credit to 

customers with longer terms to maturity than the liabilities funding such loans. To mitigate exposures 

arising in this respect, the Bank holds significant liquid assets in the form of listed debt securities, 

money market placements and other short-term instruments for managing liquidity risk to support 

payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment.

The Bank’s advances-to-deposit ratio of 88.59% (2019: 86.8%) at the end of the period under review 

reflects the Bank’s prudent position in the context of liquidity management. 

i.	 Liquidity Coverage Ratio

The LCR metric is designed to promote the short-term resilience of a bank’s liquidity profile, and became 

a minimum regulatory standard from 1 October 2015, under European Commission (‘EC’) Delegated 

Regulation 2015/61. It aims to ensure that a bank has sufficient unencumbered high-quality liquid 

assets (‘HQLA’) to meet its liquidity needs in a 30-calendar-day liquidity stress scenario. HQLA consist 

of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value in markets.

The LCR ratio as at 31 December 2020 was 231.07% (2019: 253.63%).

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 the LCR ratio was within both the regulatory 

minimum and the risk appetite set by the Bank.

ii.	 Net stable funding ratio

The NSFR requires institutions to maintain sufficient stable funding relative to required stable funding, 

and reflects a bank’s long-term funding profile (funding with a term of more than a year). It is designed 

to complement the LCR.

Although the EU adopted this obligation with the approval of CRR II in June, it will not enter into force 

until 2021. As a result, the Bank calculates NSFR in line with Basel Committee on Banking Supervision 

publication 295.

The NSFR ratio as at 31 December 2020 was 135.69% (2019: 140.10%).

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 the NSFR was within both the regulatory minimum 

and the risk appetite set by the Bank.

The Bank’s ALCO focuses on the Bank’s management process with respect to market and funding 

liquidity risks and adherence to limits. Key Liquidity Risk indicators are also included in the Bank’s Risk 

Appetite.

Accordingly, the Bank’s liquidity management process is summarised below:

	• management of day-to-day funding, by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements 

can be met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The 

starting point for projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and 

the expected collection date of the financial assets;

	• maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection 

against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow;

	• monitoring the liquidity ratios of the Bank against internal and regulatory requirements; and

	• managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

 

The Bank also monitors the level and type of undrawn lending commitments and the impact of contingent 

liabilities such as guarantees as part of the liquidity management process previously referred to.
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AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 TOTAL
WITHIN  

3 MONTHS
BETWEEN 3 MONTHS 

AND 1 YEAR
OVER 1 BUT LESS 

THAN 5 YEARS
OVER  

5 YEARS
NO MATURITY 

DATE

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash 93,262 87,519 - - - 5,743

Financial investments designated at FVOCI 78,517 - 1,149 67,434 9,593 341

Loans and advances to banks 16,061 16,061 - - - -

Loans and advances to customers 688,334 43,498 17,345 89,769 537,722 -

Other assets 7,967 2,928 - - - 5,039

Total financial assets 884,141 150,006 18,494 157,203 547,315 11,123

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institiutions 13,535 35 - 13,500 - -

Amounts owed to customers 776,986 533,422 124,494 119,018 52 -

Other liabilities 17,352 5,321 - - - 12,031

Total financial liabilities 807,873 538,778 124,494 132,518 52 12,031

Maturity gap (388,772) (106,000) 24,685 547,263

Cumulative gap (388,772) (494,772) (470,087) 77,176

The following table discloses financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period by 

remaining period to maturity:
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Amounts owed to customers of €433,025,000 (2019: €360,194,000) as at 31 December 2020 are repayable 

on demand and included in the “within 3 months” bucket in the tables. However, the Bank’s experience 

is that a significant portion of such deposits remains stable. Additionally, a significant part of other 

deposits maturing within 3 months from the end of the reporting period is typically renewed.

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 TOTAL
WITHIN  

3 MONTHS
BETWEEN 3 MONTHS 

AND 1 YEAR
OVER 1 BUT LESS 

THAN 5 YEARS
OVER  

5 YEARS
NO MATURITY 

DATE

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash 39,718 34,351 - - - 5,367

Financial investments measured at FVOCI 77,637 - 11,238 56,717 9,341 341

Loans and advances to banks 60,319 60,319 - - - -

Loans and advances to customers 627,607 41,942 15,129 93,598 476,938 -

Other assets 7,738 2,338 - - - 5,400

Total financial assets 813,019 138,950 26,367 150,315 486,279 11,108

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institiutions 203 203 - - - -

Amounts owed to customers 722,920 470,998 110,265 141,605 52 -

Other liabilities 16,692 4,575 - - - 12,117

Total financial liabilities 739,815 475,776 110,265 141,605 52 12,117

Maturity gap (336,826) (83,898) 8,710 486,227

Cumulative gap (336,826) (420,724) (412,014) 74,213

An amount of €3,850,000 (2019: €3,651,000) comprising financial investments measured at FVOCI have 

been pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme. 
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The tables below analyse the Bank’s principal non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 

groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity 

date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 TOTAL
WITHIN  

3 MONTHS
BETWEEN 3 MONTHS 

AND 1 YEAR
OVER 1 BUT LESS THAN  

5 YEARS
OVER  

5 YEARS

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institutions 13,535 35 - 13,500 -

Amounts owed to customers 784,504 533,929 125,854 124,655 66

Lease liabilities 2,438 95 321 1,860 162

Total financial liabilities 800,477 534,059 126,175 140,015 228

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Financial liabilities

Amounts owed to banks and other institiutions 203 203 - - -

Amounts owed to customers 731,626 471,722 111,640 148,195 69

Lease liabilities 2,838 93 311 1,950 484

Total financial liabilities 734,667 472,018 111,951 150,145 553
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Through the ILAAP the robustness of the Bank’s liquidity and funding was assessed using various tools 

and metrics, including a risk assessment and a stress testing exercise. The ILAAP report concluded that 

the Bank’s liquidity and funding profile is sound, and liquidity controls are sufficiently robust. The ILAAP 

report was duly submitted to the Regulator.

3.5  Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 

system failure, human error, fraud or from external events (including legal risk). When controls fail to 

perform or underperform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory 

implications, and/or lead to financial loss. The Bank cannot realistically expect to eliminate all 

operational risks, but through its control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential 

risks, such risks can be prudently managed and mitigated. Controls include effective segregation of 

duties, restricted access, authorisation, reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment 

processes, including the judicious disposal of internal audit findings.

The Bank maintains an Operational Risk Management Framework (ORMF) and each department is 

directly involved in the management of operational risk. Operational risk managers are appointed to 

cover all areas throughout the Bank. 

This ensures better coverage and collation of operational risk events closer to the point of incidence. 

The Risk Function is responsible for the coordination of all operational risk activities within the Bank as 

well as their control and oversight. Every effort is made to ensure that operational risks are curtailed, 

minimised and/or mitigated to inhibit, or at least to significantly reduce, the incidence of operational 

risks materialising into operational losses. The Framework covers:

i. Risk Appetite and Limits 

This refers to the Bank’s attitude towards risk taking and level of exposure which it is willing and 

able to tolerate.

ii. Risk identification 

Relevant operational risks are identified through different tools and methods. Operational risks 

events identified are recorded in an Operational Risk Database.

iii. Operational risk and control assessment 

The Operational Risk and Control Assessment process is carried out annually across all the Bank’s 

functions. It identifies and assesses the operational risks (including compliance risks) within the 

Bank, and the effectiveness of the controls in place to mitigate those risks. Proposals are made 

for implementation of appropriate remediation action.

iv. Operational risk measurement

The inherent level of risk is assessed by considering the risk drivers, probability of occurrence 

and potential impact. The availability and effectiveness of mitigating controls is also assessed in 

order to derive the level of residual risk.

v. Reporting 

This involves the regular disclosure of reported events and losses and results of operational risk 

assessments carried out.

The Bank applies the Basic Indicator Approach (‘BIA’) as defined in the CRR in order to quantify the 

regulatory capital charge. Accordingly, the Bank allocates 15% of the average of gross income over the 

previous three years as regulatory capital in respect of operational risk. The capital requirement for 

operational risk under this method was calculated at €2,824,000 (2019: €2,274,000).

During 2020, the actual level of operational risk materialisation recorded on the Bank’s database was 

again compared to the regulatory capital quantification under the above-mentioned Basic Indicator 

Approach, which resulted in a low level of operational risk, confirming that the Basic Indicator Approach 

(Pillar 1) is a useful benchmark to compare actual versus theoretical level of operational risk event 

materialization. Such comparison was further reinforced by means of the Operational Risk and Control 

Self-Assessment (RCSA). The RCSA analysed key risks across the institution and assessed the prevailing 

risk level, as well as the efficacy and performance of control measures in place. Thus, it was possible to 

differentiate between inherent and residual risk levels. The final residual risk level was used to allocate 

Pillar 2 add-ons for sub-categories of operational risk.

A major plank in the Bank’s efforts to properly manage and control operational risk remains the Business 

Continuity Plan (BCP) which is formalised and in place and covers the whole organisation.  The BCP is 

revised regularly.

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic situation was constantly monitored and when COVID-19 cases started 

to rise, the pandemic business contingency plan was triggered. Where possible, employees were 

asked to work remotely, and the remaining staff were working on a rotation basis and dispersed to 

allow sufficient social distance. Contingency sites and equipment were tested regularly. The Executive 

Committee maintained regular meetings to analyse the situation and provide direction accordingly. No 

major disruption to the business was experienced.

3.6  Capital risk management
It is the Bank’s policy to actively manage its capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and 

at the same time to support the development of the business, to maximise shareholders’ value and 

to meet all the regulatory requirements. Capital management policy is monitored by the Executive 

Committee and the ALCO.

Accordingly, the purpose of the Bank’s capital management is essentially to ensure an efficient use of 

capital, taking cognisance of the Bank’s risk appetite and profile as well as its objectives for business 

development. The Bank is a licensed credit institution and must therefore comply with the capital 

requirements under the relevant laws and regulations. During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 

2019, the Bank complied with the imposed regulatory capital requirements.

Further detail on capital risk management and capital adequacy requirements is set out in the 

‘Additional Regulatory Disclosures’ section of this Annual Report.
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3.7  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The Bank’s financial instruments as at 31 December which are carried at fair value include the 

Bank’s financial investments measured at FVOCI (Note  7). The Bank is required to disclose fair value 

measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments that 

are measured in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value:

	• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1).

	• Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset either 

directly i.e. as prices, or indirectly i.e. derived from prices (Level 2).

	• Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data i.e. unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The IFRS 13 hierarchy of valuation techniques is based on whether the inputs to those valuation 

techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from 

independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

As at 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets

Financial investments measured at FVOCI

	- Government debt, fixed income instruments 33,330 - - 33,330

	- Corporate debt, fixed income instruments 44,846 - - 44,846

	- Equities - - 341 341

Total financial assets 78,176 - 341 78,517

As at 31 December 2019

Financial assets

Financial investments measured at FVOCI

	- Government debt, fixed income instruments 30,829 - - 30,829

	- Corporate debt, fixed income instruments 46,467 - - 46,467

	- Equities - - 341 341

Total financial assets 77,296 - 341 77,637

The following tables reflect an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the 

fair value hierarchy:
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Financial instruments in Level 1
The fair value of instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of 

the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 

from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 

market price used for financial instruments held by the Bank is the current bid price at 31 December of 

the respective year.

Instruments included in Level 1 financial investments consist of held to collect and sell debt securities, 

composed of government debt issued by the Government of Malta, which is listed on the Malta Stock 

Exchange, other foreign sovereign listed debt, and other listed debt instruments issued by local and 

foreign corporates.

Financial instruments in Level 2
Fair values for the Bank’s derivative contracts are generally determined utilising valuation techniques, 

involving primarily the use of discounted cash flow techniques. The fair values referred to are 

determined by reference to market prices or rates (forward foreign exchange rates) quoted at the end 

of the reporting period. The valuation techniques used are supported by observable market prices or 

rates since their variables include only data from observable markets. The Bank’s derivative financial 

instruments are accordingly typically categorised as Level 2 instruments.

Financial instruments in Level 3
This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based on 

observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. 

This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for 

which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between 

the instruments.

Instruments included in Level 3 are immaterial in the context of the Bank’s Statement of Financial 

Position.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Loans and advances to banks and customers and amounts owed to banks, other institutions and 

customers are carried at amortised cost in the Statement of Financial Position. The Board considers 

the carrying amounts of loans and advances to banks and customers to be a reasonable estimate of 

their fair value principally in view of the relatively short periods to repricing or maturity from the end 

of the reporting periods. The fair values of fixed interest deposits and amounts owed to banks and 

other institutions are not deemed to be significantly different from their carrying amounts, based on 

discounted cash flows at current market interest rates, particularly due to the relatively short periods 

to maturity.

4.1  Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting 
policies 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and 

other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. These estimates and assumptions present a 

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year. The Bank’s management also makes judgements, apart from those involving estimations, 

in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies that may have a significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the financial statements.

4.2  Measurement of the expected credit losses
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised 

cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about 

future economic conditions and credit behaviour. Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation 

techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 3.2.3. 

A number of significant judgements are required in measurement of expected credit loss, such as:

	• determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

	• choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; and

	• establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios and associated ECL.

The level of uncertainly in the estimation of the Bank’s expected credit loss allowances has increased 

since 31 December 2019 as a result of the economic effects of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

4.3  Assessment of estimates and judgements
In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of 

preparing these financial statements, which have been highlighted above, are not difficult, subjective 

or complex to a degree, which would warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements 

of IAS 1.

However, the directors would like to draw attention to these accounting judgements that have a 

significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year. In this respect, these primarily comprise assumptions and estimates 

relating to the calculation of impairment allowances in respect of loans and advances to customers 

(see Note 3.2.3).

The COVID-19 pandemic and the economic distress it created has elevated the level of estimation 

uncertainty and judgement, especially in light of the inability to track observable historical trends 

which can be reflected in ECL modelling which could accurately represent the financial implications 

brought about by the pandemic. Hence, the level of subjectivity underlying the ECL model parameters, 

including how these react to forward-looking economic conditions remains high.

4. 	 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
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The exercise of judgement in making estimations requires the use of assumptions that are highly 

subjective and very sensitive to the risk factors detailed in Note 3.2.3. 

A key judgement in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic is whether the heightened level of 

macroeconomic uncertainty and its effects are more likely to be temporary or prolonged. The shape 

of recovery is also a significant uncertainty. This in turn increases significantly the level of subjectivity 

around the estimation of credit loss allowances in respect of loans and advances to customers. 

In this regard, management applied a higher level of expert judgement in order to assess the impact of 

the pandemic on the Bank’s level of defaults, including evaluating the impact of government support 

schemes and regulatory relief measures on both the incidence of default events and the severity of 

losses as described below. 

The identification of customers experiencing significant increase in credit risk or credit impairment in 

the context of the elevated level of uncertainty is highly judgemental due to limitations in available 

credit information on customers. This is particularly relevant in those instances where customers have 

accepted payment deferrals and other relief designed to address short-term liquidity issues or have 

extended those deferrals. In response to such limitations, management used segmentation techniques 

for the purposes of identifying indicators of significant increase in credit risk within both corporate and 

retail portfolios.

In relation to retail portfolios, ECL models are generally reliant on the assumption that default 

emergence is directly impacted by delinquency related indicators since less information is available 

at asset level to enable the timely identification of SICR or UTP events. In this respect, a set of criteria 

which considered the current level of income of the borrower, the economic sector in which the same 

borrower is employed and the LTV of the exposure were established to determine if borrowers which 

were granted a general payment moratorium (Note 3.2.8) exhibited signs of SICR. With respect to 

borrowers who have not requested a moratorium, the Bank continued to apply rigorously its credit 

assessment and oversight processes, which include monitoring of arrears and exposure LTV.

Judgement was also required in determining whether corporate loans experienced a SICR or a UTP event. 

In this respect, as part of management’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank assessed all 

borrowers which were granted a general payment moratorium (Note 3.2.8) within the corporate portfolio. 

As part of these credit assessments, judgement is exercised in evaluating all relevant information on 

indicators of impairment, particularly where factors indicate deterioration in the financial condition 

and outlook of borrowers affecting their ability to pay. The Bank also considered potential heightened 

credit risk factors emanating from exposures not subject to a general payment moratorium in the 

process of its ongoing credit review process and through focused economic concentration exposure.

For individually significant credit-impaired loans, management determines the size of the allowance 

required based on a range of factors such as the realisable value of security, the viability of the 

customer’s business model and the capacity to generate cash flow to service debt obligations, 

under different scenarios. Judgement is applied in estimating the expected future cash flows from 

each borrower and the time to recover these cash flows under the different scenarios as well as to 

attach probabilities to those scenarios. The assumptions around forecasted recoveries from the sale 

of collateralised properties, including around valuation haircuts and time to recovery, are key drivers in 

the estimation of credit loss allowances in respect of individually assessed loans. The heightened level 

of uncertainty within the local property market, driven by the pandemic, increases the level of expert 

judgement required to predict with reasonable accuracy the recoverability of exposures through the 

sale of collateral, since the real impact of the pandemic will not be fully known until market conditions 

stabilise. To reflect the volatile economic conditions associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, 

judgemental overlay adjustments were applied by management in order to overcome limitations 

in respect of determining collateral valuations, and the uncertainty around the time to repossess 

properties held as collateral and to resell such properties in the open market.

Significant judgement is required in establishing the number, severity and relative weightings of 

forward-looking economic scenarios. The level of expert judgement required is compounded by the 

heightened level of uncertainty around predictions in respect of the potential impact of the pandemic, 

including the effectiveness of government support schemes and regulatory relief measures, on key 

macroeconomic variables and, as a result on forward-looking PDs and LGDs. As already explained, there 

is an absence of an observable historical trend that can accurately represent the severity and speed 

of the economic impacts brought about by the pandemic. Moreover, the complexities of government 

support schemes, regulatory guidance on the treatment of customer impacts (such as forbearance) 

and the unpredictable pathways of the pandemic have never been modelled. Consequently, in some 

cases, the Bank’s IFRS 9 models generate outputs that appear overly sensitive when compared with 

other credit risk metrics and as a result, modelled assumptions and linkages between economic factors 

and credit losses may underestimate or overestimate ECL in these conditions. 

These model limitations have been addressed through the enhancements described in Note 3.2.3.4 and 

recalibration of probability weights as described in further detail in the said Note. In view of the above, 

management considered the sensitivity of the ECL outcome to the macro-economic forecasts by 

recalculating the ECL under the different scenarios, applying a 100% weighting to each scenario. The 

effect of economic uncertainty on the ECL outcome is disclosed in the sensitivity analysis presented in 

Note 3.2.3.4 within the section entitled ‘Economic scenarios sensitivity analysis of ECL estimates. The 

ECL calculated for the upside and downside scenarios should not be taken to represent the upper and 

lower limits of possible ECL outcomes as there is a high degree of estimation uncertainty in the numbers 

representing tail risk scenarios when assigned a 100% weighting.

The segment reporting of the Bank is made in terms of the business segments which it conducts its 

business in, as the risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products 

and services produced. The Bank is currently organised into three main business segments:

i.	 Retail banking - Principally handling customers’ deposits, providing consumer loans, 

overdrafts and funds transfer facilities.

ii.	 Corporate banking - Principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit	

and current accounts for corporate and institutional customers.

iii.	 Other	- Principally treasury and other central functions.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 

based on operating profit or loss. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated 

to operating segments.

Interest income is reported net as management primarily relies on net interest revenue as a performance 

measure, not the gross income or expense.

No reconciliation is required since there are no differences between the measurements of the reportable 

segments’ profits or losses, assets and liabilities and the entity’s profit or loss, assets and liabilities.

5.  SEGMENTAL REPORTING
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The following tables present income, profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the 

Bank’s business segments for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Retail 

banking

Corporate 

banking
Other Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

Net interest income 9,680 10.543 318 20,541

Net fees and commission income 1,274 1,248 101 2,623

Net trading income 1,058 1,058

Net operating income 10,954 11,791 1,477 24,222

Employee compensation and benefits (4,491) (3,658) (336) (8,485)

Other administrative expenses (3,133) (2,851) (337) (6,321)

Depreciation of property and equipment, 

depreciation of right-of-use assets and 

amortisation of intangible assets

(842) (401) (47) (1,290)

Credit impairment losses (1,575) (1,040) (200) (2,815)

Profit before tax 5,311

Income tax expense (836)

Profit for the year 4,475

Assets

Segment assets 414,729 280,114 191,490 886,333

Unallocated assets 14,878

Total assets 901,211

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 500,386 276,885 13,535 790,806

Unallocated liabilities 17,456

Total liabilities 808,262

2020

Retail 

banking

Corporate 

banking
Other Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

Net operating income 

Net interest income 7,985 9,905 558 18,448

Net fees and commission income 586 1,850 43 2,479

Net Trading income 1,808 1,808

Total income 8,571 11,755 2,409 22,735

Employee compensation and benefits (4,409) (2,866) (579) (7,854)

Other administrative expenses (2,754) (3,202) (653) (6,609)

Depreciation of property and equipment, 

depreciation of right-of-use assets and 

amortisation of intangible assets

(571) (475) (96) (1,142)

Credit impairment losses (1,247) (427) (75) (1,749)

Profit before tax 5,381

Income tax expense (2,039)

Profit for the year 3,342

Assets

Segment assets 336,391 268,051 183,443 817,885

Unallocated assets 13,695

Total assets 831,580

2019

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 491,052 232,348 203 723,603

Unallocated liabilities 18,591

Total liabilities 742,194
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The average balance of the reserve deposit required at year end in terms of Article 32 of the Central 

Bank of Malta Act, Cap. 204 of the Laws of Malta held with the Central Bank of Malta was €5,743,000 

(2019: €5,367,000).

6.  BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF MALT AND CASH

2020 2019

€000 €000

Current

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 88,208 35,930

Cash 5,222 3,817

Gross carrying amount 93,430 39,747

Less credit impairment losses (168) (29)

Net carrying amount 93,262 39,718

Financial investments measured at FVOCI include the following:

2020 2019

€000 €000

Equities 341 341

Debt Instruments

Government debt securities

- Local and listed on the Malta Stock Exchange 26,339 20,943

- Foreign and listed on other exchanges 6,991 9,886

Other debt securities

- Local and listed on the Malta Stock Exchange 1,479 -

- Foreign and listed on other exchanges 43,367 46,467

At 31 December 78,517 77,637

2020 2019

€000 €000

Non-Current

Debt and other fixed income instruments 78,176 77,296

7.  FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

The movement in the carrying amount of financial investments is summarised as follows:

2020 2019

€000 €000

At 1 January 77,637 68,263

Acquisitions 51,883 59,988

Redemptions/maturities (5,211) (2,804)

Disposals (45,158) (48,238)

Amortisation (593) (1,304)

Fair value movements (41) 1,732

At 31 December 78,517 77,637

As at 31 December 2020, the impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected 

loss model was €294,000 (2019: €235,000).

Government debt securities with a carrying amount of €3,850,000 (2019: €3,651,000) have been pledged 

in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme.

2020 2019

€000 €000

Non-Current

Debt and other fixed income instruments 78,176 77,296
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2020 2019

€000 €000

Current

Repayable on call and at short notice 3,144 22,446

Term placements 12,934 37,889

16,708 60,335

Less credit impairment losses (17) (16)

Net loans and advances to banks 16,061 60,319

2020 2019

€000 €000

Repayable on call and at short notice 49,642 51,801

Term loans and advances 654,187 588,694

Gross loans and advances to customers 703,829 640,495

Less expected credit loss allowances (15,495) (12,888)

Net loans and advances to customers 688,334 627,607

Impairment allowances

Stage 1 2,076 1,202

Stage 2 2,964 2,132

Stage 3 10,455 9,554

15,495 12,888

Current 113,172 97,818

Non-Current 590,657 542,677

Gross loans and advances to customers 703,829 640,495

8.  LOANDS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

9.  LOANS AND CUSTOMER ADVANCES

At 31 December 2020, an amount of €60,000 (2019: €6,000) had been contracted but not provided for in 

the financial statements (Note 23). Property and equipment includes assets amounting to €17,000 (2019: 

€244,000) which were still not put to use at year end.

Land and 

buildings

Computer 

equipment

Other 

equipment
Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

At 1 January 2019

Cost 7,760 2,142 1,577 11,479

Accumulated depreciation (2,408) (1,519) (1,557) (5,484)

Net book amount 5,352 623 20 5,995

Year ended 31 December 2019

At 1 January 2019 5,352 623 20 5,995

Acquisitions 13 175 317 505

Depreciation charge for the year (201) (168) (87) (456)

At 31 December 2019 5,164 630 250 6,044

At 31 December 2019

Cost 7,774 2,317 1,893 11,984

Accumulated depreciation (2,609) (1,687) (1,644) (5,940)

Net book amount 5,165 630 249 6,044

Year ended 31 December 2020

At 1 January 2020 5,165 630 249 6,044

Acquisitions 88 124 192 404

Disposals - - (25) (25)

Depcreciation charge for the year (202) (213) (111) (526)

At 31 December 2020 5,051 541 305 5,897

At 31 December 2020

Cost 7,862 2,441 2,060 12,363

Accumulated depreciation (2,811) (1,900) (1,755) (6,466)

Net book amount 5,051 541 305 5,897

10.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
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At 31 December 2020, an amount of €135,000 (2019: €93,000) had been contracted but not provided for 

in the financial statements (Note 23). Intangible assets include computer software amounting to €17,000 

(2019: €58,000) which was still not put to use at year end. 

Computer 

software

Other 

intangibles
Total

€000 €000 €000

At 1 January 2019

Cost 3,540 146 3,686

Accumulated depreciation (2,642) - (2,642)

Net book amount 898 146 1,044

Year ended 31 December 2019

At 1 January 2019 898 146 1,044

Acquisitions 300 - 300

Amortisation for the year (321) - (321)

At 31 December 2019 877 146 1,023

At 31 December 2019

Cost 3,841 146 3,987

Accumulated amortisation (2,964) - (2,964)

Net book amount 877 146 1,023

Year ended 31 December 2020

At 1 January 2020 877 146 1,023

Acquisitions 250 - 250

Amortisation for the year (365) - (365)

At 31 December 2020 762 146 908

At 31 December 2020

Cost 4,091 146 4,237

Accumulated amortisation (3,329) - (3,329)

Net book amount 762 146 908

11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Bank leases its Head Office, three branches and motor vehicles as well as low value items such as 

photocopiers and note counting machines. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods but 

may have extension options. The lease term reflects the exercise of such options. 

Photocopiers and note counting machines, in view of the underlying low value lease arrangement are 

not deemed to be in scope of IFRS 16.

Premises Motor vehicles Total

€000 €000 €000

Right-of-use assets

Opening balance on 1 January 2020 2,242 384 2,626

Additions - 25 25

Lease contracts discontinued during  

the year
- (36) (36)

Depreciation for the year (315) (84) (399)

At 31 December 2020 1,927 289 2,216

Right-of-use assets

Impact of application of IFRS 16 on  

1 January 2019
2,557 174 2,731

Additions - 309 309

Lease contracts discontinued during  

the year
- (49) (49)

Depreciation for the year (315) (50) (365)

At 31 December 2019 2,242 384 2,626

2020 2019

€000 €000

Lease liabilities

Current 372 358

Non-Current 1,928 2,292

2,300 2,650

The key movements in lease liabilities comprise payments and interest expense.

12.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
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2020 2019

€000 €000

The income statement reflects the 
following amounts relating to

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 399 365

Interest expense on lease liabilities 46 50

Expenses relating to short-term leases 155 231

Expenses relating to leases of low-value-assets 21 16

The total cash payments for leases, including short-term and low-value leases, in 2020 was €621,000 

(2019: €673,000). The contractual undiscounted cash flows attributable to lease liabilities as at 31 

December 2020 and 2019 are analysed in Note 3.4. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets 

2020 

Liabilities 

2020

Net 

2020

Assets 

2019

Liabilities 

2019

Net 

2019

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Differences between  

depreciation and  

capital allowances

- (302) (302) - (386) (386)

Impairment allowances 6,657 - 6,657 5,594 - 5,594

Fair value movements  

on securities and  

other investments

- (247) (247) - (250) (250)

6,657 (549) 6,108 5,594 (636) 4,958

At 1 

January 

2020

Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised in other 

comprehensive 

income

At 31 December 

2020

€000 €000 €000 €000

Differences between  

depreciation and  

capital allowances

(386) 84 - (302)

Impairment allowances 5,594 1,073 (21) 6,646

Fair value movements  

on securities and  

other investments

(250) - 14 (236)

4,958 1,157 (7) 6,108

Movement in temporary differences during the year 2020 related to:

13.  DEFERRED TAX

At 1 

January 

2019

Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised in other 

comprehensive 

income

At 31 December 

2019

€000 €000 €000 €000

Differences between  

depreciation and  

capital allowances

(285) (101) - (386)

Impairment allowances 4,986 639 (31) 5,594

Fair value movements  

on securities and  

other investments

345 - (595) (250)

5,046 538 (626) 4,958

Movement in temporary differences during the year 2019 related to:

The recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled principally 

after more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The deferred tax assets/liabilities 

reflected in other comprehensive income relate to the fair valuation of financial investments measured 

at FVOCI.

2020 2019

€000 €000

Current

Prepayments 773 757

Accrued income 2,155 1,581

2,928 2,338

2020 2019

€000 €000

Current 5,039 5,400

Non-current 803 1,000

Other assets 5,842 6,400

14.  PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME

15.  OTHER ASSETS
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No. of shares € No. of shares €

Authorised

Ordinary shares of €0.7552 

each
132,415,254 100,000,000 132,415,254 100,000,000

Issued and fully paid up

Ordinary shares of €0.7552 

each’
98,707,626 74,544,000 98,707,626 74,544,000

2020 2019

During 2019, the Bank, by virtue of a resolution dated 7 December 2018, increased its authorised share 

capital by €30,000,000 divided into 39,724,576 ordinary shares of a nominal value of €0.7552 each 

from €70,000,000 (divided into 92,690,678 shares of a nominal value of €0.7552 each) to €100,000,000 

(divided into 132,415,254 shares of a nominal value of €0.7552 each) effectively on 29 March 2019.

During 2019, the Bank, by virtue of a resolution dated 7 December 2018, increased further its issued 

share capital by €7,500,000 divided into 9,931,144 ordinary shares of a nominal value of €0.7552 each 

from €67,044,000 (divided into 88,776,483 shares of a nominal value of €0.7552 each) to €74,544,000 

(divided into 98,707,627 shares of a nominal value of €0.7552 each) effectively on 29 March 2019.

The issued ordinary shares rank pari passu for all purposes and, in the event that a poll is demanded, 

each share entitles the holder thereof to one vote. 

On 4 October 2016, the Bank issued floating rate perpetual capital notes amounting to an aggregate 

amount of €5,000,000 to Al Faisal International for Investment Company Q.P.S.C.. These notes were 

subsequently transferred to JUD Investment Group Limited on 31 December 2017.

The notes are subject to interest at the rate of 10% until 31 December 2016 and Euribor plus 10% 

thereafter, but all interest payments are cancellable at the discretion of the Bank.

By virtue of resolution dated 7 December 2018, the Board resolved to issue fixed rate perpetual capital 

notes amounting to €2,500,000 of a nominal value of €1,000 each to JUD Investment Group Limited 

(€2,441,000) and PG Holdings Limited (€59,000).

These notes are subject to interest at the rate of 8% on 30 June 2019 and at six month intervals 

thereafter. All interest payments are cancellable at the discretion of the Bank.

During 2019, by virtue of another resolution dated 7 December 2018, the Board resolved to issue fixed 

rate perpetual capital notes amounting to €2,500,000 of a nominal value of €1,000 each to JUD 

Investment Group Limited (€2,441,000) and PG Holdings Limited (€59,000) effectively on 29 March 2019.

16.  SHARE CAPITAL

17.  PERPETUAL CAPITAL NOTES

These notes are subject to interest at the rate of 8% on 30 June 2019 and at six month intervals 

thereafter. All interest payments are cancellable at the discretion of the Bank.

The notes constitute unsecured, undated and subordinated obligations of the Bank; these instruments 

are redeemable at par at the discretion of the issuer only on 31 December 2021 and at six month 

intervals thereafter. These capital instruments qualify as Additional Tier 1 instruments in accordance 

with the requirements of Article 52 of the Regulations (EU) No 575/2013 and are categorised as equity 

within the Bank’s Statement of Financial Position under the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent earnings not paid out as dividends. Interim profits form part of regulatory 

Own Funds only once they are verified by an independent external auditor. The Bank may only make 

distributions out of eligible profits.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve is used to record movements in the fair value of equity shares and debt 

securities measured at FVOCI, net of deferred taxation thereon. The revaluation reserve is not available 

for distribution.

Reserve for General Banking Risks
The Reserve for General Banking Risks refers to the amount allocated by the Bank from its retained 

earnings, to a non-distributable reserve against potential risks linked to the Bank’s non-performing 

loans and advances. The methodology for calculating this reserve is in line with the requirements of 

BR/09/2016 issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority.

2020 2019

Current €000 €000

Term loans and advances 13,500 -

Repayable on demand 35 203

13,535 203

During 2020, the Bank borrowed €13.5 million (2019: nil) from the European Central Bank in relation to the 

Third Series of Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTROs-III). This scheme offers long-term 

funding to banks at favourable borrowing conditions to stimulate bank lending to the real economy.

18.  RESERVES

19.  AMOUNTS OWED TO BANKS AND OTHER INSTITUTIONS
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2020 2019

€000 €000

Term deposits 343,961 362,726

Repayable on demand 433,025 360,194

776,986 722,920

Current 657,916 581,263

Non-current 119,070 141,657

776,986 722,920

2020 2019

€000 €000

Bills payable 4,295 3,703

Accounts payable and sundry creditors 1,537 1,901

Lease liabilities (Note 12) 2,300 2,650

Obligations under guarantees and other 

documentary credits
3,614 3,383

Expected credit losses arising on off-balance sheet 

items
285 480

12,031 12,117

Included in ‘Amounts owed to customers’ are deposits of €31,317,000 (2019: €29,337,000) held as collateral 

for loan commitments, irrevocable commitments under guarantees and import letters of credit.

20.  AMOUNTS OWED TO CUSTOMERS

21.  OTHER LIABILITIES

2020 2019

€000 €000

At 1 January 3,383 3,373

Arising during the year 2,017 2,301

Utilised (1,780) (2,272)

Unused amounts reversed (6) (19)

3,641 3,383

The movement in ‘Obligations under guarantees and other documentary credits’ is as follows:

2020 2019

€000 €000

Current

Accrued interest 1,871 2,398

Accrued operating expenditure 3,168 1,911

Accrued capital expenditure 175 175

Deferred income 107 91

5,321 4,575

Accrued operating expenditure mainly relates to amounts in relation to the provision of day-to-day 

services and specific non-recurring expenditure.

As part of its business activities, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent 

liabilities. Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to 

make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import 

or export of goods.

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. 

Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments 

may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future 

cash requirements. The potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most 

commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers meeting specific conditions. The Bank 

monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have 

a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments. 

Even though these obligations are not recognised on the Statement of Financial Position, they do 

contain credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Bank.

23.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

22.  ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME
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2020 2019

€000 €000

Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees 8,260 8,176

Documentary credits 1,390 1,804

9,650 9,980

Commitments

Undrawn commitments to lend 197,038 161,679

Capital commitments 195 99

Total commitments 197,233 161,778

Capital commitments as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 mainly relate to the acquisition of property and 

equipment and intangible assets.

As at 31 December 2020, expected credit losses arising on contingent liabilities and undrawn 

commitments to lend amounted to €285,000 (2019: €480,000).

Legal claims
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Bank 

has an established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been 

obtained and the amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account 

for any adverse effects which the claims may have on its financial position. At year end, there were no 

significant unresolved legal claims.

2020 2019

€000 €000

On loans and advances to banks 80 387

On loans and advances to customers 24,399 22,742

On balances with Central Bank of Malta (74) (54)

24,405 23,075

On debt and other fixed income instruments 951 1,616

Net amortisation of discounts and premiums (593) (1,304)

358 312

Total interest receivable and similar 
income

24,763 23,387

The total outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

24.  INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

2020 2019

€000 €000

On amounts owed to banks and other institutions 1 37

On amounts owed to customers 4,175 4,852

On lease liabilities 46 50

4,222 4,939

2020 2019

€000 €000

Fees and commission income

Credit related fees and commissions 1,124 1,409

Other fees 2,526 2,656

3,650 4,065

Fees and commission expense

Credit related fees and commissions (267) (190)

Other fees (760) (1,396)

(1,027) (1,586)

Net fees and commission income 2,623 2,479

2020 2019

€000 €000

Foreign exchange activities

From commercial business activities 491 790

Net trading income 491 790

25.  INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

26.  NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

27.  NET TRADING INCOME
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2020 2019

€000 €000

Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 1,211 1,121

Wages and salaries

Managerial, supervisory and clerical 7,136 6,604

Others 138 129

Total employee compensation and benefits 8,485 7,854

Total staff costs incurred by the Bank in connection with the operation of its London branch amounted 

to €202,000 during 2020 (2019: €124,000). 

Total fees payable to non-executive directors amounted to €265,467 during 2020 (2019: €222,966). 

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the years 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

2020 2019

Managerial, supervisory and clerical 210 199

Others 7 8

217 207

2020 2019

€000 €000

Auditors’ remuneration - annual statutory audit 68 68

Information systems and communications 1,825 1,877

Business development 369 531

Corporate services 1,160 1,269

Regulatory expenses 936 862

Other 1,963 2,002

6,321 6,609

28.  EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

29.  OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Total administrative expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the operation of its London 

branch amounted to €351,000 during 2020 (2019: €200,000). 

Other remuneration payable to the auditors include assurance related services of €58,000 (2019: 

€7,500), of which tax advisory and compliance services provided during 2020 amounted to €51,000 

(2019: €3,500).

In total, from incorporation up to 31 December 2020, the Bank has contributed €3,357,000 (2019: 

€2,621,000) in variable contributions to the Depositor Compensation Scheme. This represents 0.6% 

(2019: 0.6%) of the eligible deposits at 31 December 2020. The cash contribution paid during 2020 

amounted to €736,000 (2019: €698,000) and is included under Regulatory expenses.

Credit impairment losses during 2020 were as follows:

Write-downs
Reversals of  

write-downs
Total

€000 €000 €000

Balances with Central Bank of Malta

Stage 1 139 - 139

Financial investments measured at FVOCI

Stage 1 242 (183) 59

Loans and advances to banks

Stage 1 14 (13) 1

Loans and advances to customers

Stage 1 1,318 (432) 886

Stage 2 2,245 (1,634) 611

Stage 3 1,589 (673) 916

Bad debts written off 25 - 25

Total loans and advances to customers 5,177 (2,739) 2,438

Other provisions 178 - 178

Credit impairment losses 5,750 (2,935) 2,815

30.  CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
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Write-downs
Reversals of  

write-downs
Total

€000 €000 €000

Balances with Central Bank of Malta

Stage 1 8 (2) 6

Financial investments measured at FVOCI

Stage 1 201 (113) 88

Loans and advances to banks

Stage 1 4 (24) (20)

Loans and advances to customers

Stage 1 521 (735) (214)

Stage 2 1,968 (1,088) 880

Stage 3 2,280 (1,443) 837

Bad debts written-off 149 - 149

Total loans and advances to customers 4,918 (3,266) 1,652

Other provisions 23 - 23

Credit impairment loss 5,154 (3,405) 1,749

Credit impairment losses during 2019 were as follows:

The components of income tax for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are:

The tax on profit and the result of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate in Malta of 

35% are reconciled as follows:

2020 2019

€000 €000

Income statement

Current income tax - current year expense (2,695) (2,578)

Current income tax - over provision in prior years (see below) 702 -

Deferred tax credit 1,157 539

(836) (2,039)

2020 2019

€000 €000

Profit before tax 5,311 5,381

Tax at the applicable rate of 35% 1,859 1,883

Tax effect of:

	– Non-deductible expenses 38 74

	– Other differences - 82

	– Ruling on deductibility of interest on perpetual capital  

notes in current and previous financial years
(1,061) -

836 2,039

31.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE
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Earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to the shareholders of the Bank as 

shown in the Income Statement divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the year. 

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows:

2020 2019

Net profit attrituable to shareholders (€000) 4,475 3,342

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 98,707,626 96,313,269

Earnings per share (€ cents) 4c5 3c5

2020 2019

€000 €000

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash (Note 6) 5,222 3,817

Balances with Central Bank of Malta  

(excluding Reserve Deposit - Note 6)
82,465 30,563

Loans and advances to banks (Note 8) 16,078 60,335

Amounts owed to banks and other institutions (Note 19) (13,535) (203)

Cash and cash equivalents 90,230 94,512

Balances with contractual maturity of more than three months 5,743 5,367

95,973 99,879

Statement of Financial Position

Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash 93,262 39,718

Loans and advances to banks 16,061 60,319

Amounts owed to banks and other institutions (13,535) (203)

95,788 99,834

Balances with contractual maturity of more than three months (5,743) (5,367)

Add expected credit losses 185 45

Cash and cash equivalents 90,230 94,512

32.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

33.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

34.1  Identification of related parties
The majority shareholding of the Bank is held by JUD Investment Group Limited, a subsidiary of Al Faisal 

International for Investment Company Q.P.S.C. headquartered in Qatar.

All entities which are ultimately controlled by Al Faisal International for Investment Company Q.P.S.C., 

together with the other minority shareholders and entities controlled by them, are considered to be 

related parties. Key management personnel of the Bank, being the Bank’s directors and executive 

officers, and close family members of key management personnel are also considered to be related 

parties. The executive officers, which form part of the Bank’s Executive Committee, are referred to 

within the Statement of Compliance with the Principles of Good Corporate Governance.

The Bank’s related party transactions mainly comprise transactions with shareholders and other 

entities controlled by the same shareholders. These transactions principally include loans, deposits 

and issuance of capital notes. 

Related party transactions do not impact on the Bank’s financial results and financial position taking 

cognisance of the normal commercial terms and conditions of such transactions.

34.2  Transactions with shareholders
 

(a)	 Major shareholder

During the year under review, the following transactions were undertaken by the Bank with entities 

ultimately controlled by Al Faisal International for Investment Company Q.P.S.C..

2020 2019

€000 €000

Income Statement

Interest and similar income - 30

Interest and similar expense 59 304

Statement of Financial Position

Other assets 199 199

Amounts owed to parent company 30,112 38,164

As disclosed in Note 16, during 2019 the Bank issued new share capital, which was subscribed by the 

shareholders.

As disclosed in Note 17, on 29 March 2019, the Bank issued further fixed rate perpetual capital notes 

amounting to an aggregate of €2,441,000 to JUD Investment Group Limited.

Total interest payable on perpetual capital notes during 2020 amounted to €904,000 (2019: €855,000). 

34.  RELATED PARTIES
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(b)	 Other minority shareholders

During the year under review, the following transactions were undertaken by the Bank with its minority 

shareholders and entities controlled by them:

As disclosed in Note 17, on 29 March 2019,  the Bank issued further fixed rate perpetual capital notes 

amounting to €59,000 of a nominal value of €1,000 each to PG Holdings Ltd.

Total interest payable on perepetual capital notes during 2020 amounted to €10,000 (2019: €8,000). 

34.3  Transaction arrangements and agreements involving key management personnel 
During the year under review, the following banking transactions were carried out with the Bank’s 

directors and executive officers, being the Bank’s key management personnel:

2020 2019

€000 €000

Income Statement

Interest and similar income 365 399

Other administrative expenses 139 302

Statement of Financial Position

Loans and advances to customers 14,227 13,854

Prepayments and accrued income 34 17

Amounts owed to customers 7,053 4,178

Accruals and deferred income 22 21

2020 2019

€000 €000

Income Statement

Interest and similar income 43 62

Interest and similar expense 1 1

Statement of Financial Position

Loans and advances to customers 1,690 1,986

Amounts owed to customers 2,981 2,160

The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business on substantially 

the same terms as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing, or where applicable, 

other employees.

34.4  Compensation to key management personnel
Directors’ remuneration and salaries to executive officers, are separately disclosed in Note 28.

On the 27th July 2020, the European Central Bank (ECB) issued a Recommendation on dividend 

distributions during the COVID-19 pandemic (ECB/2020/35), whereby it was recommended that until 

1 January 2021, no dividends are paid out and no irrevocable commitment to pay out dividends is 

undertaken by credit institutions for the financial years 2019 and 2020. This Recommendation was 

repealed on the 15th December 2020 through ECB/2020/62, which encouraged banks to use prudence 

when deciding on dividend distributions.

In light of these recommendations, BNF Bank p.l.c. has not proposed any dividend pay-out for the year 

2020.

BNF Bank p.l.c. is a limited liability company domiciled and resident in Malta. 

The immediate parent company of BNF Bank p.l.c. is JUD Investment Group Limited, a company 

registered in Malta, with its registered address at 35, St Barbara Bastions, Valletta, Malta. 

The ultimate parent company of BNF Bank p.l.c. is Al Faisal International for Investment Company, 

Q.P.S.C., a Qatari Private Shareholding Company registered under the laws of Qatar with commercial 

registration number 43094, and with its registered office situated at 17th Floor, Marriot Marquis Centre, 

Doha, Qatar.

The ultimate controlling party of BNF Bank p.l.c. is H.E. Sheikh Faisal Qassim F. Th. Al-Thani.

2020 2019

€000 €000

Dividends declared and paid by the Bank (€000) - 750

€ per share - gross - 0c8

35.  DIVIDENDS

36.  STATUORY INFORMATION
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These Additional Regulatory Disclosures (‘ARD’) are prepared by the Bank in accordance with Part 

Eight of EU Regulation No 575/2013 (‘Capital Requirements Regulation’ or ‘CRR’), and in accordance 

with Banking Rule BR/07: Publication of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements of Credit 

Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994, issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority 

(‘BR/07’).

The Bank publishes these disclosures on an annual basis as part of the Annual Report. These disclosures 

are not subject to an external audit, except to the extent that any disclosures are equivalent to those 

made in the Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the EU. The Bank, through its internal 

verification procedures, is satisfied that these ARD are presented fairly.

These ARDs should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial 

Statements.

 

2.  RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK  

The Bank operates a commercial banking model, the main business lines being retail and corporate 

banking. The Board’s risk appetite is to maintain a prudent and risk-averse position, the key financial 

risks being those set out in the Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Risk Management Framework is an integral part of the Bank’s organisational and governance 

structure, the details of which are set out in the Statement of Compliance with the Principles of Good 

Corporate Governance.

The Risk Management Framework has been set out in Note 3.1 to the Financial Statements.

3.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

The Bank is obliged to comply with regulatory capital requirements emanating primarily from the CRR, 

and also from various other local and European requirements. Compliance with such requirements is 

therefore a top priority of the Board, as is efficient capital management. 

The Bank manages its capital structure and adjusts it in the light of economic and business conditions, 

and the risk characteristics of its activities.

3.1  Own Funds
The Bank’s available capital and reserves for the purposes of capital adequacy is represented by the 

Bank’s Own Funds. In July 2013, the European Banking Authority (‘EBA’) issued its final draft Implementing 

Technical Standards (‘ITS’) on own funds disclosures. The disclosure requirements of these technical 

standards have been integrated within the Bank’s disclosures set out below.

Additional Regulatory 
Disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1.  OVERVIEW

The Bank’s regulatory Own Funds consist of Common equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’) capital and Perpetual capital 

notes, which include the following items:

	•  ordinary share capital;

	•  retained earnings;

	•  revaluation reserve;

	•  reserve for general banking risks;

	• perpetual capital notes; and

	• other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently 

for capital adequacy purposes, including the treatment of deferred tax assets, deductions relating 

to amounts pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme and deductions relating to 

intangible assets.

The Bank does not have Tier 2 capital.

Details of items which make up regulatory Own Funds are set out below:

(a)	 Share capital

The Bank’s share capital as at 31 December is analysed as follows:

	 (b)	 Perpetual capital notes

The Bank’s perpetual capital notes as at 31 December is analysed as follows: 

2020

No. of shares €

Authorised

	- Ordinary shares of €0.7552 each 132,415,254 100,000,000

Issued

Ordinary shares of €0.7552 each 98,707,626 74,544,000

€000

Perpetual capital notes issued in 2016 5,000

Perpetual capital notes issued in 2018 2,500

Perpetual capital notes issued in 2019 2,500

Total perpetual capital notes 10,000
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(c)	 Retained earnings

Retained earnings represent earnings not paid out as dividends. Interim profits form part of regulatory 

Own Funds only once they are verified by an independent external auditor. The Bank may only make 

distributions out of eligible profits. Accumulated losses are deducted in full from the Bank’s Own Funds.

(d)	 Revaluation reserve

This represents the cumulative net change in fair values of equity shares and debt securities measured 

at FVOCI held by the Bank, net of related deferred tax effects. The revaluation reserve is not available 

for distribution.

(e)	 Reserve for general banking risks

The Bank is required to allocate funds to this reserve in accordance with the revised Banking Rule 

BR/09: ‘Measures Addressing Credit Risks Arising from the Assessment of the Quality of Asset Portfolios 

of Credit Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994’.

The Reserve for General Banking Risks refers to the amount allocated by the Bank from its retained 

earnings, to a non-distributable reserve against potential risks linked to the Bank’s non-performing 

loans and advances. The allocation to this reserve occurred over a three-year period, of which the 

Bank allocated 40% during the financial year ended 2013, 30% during the financial year ended 2014, 

and the remaining allocation of the total estimated amount during the financial year ended 2015. 

During 2016 the methodology for calculating this reserve was updated in line with BR/09/2016 issued 

by the Malta Financial Services Authority.

3.2  Capital requirements
The Bank’s minimum Pillar 1 capital requirements excluding buffer requirements are as follows:

	• CET1 ratio of 4.5%;

	• Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 8%. 

Pillar 1 capital requirements are based on standard rules which state the minimum Own Funds 

requirements to cover credit risk, market risk and operational risk. The Bank uses the Standardised 

Approach to calculate credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk and the Standardised 

Approach with respect to market risk. 

Banking Rule BR/15: ‘Capital Buffers of Credit Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994’, sets 

out requirements for capital buffers. The two capital buffers applicable to the Bank are the capital 

conservation buffer and the countercyclical buffer. 

The capital conservation requirement is of 2.5%, fully comprised of CET1 capital. The countercyclical 

buffer requirement ranges between 0 - 2.5%, based on the country’s exposure to cyclical risk. Since 

most of the Bank’s exposures are in Malta, the institution-specific countercyclical buffer as determined 

by Article 140 (1) of Directive 2013/36/EU, results in a percentage of 0%, and is calculated as the 

weighted average of the individual countercyclical buffer rates applicable in each country where the 

Bank’s exposures are located.

The Bank’s Own Funds and capital ratio calculations are set out as follows:

As at 31 
December 2020

€000

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital

Instruments and reserves

	– Share capital 74,544

	– Retained earnings (excluding Depositer Compensation Scheme 

reserves)
3,039

	– Funds for general banking risk 992

	– Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves) 663

CET1 capital before regulatory adjustments 79,238

Regulatory adjustments

Intangible assets (908)

Amounts added back to CET 1 due to IFRS 9 transitional provisions as 

adjusted for COVID-19 relief measures4
2,313

Total regulatory adjustments to CET1 1,405

CET1 capital 80,643

Perpetual capital notes 10,000

Tier 1 Capital 90,643

Total Own Funds 90,643

Total risk weighted assets 472,834

4 Includes more favourable transitional provisions for COVID-19 related ECLs when adding back Stage 1 and Stage 2 loss allowances to 

CET 1. The Capital Adequacy Ratio and CET1 Ratio excluding the impact of transitional provisions would have been 16.20% and 18.21% 

respectively.
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Capital Ratios

CET1 ratio 17.06%

Tier 1 ratio 19.17%

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 19.17%

Institution specific buffer requirements 2.5

	•  of which: capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5

	•  of which: institution specific countercyclical capital buffer 0.0

CET 1 available to meet buffers, including Pillar 2 12.56

€000

Items not deducted from own funds in accordance with Article 48 of CRR 6,108

Exposure 
value

Risk 
weighted 

assets

Capital 
required

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000

Central governments or Central banks 121,409 - -

Institutions 51,634 20,699 1,656

Corporate 118,592 95,065 7,605

Retail 74,270 50,500 4,040

Secured by mortgages on immovable property 462,053 154,484 12,359

Items associated with particularly high risk 43,873 65,809 5,265

Exposures in default 15,195 15,196 1,216

Equity 4,794 4,794 384

Covered bonds 4,823 482 39

Other items 27,289 30,305 2,424

Credit risk 923,932 437,334 34,988

Operational risk 35,294 2,824

Foreign exchange risk 206 17

Total capital required 472,834 37,829

Own Funds

Common Equity Tier 1 80,643

Additional Tier 1 10,000

Tier 2 -

Total Own Funds 90,643

Capital Adequacy Ratio 19.17%
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4.  LEVERAGE
The Leverage Ratio (LR) measures the relationship between the Bank’s capital and its total exposure. 

The minimum LR requirement of 3% is aimed at preventing build-up of excessive leverage.

For the purposes of the LR, capital is defined as Tier 1 capital in line with Article 25 of the CRR, whilst 

total exposure relates to the total on and off-balance sheet exposures, less deductions applied to Tier 

1 capital.

The following table represents the Bank’s leverage ratio determined in accordance with the requirements 

stipulated by Implementing Regulation EU 2016/200.

The total exposure measure for the purposes of the leverage ratio has been determined as follows:

2020

€000

Tier 1 capital 90,643

Total exposure 953,453

Leverage ratio 9.51%

2020

€000

Balance sheet items 901,211

Adjustments in determining Tier 1 capital (908)

On-balance sheet exposure 900,303

Off-balance sheet exposures at gross notional amount 206,688

Adjustments in determining Tier 1 capital (153,538)

Off-balance sheet exposure 53,150

Total exposure 953,453

The following table provides a reconciliation of accounting assets and leverage ratio exposures:

The Leverage Ratio is considered as part of the Bank’s ICAAP.

5.  ICAAP AND ILAAP  

As part of its risk management the Bank performs an assessment of risks not adequately covered under 

Pillar 1 of the CRR, with a view to anticipate Pillar 2 requirements. This process is referred to as the ICAAP 

and ILAAP process. The Bank’s ICAAP and ILAAP process is compliant with requirements emanating from 

MFSA Banking Rule BR/12.

The Bank prepares a report of its ICAAP and ILAAP process annually, or more frequently as may be 

deemed necessary. ICAAP and ILAAP reporting is subject to Board approval and submitted to the 

regulator. ICAAP and ILAAP reporting is carried out in addition to regular risk reporting.

All assumptions and methodologies used in the ICAAP and ILAAP process are subject to internal 

validation by the Bank’s control functions, in addition to validation of ICAAP and ILAAP reporting.

The Bank’s Board of Directors is confident that all material risks applicable to the period under review 

were identified and assessed as part of the ICAAP and ILAAP process. Risks which the Bank considers 

to be material are described in further detail in the following sections.

6.  CREDIT RISK  

Note 3.2 to the Financial Statements defines credit risk and discloses detail on the Bank’s credit risk 

management and measurement.

The tables found on page 230 set out the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk before consideration 

of collateral held or other credit enhancements:

2020

€000

Total assets as per published financial statements 901,211

Adjustment for off-balance sheet items 53,150

Other adjustments

- Deduction of intangible assets (908)

Leverage ratio exposure 953,453
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Average exposure
Exposure as at 31 
December 2020

€000 €000

As at 31 December 2020

Central government or central banks 100,084 121,409

Institutions 57,042 51,634

Corporate exposures 114,877 118,592

Retail exposures 69,782 74,270

Secured by mortgages on immovable property 433,992 462,053

Items associated with particular high risk 53,894 43,873

 Exposures in default 14,587 15,195

Equity 4,531 4,794

Covered bonds 5,980 4,823

Other items 27,212 27,289

Total 881,981 923,932

2020

€000

Reconciliation of exposure to credit risk

Exposure as per Statement of Financial Position 901,211

Less: deductions for assets that are not risk-
weighted

(12,732)

Statement of Financial Position exposure after 
deductions

888,479

Off-balance sheet exposure before application 
of the credit conversion factor

206,688

Less: Credit conversion factor adjustment (171,235)

Off-balance sheet exposure after deductions 35,453

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 923,932

The residual maturity breakdown by exposure class at 31 December 2020 was as follows:

6.1  Credit concentration risk
Note 3.2.5 to the Financial Statements defines credit concentration risk and discloses detail on the 

Bank’s areas of credit concentration.

6.1.1  Credit concentration risk analysed by industry sector
An industry sector analysis of the Bank’s exposure amounts split by exposure class is shown in the 

following table:

TOTAL
Less than 

1 year

Between 
1 and 5 
years

Over 5 
years

No maturity 
date

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 31 December 2020

Central government or 

central banks
121,409 17,804 28,476 3,699 71,430

Institutions 51,634 16,056 34,121 1,457 -

Corporate 118,592 16,075 28,036 74,452 29

Retail 74,270 9,347 19,059 42,094 3,770

Secured by mortgages on 
immovable property 

462,053 18,540 21,634 421,860 19

Items associated with 
particular high risk

43,873 7,239 36,634 - -

Exposures in default 15,195 4,208 2,390 8,374 223

Equity 4,794 - - - 4,794

Covered bonds 4,823 - 4,823 - -

Other items 27,289 7,847 6,108 8,113 5,221

Total 923,932 97,116 181,281 560,049 85,486
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Total Manufacturing
Financial 
services

Households & 
individuals

Construction
Wholesale and 

retail
Other sectors

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 31 December 2020

Central government or central banks 121,409 - - - - - 121,409

Institutions 51,634 - 51,634 - - - -

Corporate 118,592 1,055 26,060 283 10,068 18,045 63,081

Retail 74,270 2,765 1,082 48,272 4,622 6,735 10,794

- of which: SME 28,534 314 1,082 5,943 4,620 6,484 10,091

Secured by mortgages on immovable 

property
462,053 3,908 21,757 381,744 27,157 5,486 22,001

- of which: SME 96,450 874 21,671 19,261 27,157 5,486 22,001

Items associated with particular high 

risk
43,873 - 69 1,190 17,930 - 24,684

- of which: SME 33,951 - 69 1,098 13,694 - 19,090

Exposures in default 15,195 983 1,879 6,885 96 2,682 2,670

Equity 4,794 - 4,453 - - - 341

Covered bonds 4,823 - 4,823 - - - -

Other items 27,289 - 27,289 - - - -

Total 923,932 8,711 139,046 438,374 59,873 32,948 244,980
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6.1.2	 Credit concentration risk analysed by geographical region
The geographical concentration of the Bank’s exposure classes as at the end of the reporting period 

are analysed in the following table.

TotaL Malta Portugal United Kingdom Belgium Other

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 31 December 2020

Central Government or central banks 121,409 114,409 5,243 - - 1,757

Institutions 51,634 1,457 59 20,558 4,770 24,790

Corporate 118,592 118,592 - - - -

Retail exposures 74,270 74,156 - 91 - 23

Secured by mortgages on immovable property 462,053 459,714 - 568 20 1,751

Items associated with particular high risk 43,873 43,873 - - - -

Exposures in default 15,195 15,192 - - - 3

Equity 4,794 - - 1,931 - 2,863

Covered bonds 4,823 - - 4,823 - -

Other items 27,289 27,289 - - - -

Total 923,932 854,682 5,302 27,971 4,790 31,187
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6.2  Credit quality

6.2.1  Balances with banks and debt securities
Note 3.2.6 to the Financial Statements discloses detail on credit quality of balances with banks and debt 

securities. Further detail on loss allowances is also disclosed in Note 3.2.9 to the Financial Statements.

6.2.2  Loans and advances to customers
Note 3.2.7 to the Financial Statements discloses detail on credit quality of loans and advances to 

customers and impairment allowances thereon. Further detail on loss allowances is also disclosed in 

Note 3.2.9 to the Financial Statements.

The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in the expected credit losses of the Bank which 

are considered as Specific Credit Risk Adjustments (SCRAs) in respect of the Bank’s loan portfolio:

Stage 3 expected 
credit losses

Total Manufacturing
Households & 

individuals
Construction Wholesale & retail Other

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 1 January 2020 9,628 97 2,849 120 4,437 2,125

Additions 1,589 - 535 40 649 365

Reversals (673) (16) (390) (4) (101) (162)

At 31 December 2020 10,544 81 2,994 156 4,985 2,328

Stage 1 & 2 expected credit losses Total Manufacturing
Households & 

individuals
Construction Wholesale & retail Other

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 1 January 2020 3,740 33 1,106 688 496 1,417

Additions 3,536 45 1,471 397 333 1,290

Reversals (2,039) (17) (314) (565) (275) (868)

At 31 December 2020 5,237 61 2,263 520 554 1,839
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Past due but not impaired loans include loans and advances where contractual interest or principal 

payments are past due, but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate based on the stage 

of collection of amounts owed to the Bank. The Bank accounts for expected credit losses on these 

balances.

Loans and advances to customers are analysed into impaired, past due and other exposures as follows:

The following table analyses the impaired and the past due but not impaired gross loans and advances 

to customers by industry sector:

The Bank’s impaired and past due but not impaired loans and advances to customers were primarily 

concentrated in Malta during 2020. The Bank’s write-off policy is disclosed in Note 3.2.10 to the Financial 

Statements.

2020

€000

Gross loans and advances to customers

Impaired 25,663

Past due but not impaired 11,284

Neither past due nor impaired 666,882

703,829

Impaired
Past due but 
not impaired

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000

Gross loans and advances by industry

Manufacturing 1,053 -

Households and individuals 9,457 5,542

Construction 1,681 1,889

Wholesale and retail 6,948 298

Other sectors 6,524 3,555

25,663 11,284

6.2.3  Use of External Credit Assessment Institutions (ECAI)
The Bank applies the Standardised Approach for credit risk. The Standardised Approach is defined in 

the CRR and applies a standardised methodology to calculate credit risk weighted assets under Pillar 1.

Credit risk weighted assets are determined through credit quality steps set out in the CRR. Determining 

the credit quality step for a particular exposure depends primarily on the type of exposure and whether 

it is externally rated.

In the case that an exposure is externally rated the Bank determines credit quality steps by applying 

the most conservative credit rating identified. The Bank only uses widely accepted and recognized 

ECAIs. The table below sets out credit quality steps for loans and advances to banks and financial 

investments which are externally rated at 31 December 2020:

6.3  Counterparty credit risk on derivatives
The Bank’s policies and procedures set out limits on acceptable currencies, maximum transaction size, 

acceptable counterparties, counterparty creditworthiness, and types of derivative contracts. 

Insofar as types of derivative contracts are concerned, the Bank’s limits only allow forward contracts 

or swap transactions. Derivative transactions are governed by the European Market Infrastructure 

Regulation (EMIR).

6.4  Collateral and other credit enhancements
Note 3.2.11 to the Financial Statements discloses detail on collateral as a credit risk mitigant, and a 

detailed analysis of collateral held at 31 December 2020.

The table below represents the total exposure value for each exposure class that is covered by eligible 

collateral, analysed into residential immovable property, commercial immovable property and other 

eligible collateral. The Bank also holds other eligible collateral classified as funded credit protection, 

such as cash and life insurance policies, as well as liquid sovereign debt securities held as pledge on 

reverse repurchase transactions.

At 31 December 2020

Ratings Credit quality steps Total Exposure

€000

Aaa to Aa3 1 14,383

A1 to A3 2 64,892

Baa1 to Baa3 3 11,606

Ba1 to Ba3 3 3,366

Unrated - 7

Total 94,254
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The table below discloses total maximum credit exposure by type of collateral held:

Total exposure value
Residential 

immovable property
Commercial immovable 

property
Other eligible 

collateral
Residual 

value

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

At 31 December 2020

Central governments or  

Central Banks
121,409 - - - 121,409

Institutions 51,634 - - - 51,634

Corporate 118,592 1,653 84,630 1,052 31,257

Retail exposures 74,270 30,628 15,908 101 27,633

Secured by mortgages on 

immovable property
462,053 462,053 - - -

Items associated with particularly 

high risk
43,873 36,416 5,132 - 2,325

Exposures in default 15,195 9,367 5,370 - 458

Equity exposures 4,794 - - - 4,794

Covered bonds 4,823 - - - 4,823

Other items 27,289 - - - 27,289

Total 923,932 540,117 111,040 1,153 271,622
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6.5  Additional regulatory disclosures as a result of COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has brought about new challenges to the economy. In response numerous 

regulatory measures were introduced by governments, central banks and other authorities aimed 

at assisting customer support, operational capacity, and also amending the liquidity and capital 

frameworks.

In June 2020, Regulation (EU) 2020/873 was published in order to fast-track some of the benefits of the 

new Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR 2), which were initially scheduled for June 2021, as well as 

introducing new measures aimed at providing capital relief during the COVID-19 outbreak. 

The most material changes are included below:

	• A more favourable SME supporting factor aimed at incentivising SME lending with a view of 

kickstarting investment, and ultimately the economy.

	• A change in the transitional provisions relating to IFRS 9 ECL add backs to the Bank’s CET 1 capital. 

Notwithstanding the capital relief provided by the Authorities, the Bank has always operated above the 

capital regulatory limits imposed. 

In accordance with the EBA announcement made on 2 June 2020, additional information on the 

moratoria and public guarantees granted to credit facilities due to COVID-19 are presented in the 

following disclosures.
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The following tables include information on loans and advances subject to legislative and non-

legislative moratoria in line with European Banking Authority (EBA) Guidelines (EBA/GL/2020/02).

The below table contains information on loans and advances for which a moratorium was still active 

as at 31 December 2020.

OF WHICH: 
GRACE PERIOD

OF WHICH: 
STAGE 2

OF WHICH: 
GRACE 
PERIOD

OF WHICH: 
UNLIKELY TO PAY THAT 
ARE NOT PAST-DUE OR 
PAST-DUE <=90 DAYS

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advancessubject to moratorium 33,120 33,002 33,002 14,704 117 117

- of which: Households 13,359 13,242 13,242 2,997 117 117

- of which: Collateralised by residential 

immovable property
12,211 12,094 12,094 2,729 117 117

- of which: Non-financial corporations 13,726 13,726 13,726 5,672 - -

- of which: Small and medium-sized 

enterprises
13,726 13,726 13,726 5,672 - -

- of which: Collateralised by commercial 

immovable property
9,017 9,017 9,017 1,692 - -

Gross carrying amount

Performing Non-Performing
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OF WHICH: 
GRACE PERIOD

OF WHICH: 
STAGE 2

OF WHICH: 
GRACE 
PERIOD

OF WHICH: 
UNLIKELY TO PAY THAT 
ARE NOT PAST-DUE OR 
PAST-DUE <=90 DAYS

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances subject to moratorium (413) (413) (413) (406) - -

- of which: Households (39) (39) (39) (35) - -

- of which: Collateralised by residential 

immovable property
(34) (34) (34) (30) - -

- of which: Non-financial corporations (217) (217) (217) (214) - -

- of which: Small and medium-sized 

enterprises
(217) (217) (217) (214) - -

- of which: Collateralised by commercial 

immovable property
(28) (28) (28) (26) - -

Accumulated impairment, accumulated negative  
changes in fair value due to credit risk

Performing Non-Performing
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The below table contains information on total moratoria granted by the Bank on loans and advances 

to customers.

NUMBER OF 
OBLIGORS

TOTAL 
MORATORIA

OF WHICH: LEGISLATIVE 
MORATORIA

OF WHICH: 
EXPIRED

<= 3 MONTHS
>3 MONTHS 

<= 6 MONTHS
>6 MONTHS 

<= 9 MONTHS

>9 MONTHS 
<= 12 

MONTHS
> 1 YEAR

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances for which a 

moratorium was requested
428 100,379

Loans and advances subject to 
moratorium (granted)

384 90,380 63,754 57,260 23,914 8,883 323 - -

- of which: Households - 46,742 34,788 33,382 13,351 - 9 - -

- of which: Collateralised 

by residential immovable 

property

- 44,470 33,099 32,259 12,211 - - - -

- of which: Non-financial 

corporations
- 32,879 24,242 19,153 5,657 7,755 314 - -

- of which: Small and 

medium-sized enterprises
- 32,879 24,242 19,153 5,657 7,755 314 - -

- of which: Collateralised 

by commercial immovable 

property

- 25,197 20,172 16,180 4,031 4,986 - - -

Gross carrying amount

Residual maturity of moratoria
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As mentioned in Note 3.2.8 to the Financial Statements, the Bank has participated in the Malta 

Development Bank COVID-19 Guarantee Scheme which was introduced to assist businesses through 

the COVID-19 outbreak. The total value of loans approved by the Bank under this scheme as at 31 

December 2020 amounted to €7.7 million.

The below table provides information on the gross carrying amount of credit facilities issued under the 

public guarantee scheme. 

7.  LIQUIDITY RISK  

Note 3.4 to the Financial Statements defines liquidity risk and discloses detail on the Bank’s liquidity 

risk management and measurement. Note 3.4 also discloses details of the Bank’s regulatory liquidity 

requirements at 31 December 2020.

Liquidity risk disclosures are also included in this section in respect of asset encumbrance in 

accordance with Banking Rule 07, which transposes the EBA Guidelines on Disclosure of Encumbered 

and Unencumbered Assets (EBA/GL/2014/03).

This disclosure is intended to highlight the available and unrestricted assets available to sustain 

potential funding requirements.  An asset is deemed to be encumbered when it is pledged as collateral 

in respect of an existing liability and consequentially is rendered out of reach to the Bank. The Bank is 

not able to sell encumbered assets or pledge them as collateral to raise funds.

 of which 

forborne:

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000

Newly originated loans and advances subject to public 

guaranteee scehemes
6,632 -

- of which: Non-financial corporations 6,632 -

- of which: Small and medium-sized  enterprises 6,128 -

- of which: Collateralised by commercial immovable 

property
- -

Gross carrying amount
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CARRYING 
AMOUNT OF 

ENCUMBERED 
ASSETS

FAIR VALUE OF 
ENCUMBERED 

ASSETS

CARRYING 
AMOUNT OF 

UNENCUMBERED 
ASSETS

FAIR VALUE OF 
UNENCUMBERED 

ASSETS

TOTAL 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT

RISK 
WEIGHTED 

ENCUMBERED 
ASSETS

RISK WEIGHTED 
UNENCUMBERED 

ASSETS

TOTAL RISK 
WEIGHTED 

AMOUNT

At 31 December 2020 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Central governments or  

Central Banks:
9,593 9,593 111,816 - 121,409 - - -

	- Reserve deposit 5,743 5,743 - - - - - -

	- Securities pledged for DCS 3,850 3,850 - - - - - -

Institutions - - 51,634 51,798 51,634 - 20,699 20,699

Corporate - - 118,592 148,623 118,592 - 95,065 95,065

Retail - - 74,270 219,468 74,270 - 50,500 50,500

Secured by mortgages on 

immovable property
- - 462,053 474,309 462,053 - 154,484 154,484

Items associated with 

particularly high risk
- - 43,873 44,852 43,873 - 65,809 65,809

Exposures in default - - 15,195 24,560 15,195 - 15,196 15,196

Equity - - 4,794 4,810 4,794 - 4,794 4,794

Covered Bonds - - 4.823 4,829 4,823 - 482 482

Other items 2,973 2,973 24,316 37,589 27,289 - 30,305 30,305

- of which: Visa collateral 2,973 2,973 - - - 2,973 - -

Total credit risk 12,566 12,566 911,366 1,010,838 923,932 2,973 437,334 437,334



253252

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Additional Regulatory Disclosures

8.  MARKET RISK  

Note 3.3 to the Financial Statements defines market risk and discloses details and analysis on the types 

of market risk the Bank is exposed to, as well as disclosing details on market risk management.

8.1  Exposure in equities not included in the trading book
The Bank holds shares in one position, the intention of which is not one of profit, but a strategic position 

which has a bearing on the Bank’s operations. Further details on this holding is disclosed in Note 7 to 

the Financial Statements.

8.2  Securitization position
As at balance sheet date, the Bank did not hold any securitization positions.

8.3  Interest rate risk (IRR)
Note 3.3.2 to the Financial Statements defines and discloses details on interest rate risk.

8.4  Currency risk
Note 3.3.3 to the Financial Statements defines and discloses details on currency risk. 

9.  OPERATIONAL RISK  

Note 3.5 to the Financial Statements defines operational risk and discloses details on the types of 

operational risk the Bank is exposed to, as well as disclosing details on operational risk management.

The Bank uses the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) to estimate unexpected losses relating to operational 

risk. As a matter of good practice, it also simulates the capital charge under a hypothetical, more 

sophisticated, Standardized Approach (SA).

As at balance sheet date, the following figures applied:

 

Operational Risk Captial Charge €000

Standardised Approach (simulation) 2,587

Basic Indicator Approach (actual) 2,824

Difference 237

10.  REMUNERATION POLICY  

The Bank’s Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the Remuneration Policy of the Bank 

and to make any recommendations as the Committee deems appropriate in the light of the general 

strategic interests of the Bank and the regulations. It also determines and reviews the Remuneration 

Policy applicable to the Bank’s ‘Identified Staff’ in terms of Commission Delegated Regulation 604/2014.

10.1  Board of Directors
The Bank’s Chairman and non-executive Directors are not eligible to receive a performance incentive. 

Accordingly, none of these directors were entitled to profit sharing, share options, pension benefits, 

variable remuneration or any other remuneration or related payments in their capacity as Directors of 

the Bank. The fees paid to non-executive Board members during 2020 amounted to € 265,467 which 

are analysed as follows:

10.2  Executive Committee
The Board feels that the current Executive Committee has the necessary skills and qualities to manage 

the affairs of the Bank and considers the packages offered to its members sufficient to ensure that 

the Bank attracts and retains senior staff capable of fulfilling their duties. The Bank’s policy remains 

to engage these officials on an indefinite contract of employment, following a period of probation. All 

contracts are in line with the relevant legislation, with all terms and conditions being specified in the 

said contracts of employment.

Annual salary increases, which are not performance related, are considered every year for the Executive 

Committee members, together with annual bonuses, which are generally based on the individual 

performance during the previous financial year. Any bonus payments made to Executive Committee 

members do not exceed 100% of their fixed component of total remuneration for each individual.

Share options, share incentive schemes and profit sharing do not feature in the Bank’s Remuneration 

Policy. Provisions for termination payments and/or other payments linked to early termination are those 

determined at Law. Moreover, no pension benefits are currently payable by the Bank.

Non-cash benefits include the service of a company vehicle, life cover, health insurance as well as 

death-in-service benefits. 

Total emoluments received by Senior Management members during the period ended 31 December 

2020 are disclosed in the Statement of Compliance with the Principles of Good Corporate Governance.

 

Chairman €42,000

Other members €223,467

Total Directors’ fees €265,467
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Dr Michael Frendo 

- Chairman
9 out of 9

Sheikh Mohamed Faisal Q.F. Al-Thani  

- Deputy Chairman
0 out of 9

Sheikh Turki Faisal Q.F. Al-Thani 0 out of 9

Mr Michael Collis 9 out of 9

Ms Juanita Bencini 9 out of 9

Mr Charles Borg 9 out of 9

Mr Mario P Galea 9 out of 9

Mr Paul Mark Johnson 9 out of 9

Mr Kenneth Mizzi 5 out of 9

Mr Maurice Mizzi 8 out of 9

Mr Mark Portelli 9 out of 9 

Mr Mohamed Ahmed Shafiek Mohamed Ahmed 9 out of 9 

11.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

11.1  Board Recruitment and Selection Policy
The shareholders appoint or remove directors to the Board in accordance with the Bank’s Articles of 

Association after taking into consideration diversity of knowledge, judgement and experience. 

During 2020 the Board of Directors met 9 times. Directors’ attendance at Board Meetings during 2020 

was as follows:

11.2  Board Diversity Policy
The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy with regards to the selection of the members of the Board 

of Directors.

The Diversity Policy covers diversity aspects in terms of gender, age, ethnicity and culture.

It is the opinion of the Board of Directors that the diversity objectives set in the Board Diversity Policy 

are met.

AttendedMembers

11.3  Number of directorships held by the Board of Directors
Further to article 91 of the CRD IV, the Bank is listing the number of directorships held by the members 

of the Board of Directors (including those held with the Bank). The number of directorships, both for the 

Executive Directorship (ED) and Non-Executive Directorship (NED) forming part of the same group are 

considered as one directorship.

Dr Michael Frendo 

- Chairman
1 ED + 3 NED

Sheikh Mohamed Faisal Q.F. Al-Thani  

- Deputy Chairman
1 ED + 1 NED

Sheikh Turki Faisal Q.F. Al-Thani 1 ED + 1 NED

Mr Michael Collis 1 ED

Ms Juanita Bencini 4 NED

Mr Charles Borg 1 ED + 9 NED

Mr Mario P Galea 8 NED

Mr Paul Mark Johnson 1 ED + 1 NED

Mr Kenneth Mizzi 3 ED + 2 NED

Mr Maurice Mizzi 3 ED + 1 NED

Mr Mark Portelli 1 ED + 10 NED

Mr Mohamed Ahmed Shafiek Mohamed Ahmed 1 NED

AttendedMembers
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Five Year Summary

Statements of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

ASSETS

Balances with Central Bank of Malta  
and cash

93,262 39,718 99,853 26,777 113,530

Cheques in course of collection 1,138 2,910 677 2,259 1,894

Financial investments 78,517 77,637 68,263 67,663 17,758

Loans and advances to banks 16,061 60,319 57,516 69,911 29,695

Loans and advances to customers 688,334 627,607 520,745 382,314 341,595

Property and equipment 5,897 6,044 5,995 6,908 7,270

Intangible assets 908 1,023 1,044 1,124 1,298

Right-of-use assets 2,216 2,626 - - -

Deferred tax asset 6,108 4,958 5,046 3,923 4,010

Derivative financial instruments - - 122 - -

Prepayments and accrued income 2,928 2,338 2,583 2,335 1,595

Other assets 5,842 6,400 5,628 4,351 4,262

Total assets 901,211 831,580 767,472 567,565 522,907
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

EQUITY

Share capital 74,544 74,544 67,044 39,544 24,544

Perpetual capital notes 10,000 10,000 7,500 5,000 5,000

Retained earnings 6,750 3,189 1,460 591 (100)

Revaluation reserve 663 661 (533) (248) 352

Reserve for general banking risks 992 992 992 992 992

Total equity 92,949 89,386 76,463 45,879 30,788

LIABILITIES

Amounts owed to banks and other 

institutions
13,535 203 90 290 71

Amounts owed to customers 776,986 722,920 677,272 513,851 482,964

Derivative financial instruments - - - - -

Debt securities in issue - - - - -

Current tax liability 389 2,379 1,538 - -

Other liabilities 12,031 12,117 8,688 4,349 5,220

Accruals and deferred income 5,321 4,575 3,421 3,196 3,864

Total liabilities 808,262 742,194 691,009 521,686 492,119

Total equity and liabilities 901,211 831,580 767,472 567,565 522,907

MEMORANDUM ITEMS

Contingent liabilities 9,650 9,980 11,199 8,820 8,331

Commitments 197,233 161,778 158,607 112,755 63,248
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Income Statements for 
the year ended 31 December 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Interest receivable and similar income

	– on loans and advances and 

balances with the Central Bank 

of Malta and other instruments

24,405 23,075 19,077 15,318 15,926

	– on debt and other fixed income 

instruments
358 312 100 264 103

Interest payable and similar expense (4,222) (4,939) (3,644) (4,680) (6,403)

Net interest income 20,541 18,448 15,533 10,902 9,626

Fees and commission income 3,650 4,065 3,629 2,985 2,609

Fees and commission expense (1,027) 1,586 (912) (652) (730)

Net fees and commission income 2,623 2,479 2,717 2,333 1,879

Net trading income 491 790 744 561 740

Other income 51 274 24 - -

Gain on disposal of investments 516 744 60 862 3,105

Net operating income 24,222 22,735 19,078 14,658 15,350
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Employee compensation and benefits (8,485) (7,854) (7,364) (6,864) (5,642)

Other administrative expenses (6,321) (6,609) (5,788) (4,749) (4,726)

Depreciation of property and equipment 

and right-of-use assets
(925) (821) (447) (569) (575)

Amortisation of intangible assets (365) (321) (348) (350) (320)

Credit impairment losses (2,815) (1,749) (1,572) (517) (1,857)

Profit before tax 5,311 5,381 3,559 1,609 2,230

Income tax expense (836) (2,039) (1,289) (411) (130)

Profit for the year 4,475 3,342 2,270 1,198 2,100

Earnings per share 4c5 3c5 2c9 2c3 6c5
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Statement of Cash Flows for 
the year ended 31 December

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest, fees and commission received 27,450 27,060 22,374 18,402 18,882

Interest, fees and commission paid (5,776) (5,729) (5,365) (4,946) (7,712)

Net return from investment/trading activities 537 1,187 652 561 315

Payments to employees and suppliers (13,544) (14,356) (12,245) (12,315) (10,539)

Net interest on financial assets 388 507 2,108 619 -

Cash flows from operating profit before 
changes in operating assets and liabilities 9,055 8,669 7,524 2,321 946

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

Balances with Central Bank of Malta (375) (640) (1,260) (439) 1,770

Loans and advances to customers (63,556) (109,095) (140,974) (41,032) 17,140

Other assets 2,526 (2,383) 1,187 (434) (25)

(Increase)/decrease in operating liabilities:

Amounts owed to customers 54,066 45,648 163,421 30,887 8,670

Other liabilities 342 738 3,869 (872) 1,268

2,058 (57,063) 33,767 (9,569) 29,769

Income tax paid (3,983) (1,735) (111) - (234)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from 

operating activities
(1,925) (58,798) 33,656 (9,569) 29,535



269268

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 Five Year Summary

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment and 

intangible assets
(1,038) (788) (481) (388) (903)

Purchase of investments (51,883) (59,988) (20,130) (84,592) (20,099)

Proceeds on disposal and redemption of 

investments
51,478 53,089 17,141 32,860 8,162

Interest received on available-for-sale 

investments
- - - - (29)

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from 
investing activities (1,443) (7,687) (3,470) (52,120) (12,869)

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of perpetual capital notes - 2,500 2,500 - 5,000

Repayment of subordinated debt - - - - (5,000)

Issue of share capital - 7,500 27,500 15,000 -

Interest on perpetual capital notes (914) (863) (507) (507) -

Dividends paid - (750) - - -

Net cash flows generated from financing 
activities (914) 8,387 29,493 14,493 -

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (4,282) (58,098) 59,679 (47,195) 16,666

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
of year

94,512 152,610 92,931 140,126 123,460

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
year 90,230 94,512 152,610 92,931 140,126
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Accounting 
Ratios

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

% % % % %

Net interest income and other operating  
income to total assets 2.69 2.73 2.49 2.58 2.94

Operating expenses to total assets 1.79 1.88 1.82 2.21 2.15

Cost to income ratio 66.45 68.64 73.10 85.50 73.38

Profit/(loss) before tax to total assets 0.59 0.65 0.46 0.28 0.43

Profit/(loss) before tax to equity 5.71 6.02 4.66 3.51 7.24

Profit/(loss) after tax to equity 4.81 3.74 2.97 2.61 6.82

Shares in issue (millions) 98.71 98.71 88.78 52.36 32.5

Net assets per share (€0 cents) 94 91 86 88 95

Profit/(loss) per share (€0 cents) 4.53 3.39 2.56 2.29 6.46
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Shareholding Information
As at 31 December 2020, the issued share capital stood at €74,544,000 (2019: €74,544,000), made up of 

98,707,626 (2019: 98,707,626) fully paid up ordinary shares of €0.7552 (2019: €0.7552) each.

The ordinary shares are held as follows:

NO. OF SHARES

JUD Investment Group Limited (C 74331) 91,235,202

PG Holdings Limited (C 8569) 2,222,424

Virtu Investments Limited (C 42860) 1,750,000

Mizzi Organisation Limited (C 813) 1,750,000

SAK Limited (C 3240) 1,750,000

98,707,626

Supplementary Financial 
Information

Each of the shareholders are entitled to appoint one director in line with the Bank’s Articles of 

Association. Each ordinary share entitles the shareholder to one voting right.

The percentage holdings stand as follows:

%

JUD Investment Group Limited (C 74331) 92.44

PG Holdings Limited (C 8569) 2.25

Virtu Investments Limited (C 42860) 1.77

Mizzi Organisation Limited (C 813) 1.77

SAK Limited (C 3240) 1.77

100.00
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